ROLE OF THE NUCLEUS ACCUMBENS AND ITS DOPAMINERGIC AND GLUTAMATERGIC AFFERENTS DURING DELAY DISCOUNTING

Deirdre Anne Rodeberg

A dissertation submitted to the faculty at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Psychology and Neuroscience Department in the College of Arts and Sciences.

Chapel Hill 2018

Approved by: Regina M. Carelli Todd E. Thiele Don Lysle Mark Hollins Kathryn Reissner

© 2018 Deirdre Anne Rodeberg ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

Deirdre Anne Rodeberg: Role of the Nucleus Accumbens and its Dopaminergic and Glutamatergic Afferents during Delay Discounting (Under the direction of Regina M. Carelli)

Effective decision making depends on an organism's ability to assess available resources and choose the best available option. Organisms must also assess changes to reward value and update their behavior accordingly to keep selecting the best option. Value-based decision making depends on neural pathways including the nucleus accumbens (NAc) and its dopaminergic input from the ventral tegmental area (VTA). A glutamatergic afferent to the NAc core, the prelimbic cortex (PrL), may also be implicated in value-based decision-making, such as delay discounting. However, it is unknown how these dopaminergic and glutamatergic afferents to the NAc mediate value-based decision-making behavior. First, I used optogenetic techniques to examine the causal role of dopaminergic input to the NAc during delay discounting decision making tasks. This experiment revealed that dopamine release in the NAc core does not mediate delay discounting. The next set of experiments shifted focus to the PrL's glutamatergic ennervation of the NAc. Electrophysiological recording of the PrL during our delay discounting task revealed that PrL neurons track the predicted and eventual outcome of preferred rewards, as the value of that reward shifts across blocks. Further, this tracking differentially encoded preferred rewards depending on rats' inherent impulsivity, such that high impulsive rats demonstrated preferential encoding of the small/immediate option. In the next experiment, optogenetic stimulation of the PrL-NAc core pathway revealed that glutamate signaling in the NAc core was not sufficient to mediate delay discounting. Together, these experiments help to characterize of the neural circuits

and mechanisms by which delay discounting behavior is processed within the brain, providing insight into the potential role of the NAc and its dopaminergic and glutamatergic afferents in mediating appropriate decisions.

For my husband, Nathan

"And once the storm is over you won't remember how you made it through, how you managed to survive. You won't even be sure, in fact, whether the storm is really over. But one thing is certain. When you come out of the storm you won't be the same person who walked in. That's what this storm's all about."

- Haruki Murakami

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I first want to express my gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Regina Carelli, for her mentorship, guidance, and constant support of my research and career goals. Thank you so much for being such an incredibly supportive and empowering presence in my life these past 5 years! I also would like to thank my dissertation committee for their support, advice, and insight throughout the dissertation process.

I truly could not have completed this dissertation without the support of my lab mates: Travis, Liz, Mark, Seth, Rachel, Metika, and Fei Fei. I could not have asked for better coworkers and friends. Thank you so much for your support and guidance. I'll miss our coffee walks, lab conversations, and Bandidos lunches.

To my fur children, Frisco and Pumpkin: thank you for your constant love, affection, and cuddles...and for being ridiculously cute.

Most importantly, I thank my husband, Nathan. I could not imagine going through graduate school without you. Your unconditional support and love make me the luckiest wife in the world. You light up my soul, and I love you.

PREFACE

This dissertation was prepared within the guidelines set forth by the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Graduate School. This dissertation is comprised of a general introduction chapter, 3 chapters of original data, and a general discussion chapter. Each original data chapter includes an introduction, results, and discussion section. All figures and tables referenced in the text are displayed in order at the end of each corresponding section. A complete list of references cited throughout the document can be found at the end. References follow the formatting of The Journal of Neuroscience.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST	OF TABLES	xii
LIST	OF FIGURES	xiii
LIST	OF ABBREVIATIONS	XV
Chapt	er	
I.	GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
	Value-based decision making	3
	Delay discounting	4
	Neurobiology of the nucleus accumbens	7
	Neurobiology of the prefrontal cortex	9
	Specific manipulation of neural circuitry using optogenetics	
	Examination of neural activity using <i>in-vivo</i> electrophysiology	13
	The neural mechanisms of value-based decision making	14
	Goals of this dissertation	17
	Specific aims	
II.	OPTICAL STIMULATION OF NAc CORE DOPAMINE RELEASE DOES NOT MODULATE DELAY DISCOUNTING	
	BEHAVIOR	
	Introduction	22
	Methods	
	Animals	25
	Apparatus	25

	Virus Surgery	25
	Training on Delay Discounting Task	26
	Optical Stimulation of Dopamine Terminals in the NAc during Delay Discounting Behavior	27
	Histology	
	Data Analysis	31
	Results	
	Baseline Delay Discounting Behavior	
	Optical Stimulation of Terminal Dopamine during Forced Choice Long Delay Cues does not alter Choice Behavior	
	Optical Stimulation of Terminal Dopamine during Forced Choice Short Delay Cues does not alter Choice Behavior	36
	Optical Self-stimulation of Dopamine Terminals in the NAc core	
	Discussion	40
III.	PRELIMBIC CORTICAL NEURONS TRACK PREFERRED REWARD VALUE AND REFLECT IMPULSIVE CHOICE DURING DELAY DISCOUNTING BEHAVIOR	44
	Introduction	44
	Methods	47
	Animals	47
	Apparatus	47
	Surgical Procedures	47
	Behavioral Procedures	48
	Electrophysiological Recordings	49

	Determining phasic response patterns of PrL neurons	51
	Phasic Neurons Selective to Task Events	52
	Data Analysis	53
	Histology	54
	Results	55
	Behavior	55
	Task-Related Neuronal Activity	55
	Examination of Strength of the Neural Signal to Cues, Lever press and Rewards	60
	Distinct PrL Neurons Selectively Encode Information Related to Discounted Choice	61
	Differences in Behavior in High versus Low Impulsive Rats	64
	Selective Neuron Population Dynamics Differ between High and Low Impulsive Rats	64
	Histological Reconstruction of Electrode Placements	67
	Discussion	69
IV.	OPTICAL STIMULATION OF NAc CORE GLUTAMATE RELEASE DOES NOT MODULATE DELAY DISCOUNTING BEHAVIOR	74
	Introduction	74
	Methods	76
	Animals	76
	Apparatus	76
	Virus Surgery	76
	Training on Delay Discounting Task	77

	Histology80
	Data Analysis
	Results
	Baseline Delay Discounting Behavior
	Optical Stimulation of Terminal Glutamate during Forced Choice Long Delay Cues does not alter Choice Behavior
	Optical Stimulation of Terminal Glutamate during Forced Choice Short Delay Cues does not alter Choice Behavior
	Optical Self-stimulation of Glutamate Terminals in the NAc core
	Histology and verification of optogenetic technique using c-Fos quantification87
	Discussion
V.	GENERAL DISCUSSION
	Summary of experiments
	General discussion and relevance of findings97
	Future directions107
	Concluding remarks
REFE	RENCES

LIST OF TABLES

Table

3.1	Percent phasic neurons during Forced Choice task events	0
3.2	Percent phasic neurons during Free Choice task events	1

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	
2.1	Delay discounting task and behavior
2.2	Schematic of Long Delay stimulation task design and accuracy on Forced Choice trials
2.3	Free choice behavior and reaction time during Long Delay stimulation paradigm
2.4	Schematic of Short Delay stimulation task design and accuracy on Forced Choice trials
2.5	Free choice behavior and reaction time during Short Delay stimulation paradigm
2.6	Optical self-stimulation, extinction, and reinstatement
2.7	Histology
3.1	Delay discounting task and behavior49
3.2	PrL neurons respond to cue presentations
3.3	PrL neurons respond to lever press
3.4	PrL neurons respond to reward delivery
3.5	Subsets of PrL cue-responsive neurons exhibit distinct properties of neural coding
3.6	Proportions of event-related (cue, press, reward) selective neurons dynamically decline across Free Choice blocks
3.7	Differentiation of rats' impulsivity64
3.8	Proportions of cue-selective phasic neurons across blocks in high versus low impulsive rats65
3.9	Proportions of press-selective phasic neurons across blocks in high versus low impulsive rats

3.10	Proportions of reward-selective phasic neurons across blocks in high versus low impulsive rats	67
3.11	Electrode tip placement in the PrL	68
4.1	Delay discounting task and behavior	
4.2	Schematic of Long Delay stimulation task design and accuracy on Forced Choice trials	84
4.3	Free choice behavior and reaction time during Long Delay stimulation paradigm	85
4.4	Schematic of Short Delay stimulation task design and accuracy on Forced Choice trials	86
4.5	Free choice behavior and reaction time during Short Delay stimulation paradigm	87
4.6	Optical self-stimulation, extinction, and reinstatement	
4.7	Histology	
5.1	Simplified schematic of delay discounting neurobiology	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AAV	Adeno-associated virus
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
CAMK2a	Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II alpha
ChR2	Channelrhodopsin
DA	Dopamine
EYFP	Enhanced yellow fluorescent protein
FR	Fixed ratio
FSCV	Fast-scan cyclic voltammetry
IACUC	Institutional animal care and use committee
ICSS	Intracranial self-stimulation
IL	Infralimbic cortex
ITI	Inter-trial interval
MSN	Medium spiny neuron
NAc	Nucleus accumbens
NAc core	Nucleus accumbens core
NAc shell	Nucleus accumbens shell
PB	Phosphate buffer
PCA	Principle component analysis
РЕН	Peri-event histogram
PFC	Prefrontal cortex
dlPFC	Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex
mPFC	Medial prefrontal cortex

PrL	Prelimbic cortex
SEM	Standard error of the mean
TH	Tyrosine hydroxylase
VTA	Ventral tegmental area

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Effective decision making depends on an organism's ability to successfully choose and assign value to resources that will most benefit their survival. To do this, organisms must associate predictive environmental cues with rewarding outcomes. Further, organisms must be able to update these cue-reward associations when outcome value changes and alter their behavioral strategies to obtain the best possible option. Dysfunctional decision making is a symptom of numerous psychological disorders, including drug addiction. For instance, addicts will often impulsively choose a lesser reward, rather than wait for a more rewarding option. Poor decision making negatively affect addicts' social, financial, professional, and personal lives. As such, it is essential to understand the neurobiology of decision making. Characterizing the brain regions and neural circuits involved in decision making may pave the way toward novel therapeutic treatments for drug addiction and other psychiatric disorders.

Decision-making relies on a complex neural circuit that integrates and updates information related to the changing value of reward. Central to this circuit is the nucleus accumbens (NAc), which functions as a "limbic-motor interface" (Mogenson et al., 1980; Alexander et al., 1986). That is, the NAc receives and integrates information from numerous brain regions, including the ventral tegmental area (VTA), prefrontal cortex (PFC), basolateral amygdala and hippocampus, and updates downstream motor structures to influence behavior (Zahm and Brog, 1992, Zahm, 1999). Adding to its complexity, the NAc is divided into two subsections, the core (NAc core) and shell (NAc shell), which are thought to subserve unique roles in decision making behavior.

Notably, the NAc receives rich dopaminergic input from the VTA, which has been extremely well-characterized for its role in decision making behavior (Cardinal et al., 2001; Cardinal and Howes, 2005; Ghods-Sharifi and Floresco, 2010; Stopper and Floresco, 2011; Stopper et al., 2013). However, it remains unknown if dopaminergic signaling in the NAc is causally linked to different aspects of decision making behavior. Further, while the VTA-NAc circuit has been extensively studied, little is known about how other NAc afferents affect decision making behavior. A notable region of interest is the PFC and its glutamatergic projections to the NAc, which exerts top-down control to drive motivated behavior (Ballard et al., 2011). In the rat, the homologue of the human PFC is divided into two subsections, the prelimbic (PrL) and infralimbic (IL) cortices, which selectively enervate the NAc core and NAc shell, respectively (Krettek and Price 1977; Sesack et al., 1989; Basar et al., 2010; Pinto and Sesack 2000; Brog et al., 1993).

Thus, this dissertation seeks to examine how dopaminergic and glutamatergic afferents to the NAc shape delay discounting behavior. This introductory chapter will provide a review of value-based decision making and the neurobiology behind these processes. Chapter 2 of this dissertation will examine how dopaminergic signaling in the VTA-NAc circuit casually contributes to the processing of delay discounting behavior. Next, Chapters 3 and 4 will examine neural activity in the PrL during delay discounting, and how its glutamatergic input to the NAc core casually influences behavior. Finally, the importance of these findings will be integrated and discussed.

Value-based decision making

To make appropriate decisions, organisms must first assess the resources and options available to them and assign value to these choices. These choices can be simple (selecting a water source; choosing the largest or most nutritious food option) to complex (assessing the risk, effort, or time required to obtain a reward). Organisms must also integrate these values to predict the viability of complex future rewards (i.e., preferring a smaller, easier reward if the risk, effort, or time to obtain a better reward is too high). For instance, an animal may have to decide between consuming smaller, easier prey and spending more time and energy hunting down a larger meal.

Indeed, value-based decision making is a constant and complex process, requiring the synthesis of an organism's internal and external states to make the best possible decision. First, organisms must assign value to all available options based on their internal state (e.g., hunger or thirst) as well as environmental predictive cues. Next, based on this information, the organism must evaluate and compare each available outcome to choose the best reward. After receiving the reward, the organism must then evaluate whether the predicted and actual outcome value resulted in the best possible reward at that time. This comparison results in learning, in which the organism reflects on its choice and can update its behavior to optimize future decisions (Rangel et al., 2008).

Adding to its complexity, value-based decision making is comprised of two discrete, yet interrelated, components. Reward value can be assessed based on objective, or outcome-based, features of reward (i.e., reward magnitude), or more variable subjective components (i.e., impulsivity, risk assessment, willingness to wait for reward) (Saddoris et al., 2015a). For instance, reward magnitude is largely intrinsic, as animals will almost always prefer a larger food

3

source (assuming equal time/risk/effort to obtain two differently sized rewards). If an organism delays reinforcement or puts in a great amount of effort to obtain a larger reward, it may risk the loss of other food options or exhaust itself before obtaining the reward. On the other hand, organisms can receive guaranteed, yet fewer, rewards when an immediate, smaller option is selected. This subjective decision varies by individual. For instance, in a task where predictive cues signaled equal outcome value but varied risk probability, rats differentially developed a preference for either the risky or safe option (Sugam et al., 2012).

Delay Discounting

One aspect of value-based decision making is delay discounting, in which individuals discount the value of a reward based on the amount of time (the delay) to its receipt (Roesch et al., 2006; Roesch et al., 2007, Roesch and Bryden 2011, Tedford et al., 2015). That is, as the delay to reward increases, the subjective value of that reward decreases. During a typical delay discounting task, individuals are trained to associate cues with either a small, immediate reward, or a large, delayed reward. During the task, the length of the delay to the large reward becomes longer. As such, delay discounting incorporates two components of decision making: delay (subjective) and reward magnitude (objective) (Saddoris et al., 2015a).

Generally, individuals are initially willing to wait for the larger reward when there is a short delay. However, when the delay becomes too long, individuals will shift their preference toward the smaller, immediate reward (Roesch et al., 2006; Roesch et al., 2007; Tedford et al., 2015). In this way, delay discounting serves as a measure of impulsivity, such that it measures the amount of time it takes for individuals to "lose patience" and choose an immediate reward. As the delay to reward increases, a "discounting curve" is calculated based on individuals'

choices (Odum, 2011), with a steeper discounting curve slope reflecting greater impulsivity (Frye et al., 2016, Saddoris et al., 2015b, Moschak and Carelli 2017). Interestingly, delay discounting has been proposed to be a form of "mental time travel," such that individuals may envision future (delayed) events as if they are occurring presently (Boyer 2008). As such, the perceived enjoyment of future rewards may motivate organisms to pursue a delayed, more beneficial outcome (Palombo et al., 2016).

Importantly, heightened delay discounting (increased impulsivity) is a common symptom of substance use disorders (Hoffman et al., 2008; Jentsch and Taylor 1999; Crews and Boettiger 2009; Coffey et al., 2003). That is, addicts will over-value immediate rewards (drugs of abuse) compared to "delayed" rewards such as professional, social, or academic outcomes, failing to reflect on the future implications of their decisions (Bickel et al., 1999; Evenden 1999; Heyman 1996; Poulos et al., 1995; Bechara 2005; Ernst and Paulus 2005). Clinically, drug abusers demonstrate greater impulsivity during delay discounting tasks (Hoffman et al., 2008; Coffey et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2015), and the intensity of drug addiction correlates with the degree of delay discounting (Petry and Casarella, 1999; Vuchinich and Simpson, 1998). Drugs such as cocaine decrease the "breakpoint" at which individuals shift to the small, immediate reward (Jentsch and Taylor 1999; Coffey et al., 2003; Monterosso 2001; Bechara et al., 2002; Dalley et al., 2008), and relapse is often accompanied by a drastic increase in discounting (Heather 1998). These findings are corroborated in rodent models, as prior exposure to cocaine increases impulsivity during decision making tasks involving delay, magnitude, and delay discounting (Roesch et al., 2007; Simon et al., 2007; Mendez et al., 2010; Hernandez et al., 2014; Mitchell et al., 2014). In addition to drug addiction, impulsivity is a characteristic of numerous psychiatric disorders, including attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, schizophrenia, depression, and

borderline personality disorder (Barkley et al., 2001; Heerey et al., 2007; Imhoff et al., 2014; Lawrence et al., 2010).

Interestingly, the relationship between delay discounting and psychiatric disorders appears to be bidirectional. Indeed, as stated above, preclinical and human research demonstrates that heightened delay discounting is often a result of substance abuse (Bickel et al., 1999; Evenden 1999; Heyman 1996; Poulos et al., 1995; Bechara 2005; Ernst and Paulus 2005; Hoffman et al., 2008; Coffey et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2015). However, inherently high impulsivity (heightened delay discounting) may also predict future drug use (Jentsch and Taylor, 1999; Winstanley et al, 2010). For instance, preclinical literature demonstrates that high impulsive action predicts cocaine self-administration (Belin et al, 2008; Dalley et al, 2007). Further, drug-naïve animals that exhibited heightened delay discounting acquired drug selfadministration faster than less-impulsive subjects (Anker et al., 2009). Animals that displayed higher impulsive choice were also more likely to exhibit drug seeking during extinction and reinstate these behaviors when given access to drug again (Diergaarde et al, 2008; Perry et al, 2008; Economidou et al, 2009). In the human literature, lack of inhibitory control in childhood predicts drug use later in life (Nigg et al, 2006; Tarter et al, 2003; Wong et al, 2010), and specifically stimulant abuse (Ersche et al, 2010). Because of this bidirectional relationship to drug use and its impact on numerous clinical populations, delay discounting is a crucial cognitive process to characterize and understand. Understanding the neural substrates of delay discounting may identify those with a predisposition to impulsivity or may improve current treatments for psychiatric disorders such as drug addiction.

Neurobiology of the nucleus accumbens

Cellular composition of the nucleus accumbens: Value-based decision-making recruits the mesolimbic system, which includes the nucleus accumbens (NAc) (Day et al., 2007, Fields et al., 2007, Clark et al., 2012, Saddoris et al., 2015b). The NAc functions as a "limbic-motor interface" that links environmental cues with rewards and sends the resulting output to downstream motor areas to influence goal-oriented behavior (Mogenson et al., 1980; Alexander et al., 1986). The NAc is composed primarily (~95%) of GABAergic medium spiny neurons (MSNs) which project to downstream structures (Groves, 1983; O'Donnell and Grace, 1993). MSNs possess a soma 10-20 um in diameter (Preston et al., 1980; Gerfen, 1988; O'Donnell and Grace, 1993; Kawaguchi, 1997) and multi-directional dendrites (Preston et al., 1980; Groves, 1983; Gerfen, 1988). MSN axons project to motor areas such as the substantia nigra, ventral pallidum, and lateral hypothalamus to influence behavior (Gerfen, 1988; Kawaguchi, 1997; Zahm, 1999). Adding to their complexity, MSNs possess unique immunohistochemical markers such as enkephalin, dynorphin, substance P, and neurotensin, which determine each neuron's individual output and projection (Meredith 1999).

Dopaminergic input from the VTA further exerts control over MSNs. Most MSNs express either D1-like or D2-like receptors, but rarely both (Bertran-Gonzalez et al., 2008). Specifically, MSNs with D1-like receptors express dynorphin, while MSNs with D2-like receptors express enkaphalin. This discrepancy may indicate that these MSNs project to separate circuits, and strongly indicates that dopamine plays a role in modulating projection pathways from the NAc (LeMoine and Bloch, 1995; Kupchik et al., 2015).

The remaining ~5% of NAc neurons are local interneurons, which serve to inhibit MSNs (Koos and Tepper 1999). NAc interneurons are either GABAergic or cholinergic (Groves, 1983;

Meredith, 1999). GABAergic interneurons are divided into three populations (parvalbumin, calretinin, and somatostatin-neuropeptide Y positive), and exhibit tonic firing activity with brief bursts, compared to MSNs' phasic burst activity. Importantly, the oscillatory behavior between GABAergic interneurons and MSNs helps to mediate MSN activity (Berke et al., 2004). Cholinergic interneurons differ from MSNs in terms of morphology and activity level. They are large (20-50 um diameter cell bodies), exhibit tonic firing rates, and, importantly, supply the NAc with acetylcholine (Kawaguchi et al., 1995; Meredith, 1999).

Nucleus accumbens subregions: structure, function, and connectivity: Critically, the NAc is divided into two subregions, the core (NAc core) and shell (NAc shell), which are anatomically and functionally distinct (Parkinson et al., 1999; Heimer et al., 1991, Zahm and Brog, 1992, Jongen-Relo et al., 1994, Ikemoto, 2007). The NAc core has been implicated in cuereward associations, goal directed behavior, and reward prediction (Carelli, 2004, Saddoris et al., 2013). Conversely, the NAc shell appears to maintain the valence and novelty of rewards (Kelley, 2004, Zorrilla and Koob, 2013, Castro et al., 2015, Saddoris et al., 2015a). While both the core and the shell receive dopaminergic input from the VTA, the core exhibits higher levels of dopamine transporters (Jones et al., 1996). As such, differences in dopamine reuptake and synaptic availability may reflect the functional discrepancies between these two subregions. Notably, while the core and shell are functionally unique, they are not anatomically isolated from one another. Direct interconnections between the core and shell exist; specifically, core neurons project to the shell, while the shell's projections to the core are sparse (Van Dongen et al., 2005).

In addition to their functional differences, the NAc subregions also differ in their afferent and efferent connections. For instance, dopaminergic input from the VTA varies by subregion; generally, the NAc core and lateral NAc shell receive dopaminergic innervation from the lateral VTA, whereas the medial NAc shell receives medial VTA input (Ikemoto 2007). Dopamine in this circuit serves as a neuromodulator and a "teaching signal" during behavior and cue-reward associations (Schultz et al., 1997; Fiorillo et al., 2003; Tobler et al., 2005; Day et al., 2007). The NAc also receives excitatory, glutamatergic projections from cortical and limbic regions including the mPFC, basolateral amygdala (BLA), and hippocampus (Zahm and Brog, 1992; Brog et al., 1993). While the BLA sends glutamatergic projections to both NAc subregions, the core and shell receive heterogenous excitatory input from distinct prefrontal subregions. Generally, the prelimbic and anterior cingulate cortices project to the NAc core, whereas the infralimbic and orbitofrontal cortices project largely to the NAc shell (Brog et al., 1993; Montaron et al., 1996).

The NAc subregions also feature unique MSN output projections. The core projects primarily to motor-related structures such as the globus pallidus and substantia nigra, which in turn project to premotor cortical areas. In contrast, the shell projects largely to limbic regions such as the lateral hypothalamus, ventral part of the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis and VTA (Zahm and Brog, 1992, Zahm and Heimer, 1993, Corbit et al., 2001). This anatomic distinction appears to reflect different functional properties of the NAc subregions during cue-reward learning and motivated behavior (Saddoris et al., 2012; Ikemoto 2007).

Neurobiology of the prefrontal cortex

Cellular composition: Value based decision making also recruits the prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Ernst and Paulus 2005), which exerts top-down inhibitory control over behavior and assists in storing action-outcome contingencies (Balleine and Dickinson, 1998; Coutureau et al., 2000; Cardinal et al., 2002; Aron et al., 2004; Conway and Fthenaki 2003). The PFC is

composed of ~85% glutamatergic pyramidal projection neurons (Gabbott and Bacon 1996; Gabbott et al., 1997). As defined by Ramon y Cajal (1893): "The pyramidal cell, or psychic cell, possesses specific characteristics ... a dendritic shaft and tuft directed toward the cerebral surface; the existence of collateral spines on the dendritic processes..." Indeed, PFC pyramidal neurons are quite complex and arborous, with up to 16 times more spines than those in visual cortices (Elston 2000). Adding to their complexity, layer V mPFC pyramidal neurons possess unique morphology and firing activity depending on the projection target (Brown and Hestrin 2009; Molnar and Cheung 2006; Otsuka and Kawaguchi 2008). GABAergic interneurons comprise the remaining ~15% of the PFC and help to modulate pyramidal cell excitation (Beaulieu 1993).

PFC structure, function, and connectivity: Notably, the PFC is not one homologous structure, and can be compartmentalized into distinct cortices, including medial, dorsolateral, ventromedial, and orbitofrontal (Miller et al., 2001; Siddiqui et al., 2008; Barbas and Pandya 1989; Carmichael and Price 1994; Uylings and Van Eden 1990). These cortices interact to produce complex executive behaviors, such as working memory, attentional processes, and decision making (Barbas 1995; Barbas et al., 2002; Fuster 1997; Miller and Wallace 2003). Specifically, the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex is critical for goal-directed and decision-making behavior, as it is implicated in expected or obtained rewards (Watanabe, 1996; Leon and Shadlen, 1999; Kobayashi et al., 2002; Tsujimoto and Sawaguchi, 2004, Seo et al., 2007), working memory (Barbey et al., 2013), response inhibition (Garavan et al., 1999) and intertemporal choice (McClure et al., 2004).

In the rat, the PFC consists of dorsal (prelimbic; PrL) and ventral (infralimbic; IL) areas (Basar et al., 2010; Heidbreder and Groenewegen 2003; Moorman and Aston-Jones, 2015;

10

Ongur and Price, 2000). The PrL cortex is the neural correlate of the human dorsolateral PFC (Uylings et al., 2003), and is generally associated with goal-directed behavior and cognition (Moorman and Aston-Jones 2015, Koob 2010). Importantly, the PrL primarily enervates the NAc core, whereas the IL largely enervates the NAc shell (Krettek and Price 1977; Sesack et al., 1989; Basar et al., 2010; Pinto and Sesack 2000; Brog et al., 1993).

The PFC receives input from numerous brain structures, including the raphe nucleus (serotonin), locus coeruleus (noradrenaline), and VTA (dopamine), which serve to modulate neuron activity in the PFC (Steinbusch, 1981; Van Eden et al., 1987; Aston-Jones and Cohen, 2005; Puig et al., 2005; Celada et al., 2013; Chandler et al., 2014). This modulation is cell- and layer-specific, as dopaminergic input from the VTA solely modulates interneurons in Layers V and VI (Kolk et al., 2009, van Schouwenbur et al., 2010, Zhang et al., 2010), and glutamatergic input from the BLA targets layer II pyramidal neurons (Little and Carter 2013).

Conversely, the PFC's glutamatergic pyramidal cells project to a wide range of structures, such as the striatum, amygdala, (hypo)thalamus, and brainstem (Little and Carter 2013; Ernst and Fudge 2009; Heidbreder and Groenewegen 2003). For instance, layer III pyramidal neurons project largely to other cortical structures, while layer V and VI pyramidal neurons project to subcortical structures (Gabbott et al., 2005; Dembrow et al., 2010). Notably, pyramidal neurons of deep layers V and VI innervate both the NAc core and NAc shell with glutamatergic input (Ding et al., 2001), which facilitates decision making by integrating DA-ergic reinforcement signals with environmental stimuli (Russo and Nestler, 2013; Britt et al, 2012; Pine et al., 2001; Stuber et al., 2008) to encode the salience of reward-predictive cues (Hotsenpiller et al., 2001; Everitt and Wolf, 2002).

Specific manipulation of neural circuitry using optogenetics

Optogenetics is a technique that allows researchers to modulate discrete neural pathways ex and in vivo. This method utilizes light-activated proteins (opsins) that are selectively expressed on neurons via viral vectors or introduced transgenically. Opsins can be activated by external light sources (i.e., a laser) at discrete experimental time points, allowing researchers precise control over neuronal function (Boyden et al., 2005; Aravanis et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2010; Bernstein and Boyden, 2011; Boyden, 2011; Stuber et al., 2012). Importantly, opsin expression does not alter basic cellular morphology or characteristics (i.e., resting membrane potential) compared to uninfected control neurons, ensuring the validity of this technique (Zhang et al., 2006; Gradinaru et al., 2008; Chow et al., 2010). Neuron activity can be enhanced or reduced depending on the type of opsin used. One well-characterized opsin is channelrhodopsin-2 (ChR2), a blue-light-gated (470 nm) cation channel which allows for rapid neuronal depolarization at physiological frequencies (Nagel et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2006). Neuron function can also be inhibited via two other light-activated opsins: archaerhodopsin, an outward proton pump (Chow et al., 2010; 2012), and halorhodopsin, an inward chloride pump (Gradinaru et al., 2008; Zhao et al., 2008).

An important milestone in optogenetics research was the development of transgenic rat lines expressing Cre-recombinase in tyrosine hydroxylase neurons (*TH::Cre*^{+/-}). When injected with a Cre-inducible adeno-associated virus (AAV) containing a doubly floxed inverted opsin gene (DIO), TH+ neurons expressing Cre-recombinase become "infected" with the opsin gene (Butler 2011). This allows for the selective expression of opsins on TH+ (i.e., dopaminergic and noradrenergic) neurons. For instance, injection of a DIO-Cre AAV linked to ChR2 into the VTA allows for the selective expression of ChR2 on dopaminergic neurons projecting from the VTA to the NAc, and optical stimulation of infected VTA cell bodies produces dopamine release in the NAc (Witten et al., 2011).

Importantly, however, the use of AAVs to infect neurons is not limited to transgenic animals. Because AAVs infuse their DNA into host cells (Buchschacher 2003), they can be modified to insert opsin genes into neurons containing certain promoters. For instance, to optically excite the PrL-NAc core pathway, one could infuse a ChR2-containing AAV linked to the calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II alpha (CAMK2 α) promoter into the PrL, and place optical fibers in the NAc core to deliver light to glutamatergic PrL terminals. This would allow ChR2 expression only on neurons containing the CAMK2 α promoter (i.e., glutamatergic pyramidal cells). Notably, for both viral vector and transgenic methods, the majority of optogenetics literature focuses on mice. As such, a continuous effort is being made to determine if similar behavioral effects are reproducible in rats.

Examination of neural activity using *in-vivo* electrophysiology

Unlike optogenetics, *in-vivo* electrophysiology is a technique that examines real-time changes in individual neurons' activity during behavior. Arrays containing 8 microwire electrodes are implanted into the brain (e.g., bilaterally into the PrL), allowing for extracellular recording of the cell(s) surrounding each microwire. Specifically, these microwires detect changes in voltage potential surrounding each neuron. Cellular activity is recorded between the 8 active electrodes and an inactive reference electrode, and aligned with discrete task events (e.g., cue presentation or lever press). As detailed in Chapter III, neuronal activity is then filtered and processed to ensure that these characteristics are biologically appropriate, and action potentials (or "spikes") are identified via a thorough sorting process. Further, analysis of waveform

dynamics allow for the identification of different cell types (e.g., pyramidal versus GABAergic neurons in the PrL). Once spikes are sorted, cells can be further classified into non-phasic and phasic categories. Non-phasic cells do not exhibit changes in firing rate to discrete task events, whereas phasic neurons exhibit either increases (excitations) or decreases (inhibitions) to stimuli. As such, *in-vivo* electrophysiology can identify how a particular brain region encodes discrete task events, based on the phasic activity of its neuronal populations.

The neural mechanisms of value-based decision making

Value-based decision-making recruits the mesolimbic system, including the nucleus accumbens (NAc) and its dopaminergic input (Day et al., 2007, Fields et al., 2007, Clark et al., 2012). Dopamine neurons increase activity to cues that predict rewards, and track choice behaviors related to a range of decision making including effort, delay, risk, and delay discounting (Schultz, 1997, Roesch et al., 2007, Day et al., 2011). Rapid DA release in the NAc reflects this pattern of cellular activity (Day et al., 2010, Sugam et al., 2012, Saddoris et al., 2015b). Indeed, increases in transient dopamine release have been measured during cues predicting food, liquid, cocaine and intracranial self-stimulation (Phillips et al., 2003, Roitman et al., 2004, Day et al., 2007, Owesson-White et al., 2008). Further, pharmacological disruption or lesions of mesolimbic circuitry, including the NAc, results in maladaptive decision making, such that animals cannot update behavior to reflect changes in reward value (Cardinal et al., 2001, St Onge and Floresco, 2009, Ghods-Sharifi and Floresco, 2010).

Notably, the core and shell subregions may subserve unique functions with regard to decision making. The NAc core is associated with Pavlovian cue encoding, goal-directed behavior, and selection of rewards of different value (Saddoris et al., 2013). Further, the core

receives input from regions such as the PrL and BLA, which are also linked to value-based decision making and cognitive processes. Further, dopamine release in the core tracked the value of reward-predictive cues, but not the eventual outcome. Specifically, core dopamine release scaled to the subjective preference and value of the reward during risk, effort, delay, and delay discounting tasks (Day et al., 2010; Sugam et al., 2012; Saddoris et al., 2015b). As such, the NAc core may play a role in computing the expected value of each reward, allowing for the selection of the best available option.

Conversely, the NAc shell appears to play a role in reward outcome. Rewarding tastants increase DA release, while aversive tastes decrease DA release in the shell (Roitman et al., 2008; Wheeler et al., 2011). Further, cues predicting large (compared to smaller) reward magnitude elicit greater dopamine cell firing (Tobler et al., 2005, Roesch et al., 2007), which is reflected in distinct dopamine release dynamics to rewards of different magnitudes (Beyene et al., 2010, Wanat et al., 2010; Cacciapaglia et al., 2012; Sackett et al., 2017). Inactivation of the shell reduced sensitivity to reward magnitude (Stopper and Floresco, 2011), but did not disrupt the ability to differentiate costs associated with outcomes (Ghods-Sharifi and Floresco 2010). Further, a history of cocaine disrupted dopamine signaling in the NAc shell and impaired the ability to discriminate between reward magnitudes (Saddoris et al., 2016; 2017). During subjective-based decision-making tasks (i.e., delay, effort, or risk), dopamine release in the NAc shell was released during reward-predictive cues, but did not track the subjective value of the reward (Day et al., 2010; Sugam et al., 2012). However, the reward outcome was the same in these tasks (1 sugar pellet), and as such, the shell may have been encoding the availability of these equal reward outcomes.

Delay discounting and the NAc core: Lesion and pharmacological inactivation studies have linked the NAc core to subjective-based decision making (Cardinal et al., 2001, Cardinal and Cheung, 2005, Cardinal and Howes, 2005, Pothuizen et al., 2005, Hauber and Sommer, 2009, Ghods-Sharifi and Floresco, 2010). In support, rapid dopamine release in the NAc core, but not shell, encodes subjective preference during delay, risk, effort, and delay discounting tasks (Day et al., 2010, Sugam et al., 2012, Saddoris et al., 2015b). Indeed, lesions to the NAc core increase impulsive choice in rats (Cardinal et al., 2001; da Costa Araújo et al., 2009; Feja et al., 2014; Valencia-Torres et al., 2012), and diminish sensitivity to reward delay (Acheson et al., 2006).

However, delay discounting recruits both outcome (reward magnitude) and subjective (willingness to wait) components. Studies have implicated the NAc core in processing optimal choice behavior, rather than impulsivity specifically. DA-ergic antagonist SCH-23390 reduced reward magnitude sensitivity, but glutamatergic antagonist ifenprodil decreased sensitivity to delay (Yates and Bardo 2017). For instance, lesions to the NAc core reduced sensitivity to both reward magnitude and delay during a delay discounting task (Steele et al., 2018). Amphetamine (a dopaminergic agonist) increased the choice of a large delayed reward when delays increased, but decreased this choice when delays decreased, indicating that DA in the NAc core functions to modulate the best available choice, rather than impulsivity (Orsini et al., 2017). Rats' inherent impulsivity may also modulate dopamine activity in the NAc core, as highly impulsive rats exhibited attenuated DA release during cues during the delay discounting task (Moschak and Carelli, 2017).

Delay discounting and the PFC: Delay discounting also recruits the prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Ernst and Paulus, 2005), which exerts top-down inhibitory control over behavior (Aron et

al., 2004; Conway and Fthenaki 2003). Specifically, the human dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (dlPFC) is implicated in impulsive behavior (Cho et al., 2010; Cho et al., 2013; Cho et al., 2012). Drug addicts demonstrate altered dIPFC function reflective of increased impulsive behavior (Hoffman et al., 2008; Monterosso et al., 2007; Boettiger et al., 2007). In the rat, the PFC consists of dorsal (prelimbic; PrL) and ventral (infralimbic; IL) areas (Basar et al., 2010; Heidbreder and Groenewegen 2003; Moorman and Aston-Jones 2015; Ongur and Price 2000). The PrL cortex is the neural correlate of the dlPFC (Uylings et al., 2003), and is generally associated with goal-directed behavior (Moorman and Aston-Jones 2015; Killcross and Coutureau 2003; Balleine and O'Doherty 2010; Tran-Tu-Yen et al., 2009; Smith and Gryabiel 2013). The PrL cortex is also causally implicated in impulsivity, as inactivation of the PrL area induced spontaneous and premature behaviors (Ishikawa et al., 2008; Jonkman et al., 2009; Narayanan et al., 2006), and reduction of D2 receptor mRNA in the PrL increased impulsive choice (Simon et al., 2013). Further, inactivation of the medial PFC, which includes the PrL area, increased impulsive choice in a delay discounting task (Churchwell et al., 2009). As such, the rodent PrL cortex is an ideal area in which to study the neurobiology of delay discounting.

Goals of this dissertation

As discussed above, the NAc is a key brain region that contributes to goal-directed behavior and value-based decision making. Importantly, studies clearly implicate a role of the NAc in reward learning and value (Schultz 1998; Saddoris et al., 2013) and the NAc and its dopaminergic inputs from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) encode delay discounting (Saddoris et al., 2015b; Moschak et al., 2017). Presentations of reward-predictive cues evoke changes in NAc cell firing as well as phasic dopamine (DA) release during delay discounting tasks (Roesch and Bryden 2011; Kobayashi and Schultz 2008; Saddoris et al., 2015b). The NAc contains two primary subregions, the core and shell that differ in their afferent and efferent connections (Basar et al., 2010), and are believed to subserve different functions (Saddoris et al., 2015b, Parkinson et al., 1999; Heimer et al., 1991, Zahm and Brog, 1992, Jongen-Relo et al., 1994, Ikemoto, 2007). Our lab has shown that DA in the NAc core subregion in rats selectively encodes features of subjective decision making, such as risk, effort, delay, and delay discounting (Saddoris et al., 2015b; Day et al., 2010; Sugam et al., 2012; Day et al., 2011). The NAc core is also causally implicated in impulsive choice, as lesions to the core reduce preference for delayed, large and certain rewards (Pothuizen et al., 2005; Cardinal et al., 2001). Conversely, the shell is implicated in outcome (or objective) decision making (Beyene et al., 2010; Stopper and Floresco 2010; Sackett et al., 2017). However, it remains unclear if NAc dopamine activity is causally linked to discrete aspects of delay discounting. Manipulation of dopamine release in the NAc during delay discounting may elucidate how dopamine mediates and updates information related to changing reward value.

Another important afferent to the NAc is the prefrontal cortex (PFC). In the rat, the PFC consists of dorsal (prelimbic; PrL) and ventral (infralimbic; IL) areas (Basar et al., 2010; Heidbreder and Groenewegen 2003; Moorman and Aston-Jones, 2015; Ongur and Price, 2000). The NAc receives glutamatergic input from pyramidal cells in the PFC, and facilitates decision making by integrating DA-ergic reinforcement signals with environmental stimuli (Russo and Nestler 2013; Britt et al., 2012; Pine et al., 2010; Stuber et al., 2008) to encode the salience of reward-predictive cues (Hotsenpiller et al., 2001; Everitt and Wolf 2002). Importantly, the PrL selectively enervates the NAc core (Krettek and Price 1977; Sesack et al., 1989; Basar et al., 2010; Bro et al., 1993), and studies show an interaction between these two areas during drug

seeking and craving (Ma et al., 2014; Kalivas 2009). As such, the PrL-NAc core pathway is likely a critical neural substrate of value-based decision making. Importantly, glutamatergic signaling from the PrL may aid in updating information in the NAc core with respect to value changes to allow for the animal to change behavior accordingly. Investigation of PrL neuron activity, as well as manipulation of the PrL-NAc core circuit, during value-based decision making may yield further insight into how this glutamatergic pathway regulates goal-directed behavior. Taken together, the proposed studies seek to elucidate the specific roles of the NAc's dopaminergic and glutamatergic afferents during delay discounting behavior.

Specific Aims:

1. To investigate causal links between NAc core dopamine release and delay discounting.

Our lab has shown that DA in the NAc core subregion in rats selectively encodes features of subjective decision making, such as risk, effort, delay, and delay discounting (Day et al., 2010; Sugam et al., 2012; Saddoris et al., 2015b). The NAc core is also causally implicated in impulsive choice, as lesions to the core reduce preference for delayed, large and certain rewards (Cardinal et al., 2001, Cardinal and Cheung, 2005, Cardinal and Howes, 2005, Pothuizen et al., 2005, Hauber and Sommer, 2009, Ghods-Sharifi and Floresco, 2010). However, no studies have examined a casual role for NAc core dopamine during delay discounting. Here, I will use optogenetics tools in *TH::Cre^{+/-}* rats to stimulate NAc core dopamine terminals from the VTA during discrete components of our delay discounting task (from Saddoris et al., 2015b). Specifically, I will enhance dopamine release during the presentation of cues during the Forced Choice Long Delay block, and then during the Forced Choice Short Delay block. Importantly, the Short and Long Delay blocks are when rats normally shift their preference from the delayed

large reward to the immediate small reward (the more impulsive choice). Free choice preference for the large/delayed reward (independent of optical stimulation) will indicate if dopamine stimulation during reward-predictive cues casually influences delay discounting choice selection toward the less-impulsive option.

2. To determine how neurons in the PrL encode information about delay discounting.

To understand the neurobiological basis of delay discounting, it is important to investigate how neurons process information about the critical features of this behavior. Specifically, the PrL is implicated in impulsive choice, an aspect of delay discounting (Ishikawa et al., 2008; Jonkman et al., 2009; Narayanan et al., 2006). While no studies have directly examined neural processing in the PrL cortex during this behavior, several studies, including those from our lab, have shown that neuronal activity in one of its key efferents, the NAc, tracks motivated responses and cue-reward associations (Day et al., 2011; Carelli and Deadwyler 1994; Carelli et al., 1999; Carelli and Ijames 2000; Stott and Redish 2014; Roesch et al., 2009; Carelli et al., 2000). For example, work in the Carelli lab has demonstrated unique cell firing patterns in the NAc core to cues predictive of subjective reward costs such as effort, delay, and risk [Day et al., 2011; Sugam et al., 2014). Further, other labs have examined neuronal activity during delay discounting and found that NAc neurons encode information related to cues that predict reward of varying delay and magnitude (Roesch and Bryden 2011, Stott and Redish 2014; Roesch et al., 2009). Importantly, neuronal activity in the PrL also appears to encode cue-associated behavior and reward seeking (West and Carelli, 2014; Mulder et al., 2003; Durstewitz et al., 2010; Sul et al., 2010). In this aim, I will use multi-neuron recording methods to build upon prior work and examine extracellular activity in the PrL cortex during our delay discounting task. As such, this aim will clarify the role of the PrL during discrete aspects of delay discounting.
3. To assess potential causal links between the PrL-NAc core circuit and delay discounting

The PrL does not function in isolation but is part of a larger neural circuit including a primary efferent to the NAc core (Krettek and Price 1977; Sesack et al., 1989; Basar et al., 2010; Pinto and Sesack 2000; Brog et al., 1993; Simon et al., 2013; Sesack and Bunney 1989). While numerous studies implicate both the PrL and the NAc core in impulsive choice and delay discounting behavior (Churchwell et al., 2009; Cardinal et al., 2001; Pothuizen et al., 2005; Ishikawa et al., 2008; Jonkman et al., 2009; Narayanan et al., 2006), additional studies are needed to determine if PrL inputs to the NAc core play a causal role in delay discounting behavior. Here, I will infuse ChR2 into the PrL and stimulate glutamate release from terminals in the NAc core via a chronically implanted optical fiber. Critically, this approach is wellestablished and used previously by others in prefrontal cortical regions (Ma et al., 2014; Ji and Neugebauer 2012; Van den Oever et al., 2013). On test day in well-trained rats, I will optically stimulate (excite) glutamatergic terminals in the NAc core during the presentation of cues during the Forced Choice Long and Short delay blocks. As in Aim 1, the Long and Short Delay blocks are when rats normally shift their preference from the delayed large reward to the immediate small reward (the more impulsive choice). Further, Free Choice behavior will serve as a measure of learned preference for the different options independent of any nonspecific effects of stimulation during Free Choice trials. As such, this aim will investigate a critical role for the PrL-NAc core circuit in delay discounting behavior, specifically during a time of heightened impulsive choice, and examine its causal link to this behavior

CHAPTER 2

OPTICAL STIMULATION OF NAC CORE DOPAMINE RELEASE DOES NOT MODULATE DELAY DISCOUNTING BEHAVIOR

Introduction

Delay discounting is the degree to which the subjective value of a large, future reward is reduced relative to that of a smaller, immediate reward (Roesch et al., 2006; Roesch et al., 2007; Roesch and Bryden 2011; Tedford et al., 2015). Heightened delay discounting occurs when the delayed reward is devalued such that the individual shifts strategies to select the immediate reward (Roesch et al., 2006; Roesch et al., 2007; Tedford et al., 2015). This shift toward an immediate, yet smaller reward indicates a loss of patience and a more impulsive choice strategy (Cardinal et al., 2001; Dellu-Hagedorn, 2006; Pothuizen et al., 2005; Robinson et al., 2009; Winstanley et al., 2006). Impulsivity (heightened delay discounting) is a common symptom of numerous disorders, including ADHD, obesity, and drug addiction (Amlung et al., 2016; Jackson and MacKillop 2016; Bickel et al., 2012; de Wit, 2009). As such, understanding the neural underpinnings of delay discounting may contribute to the development of therapeutics which can improve aberrant impulsivity.

Delay discounting recruits the mesolimbic reward system, including the nucleus accumbens (NAc) and its core subregion (NAc core) (Cardinal et al. 2003; Cardinal 2006; Floresco et al. 2008; Dalley et al. 2008; Basar et al. 2010). Ablation of the NAc core results in a decreased preference for the large, delayed reward (Cardinal et al., 2001; Pothuizen et al. 2005; Bezzina et al. 2007; Bezzina et al., 2008; da Costa Araújo et al. 2009; da Costa Araújo et al.

2010). However, lesions to the NAc core did not alter sensitivity to reward magnitude (Cardinal and Cheung, 2005; Cardinal and Howes, 2005). As such, it is thought that the NAc core promotes the encoding of the subjective value of the delayed reward. Delay discounting was also found to produce neuronal activation in the NAc core as determined by Fos expression (da Costa Araújo et al., 2010).

Delay discounting and impulsivity is modulated by the dopaminergic input from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) to the NAc. Low levels of D2/D3 receptors in the NAc core are correlated with high impulsive action (Dalley et al., 2007). Further, dopamine transporter overexpression and D1 receptor antagonism both lead to increased impulsivity (Adriani et al., 2009; Broos et al., 2012; Koffarnus et al., 2011; van Gaalen et al., 2006). Many drugs of abuse such as amphetamine, methamphetamine, and cocaine function by agonizing dopamine, and notably, high doses of these drugs increase impulsive choice (Cardinal et al., 2000; Orsini et al., 2017). Importantly, NAc core dopamine release tracks the predicted subjective value of rewards during delay discounting (Saddoris et al. 2015b; Moschak et al., 2017). Specifically, dopamine exhibited a "graded and dynamic prediction" toward the large reward as the delay to its receipt increased, and remained the same for the small, immediate reward (Saddoris et al., 2015b). In this way, dopamine functions as a neural "currency" that compares the relative values of two distinct options (Saddoris et al., 2015b; Salzman and Fusi, 2010).

However, it is unknown if NAc core dopamine release is *causally* linked to elements of delay discounting. Previously in our laboratory, dopamine was optically stimulated during "unpreferred" (i.e., delay-predictive or small reward-predictive) cues, in an effort to shift the perceived predicted value of these unpreferred rewards. It was shown that NAc core dopamine release was causally linked to delay, but not magnitude, decision making (Saddoris et al.,

2015b). However, optical stimulation during delay discounting (i.e., that incorporates the integration of delay and magnitude components) was not examined. Previously, cue-evoked NAc dopamine tracked the "preferred" option in delay discounting, such that dopamine during delay-predictive cues declined as the delay to reward increased (Saddoris et al., 2015b). Given these findings, here we hypothesize that elevation of dopamine during the normally less preferred delay-predictive cues will increase the perceived future value of the delayed reward, and will bias rats' choice behavior toward this less-impulsive option. In the current study, we used optogenetics to stimulate dopamine release in the NAc core during cues that predicted the Forced Choice Long Delay (20 s) large reward, to assess whether this dopamine elevation would bias rats' Free Choice behavior toward the long delay (less impulsive) option. Following the long-delay stimulation paradigm, we next stimulated dopamine release during cues that predicted the Forced Choice Short Delay (10 s) large reward, to determine if stimulation would bias Free Choice behavior toward the less-impulsive (delayed) reward during *both* the short delay and subsequent long delay block.

Methods

Animals

Singly-housed *TH::Cre*^{+/-} (n = 9; male n = 3, female n = 6) and littermate control (n = 9; male n = 4, female n = 5) Long Evans rats were approximately 90 to 120 days old, weighing 275-330 g at the start of experiments. Animals were maintained at no less than 85% of pre-experimental body weights by food restriction, except during the post-operative recovery period when food was given ad libitum (Purina Lab Chow). Water was available *ad libitum* throughout the duration of the experiment. Animal procedures were conducted in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Guidelines for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, and were approved by the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC).

Apparatus

Behavioral testing was conducted in 43x43x53 cm Plexiglas chambers housed in soundblocking boxes (Med Associates, St. Albans, VT) described in detail previously (Saddoris et al., 2011). Briefly, one side of each chamber was equipped with two retractable levers (Coulbourn Instruments, Allentown, PA) 17 cm apart, with a stimulus light 6 cm above each lever. Sucrose pellets (45 mg) were delivered to a food receptacle, which was located equidistantly between the levers. A house light (100 mA) was mounted on the opposite side of the chamber.

Virus Surgery

For all surgical procedures, rats were deeply anesthetized with a ketamine hydrochloride (100 mg/kg) and xylazine hydrochloride (10 mg/kg) mixture (i.p.). Following all surgeries, rats

were given an anti-inflammatory medication (meloxicam, 1 mg/kg, s.q.) for two days postsurgery and were allowed access to food and water *ad libitum*.

Rats were first infused with a Cre-induced adeno-associated virus encoding ChR2 with EYFP (AAV5-DIO-ChR2-EYFP) into the VTA (2 injections at AP -5.4 mm, ML \pm 0.7 mm, DV - 8.4 mm from bregma; 2 injections at AP -6.2 mm, ML \pm 0.7 mm, DV -7.4 mm from bregma; 4 µl total; 1 µl per site using a 2 µl Hamilton syringe). Before infusion, the syringe was held in place for 5 min, and following infusion, held in place for 8 min. The virus was allowed to incubate for at least 8 weeks to permit expression in dopamine neuron terminals.

Training on Delay Discounting Task

Following 1 week recovery from virus surgery, rats were trained to press two distinct levers in which each response was reinforced on a continuous schedule of reinforcement. Reinforced responses resulted in the delivery of a sucrose pellet to a centrally located food cup. Animals were trained to a criterion of 50 presses on each response lever.

Next, rats were trained on the delay discounting task, which was comprised of three trial types. On Forced Choice Delay trials (Figure 1A, left), a cue light was illuminated for 5 seconds followed by extension of two levers. A single press on the associated lever positioned below that cue light resulted in a large reward (three sucrose pellets) delivered after a period of delay. During Forced Choice Immediate trials (Figure 1A, middle), another 5-second cue light signaled that responses on the associated lever resulted in a small (one sucrose pellet) immediate reward. On Free Choice trials (Figure 1A, right), both cue lights illuminated for 5 seconds, signaling that both responses were rewarded based on the contingency of the lever chosen. Importantly, each behavioral session consisted of three blocks of trials: during the first block, the large reward was

presented immediately (no-delay block); in the subsequent block, the delay to large reward was 10 seconds following a lever press (short-delay block); while in the last block, there was a 20second delay to obtain the large reward (long-delay block). Rats performed 30 trials per block, with 20 Forced Choice (10 of each type) and 10 Free Choice trials. If animals failed to respond within 10 s, both levers retracted and the trial was counted as an omission. Because each trial was a fixed duration (60 s), reward choice did not influence how quickly the rat completed the task (i.e., choosing the small reward did not lead to the next trial quicker).

Once behavior was stable, animals were surgically prepared for optical stimulation of dopamine terminals. Here, optical fibers (200 μ m diameter core) coupled to ferrules (2.25 mm diameter, 250 μ m bore) were bilaterally implanted over the NAc core (AP +1.4 mm, ML ±2.5 mm (10° angle from midline) and DV -6.5 mm from bregma). Optical fibers were secured with dental cement and stainless steel screws.

Optical Stimulation of Dopamine Terminals in the NAc during Delay Discounting Behavior

As demonstrated previously (Saddoris et al., 2015), cue-elicited core dopamine signaling scales preferentially during Forced Choice trials to the large, non-delayed reward on Block 1, and tapers off in Blocks 2 and 3. Thus, increasing dopamine signaling during cue presentation on Short or Long Delay trials may influence how the predicted value of the reward is processed. Subsequently, this altered dopamine signal may bias animals toward preferring the low value (delayed) option when given a choice.

To test this hypothesis, rats' ($n = 9 \ TH$::*Cre*^{+/-}, $n = 9 \ controls$) dopamine terminals were stimulated during the *cue* that predicted the delayed reward option, as described previously (Saddoris et al., 2015; also see Figures 2A and 4A). Here, optical stimulation of NAc core

dopamine terminals was administered during either the 5 s Forced Choice Long Delay or Short Delay cue, which predicted the large but delayed reward option. As in previous studies (Saddoris et al., 2015), no stimulation was given during Free Choice trials, allowing these trials to act as a measure of choice preference independent of stimulation effects. Thus, any alterations to Free Choice behavior resulted from changes in predicted reward value.

Rats underwent 4 total stimulation sessions (20 Hz, 5 ms pulsewidth, 20 mW), two during Long Delay (Block 3; Figure 2A) and two during Short Delay (Block 2; Figure 4A). On sessions between stimulation days, no light was delivered. Therefore, each animal was its own behavioral control during both stimulation and non-stimulation sessions. Stimulation parameters were based on in vivo measurements of dopamine release using FSCV generated by different presentations of laser light on dopamine cells, reported previously (Saddoris et al., 2015). During the stimulation paradigm, rats were connected to patch cables containing an optical fiber (200 µm core, 0.22 NA, ThorLabs). A ferrule connector at the end of the cable was secured to the rat's optical fiber implant with a ceramic sleeve (Precision Fiber Products). These were attached at the other end to an optical commutator (Doric Lenses), which allowed bilateral stimulation of NAc terminals and allowed the animal to move freely. The commutator was connected, via another patch cable, to a 150 mW DPSS 473 nm laser (OEM Laser Systems). Optical stimulation was controlled by a computer running Med PC IV software (Med Associates) that also recorded behavioral events.



Figure 2.1. Delay discounting task and behavior. **A.** Schematic of delay discounting task. **B.** Baseline percent delay choice (large reward chosen) in male and female rats. **C.** Baseline accuracy (percent correct responses) across all rats.

Intracranial Self Stimulation: Immediately following completion of the delay discounting stimulation paradigm, rats were given access to food *ad libitum* for one week. Then, rats were trained to lever press for optical stimulation of the NAc core (Figure 6A). Here, a houselight illuminated the chamber and a cue light over the right lever indicated the active lever. Animals could lever press for a 5 s bilateral optical stimulation (20 Hz, 5 ms pulsewidth, 20 mW). During the 5 s stimulation period, the cue light extinguished and the lever retracted for 20 s. Animals underwent a total of five 30-minute sessions. Following the fifth session, animals underwent a single 75 min extinction session. Here, lever presses did not result in optical stimulation, and were recorded in 15 minute blocks. Optical self-stimulation was considered "extinguished" after either two 15 minute blocks of no responses or after 75 minutes. Immediately after reaching

extinction criteria, animals received a single 5 s "priming" stimulation, signaling the opportunity to lever press for optical stimulation (20 Hz, 5 ms pulsewidth, 20 mW) for a 45 min reinstatement session.

Histology

Animals were transcardially perfused with physiological saline and a 4% paraformaldehyde solution. Once removed, brains were post-fixed in a 20% sucroseparaformaldehyde solution. Brains were sectioned coronally (40 µm) and mounted on slides coverslipped with Fluoromount-G mounting medium (Southern Biotech) to determine optical fiber placement and ChR2 expression in the NAc and VTA. Slides were imaged on a confocal microscope to evaluate ChR2 expression and optical fiber placement. A subset of slices was stored in 0.1M PB for immunohistochemistry to verify ChR2-Th co-expression. Slices were washed in Triton-X (0.3% solution in phosphate-buffered saline (PBST) and 0.1M PBS. Slices then were blocked with 1% normal goat serum (Vector Laboratories) with TH polyclonal antibody raised in rabbit (1:1000, Abcam) in 0.3% PBST for 24 hours at room temperature. Then, slices were washed and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature in goat anti-rabbit secondary antibodies conjugated to Alexa Fluor 594 (1:200, Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories). Next, slices were washed with 0.1M PBS, mounted onto microscope slides, and coverslipped with Fluoromount-G mounting medium (Southern Biotech). Slides were imaged on a confocal microscope to evaluate ChR2 expression, ChR2-Th co-expression, and optical fiber placement. Rats with misplaced optical fibers or poor viral expression were excluded from analysis.

Data Analysis

A Two-Way ANOVA was performed on Free Choice preference to determine sex differences in delay discounting choice behavior. Following this analysis, male and female rats were combined for the remainder of all analyses. Analysis of baseline behavior during the delay discounting task included examination of correct responses, number of errors, and free choice preference. To determine whether rats reliably acquired the task, we evaluated the number of errors and correct responses during Forced Choice trials. One-Way ANOVA were used to compare accuracy (percentage rewarded trials) and percentage errors during Forced Choice trials, as well as free choice preference.

To confirm that laser stimulation did not alter the ability to perform the task, the percentage of correct responses on forced trials was compared across blocks, across stimulation and non-stimulation sessions, and between genetic groups using a Three-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's test for multiple comparisons. Further, to evaluate if stimulation of dopamine terminals during the delayed option on Forced Choice trials was sufficient to shift behavioral responding during Free Choice trials, we compared response allocation and response latency on Free Choice trials across blocks, across stimulation and non-stimulation sessions, and between genetic groups using a Three-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's test for multiple comparisons.

For optical self-stimulation tests, we evaluated behavioral responding across days using a Two-Way ANOVA with Bonferroni's test for multiple comparisons to determine if there was a significant increase in lever press behavior in the $TH::Cre^{+/-}$ animals compared to controls. Paired t-tests were used to compare rats' extinction and reinstatement behavior to their last day of self-stimulation.

All analysis were considered significant at α =0.05. Statistical and graphical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 6.0 for Windows (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA).

Results

Baseline Delay Discounting Behavior

We first compared male and female rats' baseline free choice preference to examine any sex differences in impulsive choice (i.e., choosing the large delay reward less) (Figure 1B). There was a significant effect of block ($F_{2, 30} = 22.37$, p < 0.0001), and a Bonferroni's post-hoc test indicated that all rats discounted the value of the large delay reward (p < 0.05). Importantly, there was no effect of sex on delay discounting ($F_{1, 15} = 1.275$, p = 0.2766) or a block x sex interaction ($F_{2, 30} = 0.2122$, p = 0.8100). As such, male and female rats were combined for the remainder of analyses. All rats accurately discriminated the different reward values during the delay discounting task (Figure 1C). On Forced Choice Trials, rats' accuracy was dependent on the delay to reward receipt ($F_{2, 34} = 21.19$, p < 0.0001), and made more errors in Block 3 compared to Blocks 1 and 2 (p < 0.0001). During Free Choice trials, rats' preference for the large reward decreased as the delay to large reward receipt increased across blocks ($F_{2, 34} = 27.99$, p < 0.0001).

Optical Stimulation of Terminal Dopamine during Forced Choice <u>Long</u> Delay Cues does not alter Choice Behavior

First, we stimulated NAc core dopamine terminals during Forced Choice Long Delay cues (Figure 2A). We examined if optical stimulation cues altered rats' accuracy across blocks, between genetic groups, and between stimulation sessions (Figure 2B, stimulation days; Figure 2C, non-stimulation days). There was a significant effect of block ($F_{2, 32} = 26.636$, p < 0.0001) and session ($F_{1, 16} = 7.758$, p = 0.013). This indicated that there was a difference in accuracy between stimulation days and non-stimulation sessions, though this effect was largely driven by lower accuracy in controls during stimulation sessions. A Bonferroni post-hoc test on the block

main effect revealed that all rats made more errors on Block 3 compared to Block 1 and 2 (p < 0.05), regardless of genetic group or stimulation session. There were no other significant main effects or interactions (F < 3.142, p > 0.05).



Figure 2.2. Schematic of Long Delay stimulation task design and accuracy on Forced Choice trials. A. Long Delay stimulation task schematic. Rats received optical stimulation during the 5 s cue that predicted the Forced Choice Long Delay cue. Free Choice trials were then used as a measure of choice bias, independent of stimulation. B. Accuracy (percent correct responses) between transgenic and control rats during stimulation sessions. C. Accuracy (percent correct responses) between transgenic and control rats during non-stimulation sessions.

We next examined choice selection on Free Choice trials across blocks, between genetic groups, and within stimulation sessions (Figure 3A). There was a significant effect of block ($F_{1.401, 22.421} = 68.33$, p < 0.0001), indicating that all rats discounted the value of the large delay reward regardless of genetic group or stimulation sessions (p < 0.05 for all block comparisons). There was a significant session x group interaction ($F_{1,16} = 4.583$, p = 0.049) and a significant block x session x group interaction ($F_{2,32} = 4.668$, p = 0.017). However, this effect was driven by a significant interaction during Block 2 between group and session ($F_{1, 16} = 9.14$, p = 0.0081). Importantly, there was no effect during Block 3, when we stimulated dopamine terminals during Forced Choice trials ($F_{1, 16} = 0.06531$, p = 0.8015). There were no other significant main effects

or interactions (F < 1.347, p > 0.05). As such, there was no effect of optical stimulation on Long Delay choice preference.

We next examined if there was an effect of stimulation on Free Choice reaction time. For both delay and immediate choice, there was a significant effect of block (Delay: $F_{2,32} = 21.478$, p < 0.0001, Figure 3B (stimulation sessions shown); Immediate: $F_{2,32} = 6.596$, p = 0.004, Figure 3C (stimulation sessions shown)). For Delay Choice, reaction time increased across all blocks (p < 0.05), and for Immediate Choice, reaction time was fastest during Block 1, but no different during Block 2 and 3 (p < 0.05). There were no other main effects or interactions for response latency (Delay: F < 3.374; Immediate: F < 3.077; p > 0.05). As such, there was no significant effect of stimulation on Free Choice reaction time.



Figure 2.3. Free choice behavior and reaction time during Long Delay stimulation paradigm. **A.** Percent delay choice (large reward) chosen across blocks between transgenic and control groups. Data from stimulation sessions shown. **B.** Reaction time for Free Choice delay selection between transgenic and control groups on stimulation sessions. **C.** Reaction time for Free Choice immediate selection between transgenic and control groups on stimulation sessions.

Optical Stimulation of Terminal Dopamine during Forced Choice <u>Short</u> Delay Cues does not alter Choice Behavior

Following the Long Delay stimulation paradigm, we then stimulated dopamine terminals during Forced Choice Short Delay cues (Figure 4A). As in the Long Delay experiment, we examined correct responses (accuracy) during Forced Choice trials across blocks, between genetic groups and between stimulation sessions (Figure 4B, stimulation sessions; Figure 4C, non-stimulation sessions). There were significant main effects of block ($F_{2, 32} = 14.207$, p < 0.0001) and session ($F_{1, 16} = 6.415$, p = 0.022), indicating a difference in accuracy between stimulation days and non-stimulation days, and a Bonferroni post-hoc test on the block main effect revealed that rats made more errors on Block 3 compared to Blocks 1 and 2 (p < 0.05). There were no other significant main effects or interactions (F < 2.25, p > 0.05).



Figure 2.4. Schematic of Short Delay stimulation task design and accuracy on Forced Choice trials. **A.** Short Delay stimulation task schematic. Rats received optical stimulation during the 5 s cue that predicted the Forced Choice Short Delay cue. Free Choice trials were then used as a measure of choice bias, independent of stimulation. **B.** Accuracy (percent correct responses) between transgenic and control rats during stimulation sessions. **C.** Accuracy (percent correct responses) between transgenic and control rats during non-stimulation sessions.

We next examined Free Choice behavior across blocks, between groups, and within stimulation sessions (Figure 5A). We found an effect of block ($F_{2, 32} = 97.115$, p < 0.0001), but no other significant effects or interactions (F < 2.757, p > 0.05). As in the Long Delay

stimulation experiment, all rats discounted the value of the large delay reward regardless of genetic group or stimulation day (p < 0.05 for all block comparisons), but optical stimulation during Forced Choice Short Delay cues was not sufficient to bias subsequent Free Choice behavior.

We also examined reaction time during Free Choice behavior. There was a significant main effect of block (Delay: $F_{1.314, 21.027} = 20.692$, p < 0.0001, Figure 5B (stimulation session shown); Immediate: $F_{1.495, 23.914} = 13.684$, p < 0.0001, Figure 5C (stimulation session shown). A Bonferroni post-hoc test showed that reaction time increased across blocks for both delay and immediate selections (p < 0.05). When rats chose the immediate choice, there was a significant main effect of session ($F_{1, 16} = 10.132$, p = 0.006), indicating a difference between stimulation and non-stimulation days. There were no other effects or interactions for Free Choice reaction times (Delay: F < 3.286; Immediate: F < 2.475; p > 0.05).



Figure 2.5. Free choice behavior and reaction time during Short Delay stimulation paradigm. **A.** Percent delay choice (large reward) chosen across blocks between transgenic and control groups. Data from stimulation sessions shown. **B.** Reaction time for Free Choice delay selection between transgenic and control groups on stimulation sessions. **C.** Reaction time for Free Choice immediate selection between transgenic and control groups on stimulation sessions.

Optical Self-stimulation of Dopamine Terminals in the NAc core

One week following the delay discounting paradigm, rats underwent 5 self-stimulation sessions in which they were allowed to lever press for 5 s optical stimulation in the NAc core, followed by an extinction and reinstatement session (Figure 6A). We found a main effect of genetic group ($F_{1, 17} = 13.13$, p = 0.0021), a main effect of session ($F_{10, 170} = 22.37$, p < 0.0001) and a significant group x session interaction ($F_{10, 170} = 5.20$, p < 0.0001), indicating *TH::Cre*^{+/-} animals responded significantly more than controls during self-stimulation sessions. *TH::Cre*^{+/-} rats extinguished responding, with significantly fewer presses at the end of extinction compared to the final training session (t = 4.654, p = 0.0012). When laser stimulation was resumed following extinction, *TH::Cre*^{+/-} rats rapidly reinstated lever pressing to pre-extinction levels (t = 1.703, p = 0.1228). Optical fiber tip locations within the NAc core are shown in Figure 7A, and representative co-localization of ChR2 and tyrosine hydroxylase is shown in Figure 7B.



Figure 2.6. Optical self-stimulation, extinction, and reinstatement. **A.** Lever press responses for 5 s optical stimulation (20 Hz, 5 ms pulsewidth, 20 mW) for all animals in both groups. Laser was active on days 1-5. Following the last day of self-stimulation, rats underwent an extinction session during which laser was off (E1-E5), followed by a reinstatement session (R) in which presses were reinforced again with optical stimulation.



Figure 2.7. Histology. **A.** Optical fiber tip placements in transgenic animals. **B.** Top: Representative co-localization of TH and ChR2-EYFP expression in VTA cell bodies and projection neurons. Bottom: Representative co-localization of TH and ChR2-EYFP expression in NAc dopamine terminals.

Discussion

Our lab has previously reported that NAc core dopamine release tracks reward-predictive cues during delay discounting (Saddoris et al., 2015b). Initially, dopamine release was highest to cues signaling the large, more preferred option when there was no delay between obtaining the large (3 pellet) versus small (1 pellet) food pellet reward. However, as the delay to the large reward increased, dopamine signaling decreased in concentration and no longer scaled to reward predictive cues, while remaining the same for the Small/Immediate option. As such, dopamine release during predictive cues tracked the preferred value of reward and was modulated by increasing delay costs as the task progressed.

However, it remained unknown how dopamine signaling causally influences delay discounting behavior. The current study assessed if rapid dopamine signaling during delaypredictive cues causally influences delay discounting behavior. Here, we used optogenetics in $TH::Cre^{+/-}$ rats to manipulate NAc core dopamine release during Forced Delay cues of our delay discounting task. We examined Free Choice behavior in the absence of stimulation to test if elevation of dopamine was sufficient to increase selection of the delayed (i.e., less impulsive) option. We found that optical stimulation during either Forced Long Delay or Forced Short Delay cues was not sufficient to bias subsequent rats' preference toward these delayed reward options when given a choice in the absence of stimulation. These findings indicate that rapid dopamine signaling in the NAc core tracks, but is not causally linked to, value-based predictive strategies in delay discounting.

The current findings are surprising, as the NAc core is strongly linked to delay discounting behavior. Lesions to the NAc core alter delay discounting behavior, such that rats increase preference for small, immediate rewards (i.e., increase impulsive choice) (Cardinal and

Howes 2005; Cardinal et al., 2003; Cardinal et al., 2001; Bezzina et al., 2007; Galtress and Kirkpatrick, 2010; Pothuizen et al., 2005). NAc core lesions also impair learning of instrumental responses to delayed reinforcement (Cardinal and Cheung 2005), and diminish sensitivity to changes in delay (Acheson et al., 2006). Further, as discussed above, NAc core dopamine dynamically tracks reward-predictive cues during delay discounting, functioning as a "neural currency" that encodes the shift in reward value (Saddoris et al., 2015b). However, despite this extensive literature, the current findings indicate that elevation of dopamine signaling during delay-predictive cues is not sufficient to bias choice behavior toward a less-impulsive option.

One possible reason why NAc core dopamine release is not causally linked to delay discounting is the complexity of our delay discounting task. Previously, optical stimulation of the NAc core during "nonpreferred" reward-predictive cues was sufficient to bias delay (subjective), but not magnitude (objective) choice (Saddoris et al., 2015b). In each task, one aspect of reward value was kept constant. For instance, in the delay task, reward magnitude remained at 1 sucrose pellet, whereas in the magnitude task, large or small rewards were delivered immediately (i.e., no delay). As such, optical manipulation of dopamine was sufficient to bias a simple subjective (but not objective) decision making process. However, the current study's delay discounting task manipulated both delay and magnitude values simultaneously, such that the value of the large magnitude reward decreased due to increasing delay costs. We stimulated dopamine terminals during delay-predictive cues which predicted a reward that dynamically shifted in value across the task. As such, manipulation of dopamine terminal release during delay cues may not have been sufficient to "overcome" the increased value assigned to the small, immediate reward during Blocks 2 and 3.

Further, stimulation of only the VTA-NAc core circuit may not have been sufficient to shift choice behavior, as numerous brain regions other than the NAc core contribute to delay discounting behavior. The prefrontal cortex, including the medial (mPFC) and dorsolateral (dlPFC) regions, is heavily involved in delay discounting. Activity in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex is correlated with subjective value of delayed rewards (Peters and Buchel 2011; Kim et al., 2008, Weber and Huettel 2008). Further, addicts demonstrate heightened delay discounting (i.e., increased impulsive choice), and have lessened dIPFC activity compared to controls during delay discounting tasks (Hoffman al., 2008; Monterosso et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2017). Conversely, stimulation of the dIPFC (He et al., 2016; Cho et al., 2013) and mPFC (Cho et al., 2015) decreases impulsive choice. Another brain region involved in delay discounting is the amygdala, which may play a role in increasing the value of smaller, immediate rewards (Everitt et al., 1999) as a function of the individual's current emotional state (Bechara, 2005; Morrison and Salzman, 2010; Gupta et al., 2011). Amygdala activation was associated with individual delay discounting preferences, such that increased amygdala activity predicted steeper discounting (i.e., more impulsive behavior) (Hoffman et al., 2008; Pine et al., 2010). As such, future studies may be able to bias delay discounting choice behavior via manipulation of multiple circuits, including NAc core, prefrontal and amygdala regions.

It is important to note that the lack of choice bias was not due to failure of the optogenetics technique. One week following the delay discounting stimulation task, rats underwent five 30-minute sessions in which they could self-administer optical stimulation. The last session was followed by an extinction session, in which lever presses did not result in stimulation. Afterward, a reinstatement session allowed rats to resume pressing for optical stimulation. Notably, transgenic rats self-stimulated extinguished responding, and reinstated

42

lever pressing, whereas controls did not. We were able to replicate this finding from Saddoris et al. (2015b), indicating that optical stimulation was sufficient to produce robust dopamine release in NAc core terminals and to drive goal-directed behavior.

In conclusion, the data presented in this aim indicate that optical stimulation of dopamine release in the NAc core during delay-predictive cues was not sufficient to bias delay discounting choice behavior toward the less impulsive option. Previously, NAc core dopamine release dynamically tracked the preferred cue during our delay discounting task (Saddoris et al., 2015b). However, the current study indicates that this dopamine release is not causally linked to delay discounting. Importantly, rats lever pressed for optical stimulation, indicating that dopamine release is occuring in NAc core terminals and this release is sufficient to drive goal-directed behavior. This work contributes to the understanding of optogenetic technique and the overall role of dopamine release in the NAc during delay discounting.

CHAPTER 3

PRELIMBIC CORTICAL NEURONS TRACK PREFERRED REWARD VALUE AND REFLECT IMPULSIVE CHOICE DURING DELAY DISCOUNTING BEHAVIOR

Introduction

Delay discounting is a decision-making process in which the subjective value of a reward decreases based on the amount of delay to its receipt (Roesch et al., 2006; Roesch et al., 2007; Roesch and Bryden 2011; Tedford et al., 2015). When the delay becomes too long, individuals will shift their preference from a large delayed reward to a smaller, immediate one. In this way, delay discounting serves as an index of impulsivity, such that it measures the amount of time it takes for individuals to "lose patience" and choose an immediate reward.

Importantly, heightened delay discounting (increased impulsivity) is a common symptom of substance use disorders (Hoffman et al., 2008; Jentsch and Taylor 1999; Crews and Boettiger 2009; Coffey et al., 2003). That is, addicts will over-value immediate rewards (drugs of abuse), failing to reflect on the future negative consequences of their decisions (Bickel et al., 1999; Evenden 1999; Heyman 1996; Poulos et al., 1995; Bechara et al., 2005; Ernst and Paulus 2005). Clinically, drug abusers demonstrate greater impulsivity during delay discounting tasks (Hoffman et al., 2008; Coffey et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2015). For example, drugs such as cocaine decrease the "breakpoint" at which individuals shift to the small, immediate reward (Jentsch and Taylor 1999; Coffey et al., 2003; Monterosso et al., 2001; Bechara et al., 2002; Dalley et al., 2008). These findings are corroborated in rodent models, as prior exposure to cocaine increases impulsivity during decision making tasks involving delay, magnitude, and delay discounting (Roesch et al., 2007; Mitchell et al., 2014; Mendez et al., 2010). In addition to drug addiction, impulsivity is a characteristic of numerous psychiatric disorders, including attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, schizophrenia, depression, and borderline personality disorder (Barkley et al., 2001; Heerey et al., 2007; Imhoff et al., 2014; Lawrence et al., 2010).

Delay discounting recruits several brain regions, including the prefrontal cortex (PFC). Specifically, the human dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (dIPFC) is implicated in impulsive behavior (Cho et al., 2010; Cho et al., 2012; Cho et al., 2013), and drug addicts demonstrate altered dIPFC function reflective of increased impulsive behavior (Hoffman et al., 2008; Monterosso et al., 2001; Boettiger et al., 2007). Notably, the dIPFC is activated during delay discounting (Weber and Huettel, 2008; Xu et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2012), and neurons in the dIPFC change activity based on changing (discounted) values (Kim et al., 2008). Further, disruption of the left dIPFC via rTMS led to more impulsive choices during a delay discounting task (Figner et al., 2010).

The rodent prelimbic cortex (PrL) is considered to be the homologue of the human dIPFC (Uylings et al., 2003), and is heavily interconnected with other brain regions implicated in delay discounting, such as the nucleus accumbens (NAc) core (Cardinal et al., 2001; Cardinal and Howes 2005) and basolateral amygdala (BLA) (Winstanley et al. 2009; Churchwell et al., 2009). The PrL is generally associated with goal-directed behaviors (Moorman and Aston-Jones 2015; Killcross and Coutureau 2003; Balleine and O'Doherty 2010; Tran-Tu-Yen et al., 2009; Smith and Graybiel 2013), and is causally implicated in impulsivity, as inactivation of the PrL induced spontaneous and premature behaviors (Ishikawa et al. 2008; Jonkman et al., 2009; Narayanan et al., 2006). Further, inactivation of the medial PFC, which includes the PrL area, increased impulsive choice in a delay discounting task (Churchwell et al., 2009). Further, individual

differences in impulsivity may be reflected in PrL function, as high PrL D2 mRNA expression predicted a higher preference for large, delayed rewards (i.e., a less impulsive choice) (Simon et al., 2013).

However, it remains unknown how neurons in the PrL specifically encode information related to delay discounting and impulsive choice. Here, we used electrophysiological recording techniques in male and female rats to examine PrL neuronal responses during discrete elements of a delay discounting task that varied subjective costs (delay to reward) across the session. Rats could choose between a small reward (1 sugar pellet) available immediately versus a large reward (3 sugar pellets) available after either no delay (0 s), a short delay (10 s), or a long delay (20 s). We examined neuronal activity during cues that predicted the availability of either the small/immediate or large/delay reward, as well as during the responses for reward, and reward delivery. We found that PrL neuron populations were phasic to cue presentations, lever presses, and reward delivery. Notably, phasic neuron populations were selectively phasic to either large/delay, small/immediate, or both trial types. These "selective neurons" tracked preferred cue-outcome associations and reward value during Free Choice trials. Further, these tracking dynamics differed based on rats' impulsivity, with high impulsive rats demonstrating more small/immediate-selective neurons as the task progressed. Taken together, the findings indicate a unique role of PrL neurons in tracking preferred reward outcome during delay discounting and impulsive choice.

Methods

Animals

Singly-housed male (n=10) and female (n=9) Long Evans rats were approximately 90 to 120 days old, weighing 275-330 g at the start of experiments. Animals were maintained at no less than 85% of pre-experimental body weights by food restriction, except during the post-operative recovery period when food was given ad libitum (Purina Lab Chow). Water was available *ad libitum* throughout the duration of the experiment. Animal procedures were conducted in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Guidelines for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, and were approved by the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC).

Apparatus

Behavioral testing was conducted in 43x43x53 cm Plexiglas chambers housed in soundblocking boxes (Med Associates, St. Albans, VT) described in detail previously (Saddoris et al., 2011). Briefly, one side of each chamber was equipped with two retractable levers (Coulbourn Instruments, Allentown, PA) 17 cm apart, with a stimulus light 6 cm above each lever. Sucrose pellets (45 mg) were delivered to a food receptacle, which was located equidistantly between the levers. A house light (100 mA) was mounted on the opposite side of the chamber.

Surgical Procedures

Rats were deeply anesthetized with a ketamine hydrochloride (100 mg/kg) and xylazine hydrochloride (10 mg/kg) mixture (i.p.), and were given an anti-inflammatory medication (meloxicam, 1 mg/kg, s.q.) prior to surgery and again for two days post-surgery. Microwire

electrode arrays consisting of 8 microwires (50 um in diameter, described previously in Carelli et al., 2000) were bilaterally implanted in the prelimbic cortex (AP +2.7, \pm ML 0.6, DV -4.0 from bregma) and secured in place with dental cement and stainless steel screws. Following surgery, rats were allowed to recover for 1 week and had access to food and water *ad libitum* during this time.

Behavioral Procedures

All behavioral experiments were conducted at least 1 week post surgery, and rats underwent similar pretraining before beginning each behavioral task. Here, rats were trained to press two distinct levers in which each response was reinforced on a continuous schedule of reinforcement. Reinforced responses resulted in the delivery of a sucrose pellet to a centrally located food cup. Animals were trained to a criterion of 50 presses on each response lever.

Next, rats were trained on the delay discounting task, comprised of three trial types. On Forced Choice Delay trials (Figure 1A, left), a cue light was illuminated for 5 seconds followed by extension of two levers. A single press on the associated lever positioned below that cue light resulted in a large reward (three sucrose pellets) delivered after a period of delay, described below. During Forced Choice Immediate trials (Figure 1A, middle), another 5-second cue light signaled that responses on the associated lever resulted in a small (one sucrose pellet) immediate reward. On Free Choice trials (Figure 1A, right), both cue lights illuminated for 5 seconds, signaling that both responses were rewarded based on the contingency of the lever chosen. Each behavioral session consisted of three blocks of trials: during Block 1, the large reward was presented immediately (no-delay block); in Block 2, the delay to large reward was 10 seconds following a lever press (short-delay block); while in Block 3, there was a 20-second delay to obtain the large reward (long-delay block). Rats performed 30 trials per block (20 Forced Choice (10 of each type) and 10 Free Choice trials). If animals failed to respond within 10 s, both levers retracted and the trial was counted as an omission. Because each trial was a fixed duration (60 s), reward choice did not influence how quickly the rat completed the task (i.e., choosing the small reward did not lead to the next trial quicker).

Once trained on the task (4-6 weeks), rats underwent electrophysiological recording to determine PrL neuronal activity during discrete task events.



Figure 3.1. Delay discounting task and behavior. **A.** Schematic of delay discounting task. **B.** Baseline percent delay choice (large reward chosen) in male and female rats. **C.** Baseline accuracy (percent correct responses) across all rats.

Electrophysiological Recordings

Electrophysiological procedures have been described in detail previously (Day et al., 2011; West et al., 2014). Before the start of each session, the subject was connected to a flexible

recording cable attached to a commutator (Med Associates), which allowed virtually unrestrained movement within the chamber. The head stage of each recording cable contained 16 miniature unity-gain field effect transistors. Neurons were recorded differentially between each active and the inactive (reference) electrode from the permanently implanted microwires. The inactive electrode was examined before the start of the session to verify the absence of neuronal spike activity and served as the differential electrode for other electrodes with cell activity. Online isolation and discrimination of neuronal activity was accomplished using a commercially available neurophysiological system (multichannel acquisition processor (MAP) system; Plexon). Multiple window-discrimination modules and high-speed analog-to-digital signal processing in conjunction with computer software enabled isolation of neuronal signals based on waveform analysis. The neurophysiological system incorporated an array of digital signal processors (DSPs) for continuous spike recognition. The DSPs provided a continuous parallel digital output of neuronal spike events to a Pentium computer. Another computer processed operant chamber input and output (Med Associates) and sent digital outputs corresponding to each event to the MAP box to be time stamped along with the neural data. Discrimination of individual waveforms began by setting a threshold level (well above background noise) for each wire. Units detected had to display peak voltage at least 20% greater than baseline. Individual waveforms corresponding to a single cell were discriminated using template analysis procedures and time-voltage boxes provided by the neurophysiological software system (MAP system; Plexon). Cell recognition and sorting was finalized after the experiment using the Offline Sorter program (Plexon). This allowed neuronal data to be further assessed based on the principle component analysis of the waveforms, cell firing characteristics such as autocorrelograms and interspike interval distribution to ensure that putative cells showed biologically appropriate firing

refractory periods, and crosscorrelograms to ensure that multiple cells recorded on the same wires showed firing independently of each other. Waveform and spontaneous firing rates were examined to identify putative glutamatergic pyramidal neurons in the PrL and exclude GABAergic interneurons from analysis (Moorman and Aston-Jones, 2015; Devilbiss et al., 2017).

Determining phasic response patterns of PrL neurons

First, neurons that exhibited increased or decreased activity relative to three behavioral events including cue presentation, lever press responses, and reward delivery were characterized. Changes in neuronal firing patterns relative to each behavioral event were analyzed by constructing peri-event histograms (PEHs) and raster displays (bin width, 250 ms) surrounding each event using commercially available software (Neuroexplorer for Windows version 4.034, Plexon, Inc). For this analysis, each cell was examined for changes in activity relative to cue onset (0 to 5 s following cue presentation), following the lever press (0 to 2.5 s after response completion), and/or following reward delivery (0 to 2.5 s after reward delivery). Here, individual units were categorized as showing either a decrease (inhibition) or an increase (excitation) in firing rate compared to baseline (i.e., termed 'phasic') or no difference from baseline (termed 'nonphasic'). Specifically, cells were classified as phasic if during one of these epochs the firing rate was greater than or less than the 95% confidence interval projected from the baseline period (10 to 0 s before cue onset or 10 to -2.5 s before a lever press) for at least one 250 ms time bin. This confidence interval was selected such that only robust responses were categorized as excitatory or inhibitory following established procedures (Day et al., 2011; West et al., 2014). Some neurons in this analysis exhibited low baseline firing rates, and the 95% CI included zero.

Where this was the case, inhibitions were assigned if $e_0 > 2*b_0$ (where e_0 = the number of consecutive 0 spikes/s time bins during the event epoch and b_0 = the maximal number of consecutive 0 spikes/s time bins during the baseline period). Units that exhibited both excitations and inhibitions within the same epoch were classified by the response that was most proximal to the event in question, unless the most proximal response was ongoing when the event occurred. Importantly, the above analysis was completed separately for Forced Choice Large/Delay and Small/Immediate trial types, as well as during Free Choice trials when rats eventually chose the Large/Delay or Small/Immediate reward. This allowed determination as to how many neurons responded to each cue, lever press, and reward event in each block and trial type. However, the resultant categories of neuronal response profiles were not mutually exclusive. For example, a neuron could potentially exhibit an excitation to the Forced Large/Delay and Small/Immediate, or an excitation to both Forced Large/Delay and Small/Immediate cues.

Phasic Neurons Selective to Task Events

Phasic neurons were further characterized as "selective" to discrete task events (cue, press, or reward) during either Forced or Free Choice trials. These selective phasic neurons were classified as one of three types. The first type was "large/delay selective." These neurons were phasic (either excitatory or inhibitory) during either the cue, lever press, or reward delivery during Forced Choice large/delay trials, or when rats chose the large/delay option during Free Choice and were non-phasic during small/immediate trials. The second type was "small/immediate selective." These neurons were phasic during task events (cue, press, reward delivery) on Force Choice small/immediate trials, or when rats chose the small/immediate option

during Free Choice trials, and were non-phasic during large/delay trials. Finally, other neurons were selective to "both" trial types. That is, these neurons were phasic during both large/delay and small/immediate trials, regardless of rats' Free Choice selection. Importantly, because Forced and Free Choice trials were analyzed separately, selective neuron populations were not mutually exclusive to Forced or Free trial types. For example, a neuron selective to Forced Choice Large/Delay trials could also be selective to *Free* Choice Large/Delay trials.

Data Analysis

First, to determine if sex differences existed during the task, percent delay choice chosen across blocks (discounting curve) was analyzed using a 2-Way ANOVA (block x gender). Because there were no differences in any measure between sexes, all rats were combined for further analyses. Overall accuracy (delay and immediate trials combined) and percent delay choice chosen across blocks (discounting curve) were analyzed using a 1-Way ANOVA.

Rats were separated into high impulsive (n = 9, HI) and low impulsive (n = 9, LI) groups using a median split on average discounting score (the average of delay choice across blocks). Percent correct responses (accuracy) on Forced Choice trials were analyzed using a 1-Way ANOVA for HI and LI rats. Percent delay choice chosen across blocks (discounting curve) was analyzed using a 2-Way ANOVA (block x impulsivity trait).

Differences in the frequency or proportion of neuronal responses across different trial types were examined using Chi-squared or Fisher's exact test. For population activity, the firing rate of each cell was normalized by a Z-score transformation (using baseline mean and standard deviation) to reduce the potential influence of baseline differences in this analysis. Peak cell

firing was analyzed using t-tests. All analyses were considered significant at $\alpha = 0.05$. Statistical and graphical analysis was conducted in Graphpad Prism 4 (Graphpad software, Inc.).

Histology

Upon completion of the experiment, rats were deeply anesthetized with a ketamine and xylazine mixture (100 mg/kg and 10 mg/kg, i.p., respectively). In order to mark the placement of electrode tips, a 13.5 μ A current was passed through each microwire electrode for 5 seconds. Brains were removed and placed into a formalin solution with 20% sucrose and 3% potassium ferricyanide, after which 40 μ m coronal brain sections were sliced and mounted on slides. The addition of potassium ferricyanide allowed for a blue reaction corresponding to the location of individual electrode tips, which was assessed by visual examination of successive coronal sections. Placement of an electrode tip within the PrL was determined by examining the relative position of observable reaction product to visual landmarks and anatomical organization of the rodent mPFC represented in a stereotaxic atlas (Paxinos and Watson, 2005).

Results

Behavior

Animals reliably acquired the delay discounting task. We first examined if any gender differences existed for task accuracy or choice preference. There was no significant difference in accuracy ($F_{1, 17}$) = 0.3102, p = 0.5848, data not shown) or delay choice (discounting curve) ($F_{1, 17}$) = 0.1442, p = 0.7089; Fig 1B) between males and females. As such, for the remainder of this analysis, males and females were combined. All rats responded accurately to Forced Choice trials and made significantly more errors on Block 3 Forced Choice trials ($F_{2, 36}$ = 4.499, p = 0.0180; Fig 1C).

Task-Related Neuronal Activity

A total of 125 individual PrL neurons were recorded from 19 animals (n = 10 male, n = 9 female) during behavioral performance. Waveform analysis revealed that 115 neurons were putative pyramidal (i.e., glutamatergic) neurons, and the remaining 10 were excluded from analysis.

Task cues evoked changes in firing rate in a large population of PrL neurons. Of the 115 neurons, 96 cells (83.5%) exhibited phasic changes in firing rate during at least one Forced Choice cue presentation and 88 (76.5%) exhibited changes during at least one Free Choice cue presentation. These phasic neurons were classified as cue-activated (Figure 2A) or cue-inhibited (Figure 2B). During Forced Choice cue presentations, there was no significant difference between the percentage of phasic neurons across blocks for either large/delay trials or small/immediate trials (p > 0.05 for all analyses; data not shown). However, during the Free Choice cue presentations that preceded rats' choice of the Large/Delay option, PrL neurons

exhibited dynamic changes in percent phasic neurons across blocks, shown in Figure 2C, top. Here, significantly more phasic neurons were observed during Block 1 as compared to later blocks ($X^2 = 16.34$, p = 0.0003). There was no difference between phasic percentage during Free Choice cue presentations preceding the small/immediate option ($X^2 = 0.42$, p = 0.8106; Figure 2C, bottom). These results indicate that phasic PrL neurons preferentially encode the best available predicted option in the *absence* of delay (i.e., preferring a large magnitude versus small magnitude option). However, once the delay to receipt increases, the general population of phasic PrL neurons do not differentially encode or track cue presentation.



Figure 3.2. PrL neurons respond to cue presentations. **A.** Peri-event histogram (PEH) of a representative cue-activated neuron. Data are aligned to cue onset (time 0, dashed line); cue duration indicated by horizontal lines below PEHs here and in B. B. PEH of a representative cue-inhibited neuron. C. Pie charts illustrating proportion of neurons that exhibited phasic responses during Free Choice cue presentations, based upon whether the rat subsequently chose the large/delay reward (top row) or small/immediate reward (bottom row).
Another subset of neurons demonstrated changes in firing rate following lever press. Of 115 neurons, 86 (74.8%) exhibited changes following Forced Choice lever presses, and 62 (53.9%) exhibited changes following Free Choice lever presses. Phasic neurons were classified as press-activated (Figure 3A) or press-inhibited (Figure 3B). On *Forced* Choice blocks, there was no significant difference between the percentage of phasic neurons during the lever press across blocks for either Large/Delay or Small/Immediate trials (p > 0.05 for all analyses; data not shown). Likewise, during Free Choice Large/Delay blocks, there was no difference in phasic lever press related neurons across blocks ($X^2 = 3.02$, p = 0.2209; Figure 3C, top). However, during Free Choice Small/Immediate trials, there were more phasic neurons to the press during Block 3 compared to the other blocks ($X^2 = 8.92$, p = 0.0115; Figure 3C, bottom row). This finding indicates that during goal-oriented behavior (i.e., lever press), PrL neurons dynamically track the 'preferred' *action* as delay to reward increases, but only for the small/immediate option. Importantly, this suggests that PrL neurons function to update (i.e., increase) the value of initially nonpreferred actions, and promote goal-oriented behavior toward this outcome.



Figure 3.3. PrL neurons respond to lever press. **A.** PEH showing a representative pressactivated neuron. Data are aligned to lever press (time 0, dashed line) here and in B. B. PEH of a representative press-inhibited neuron. C. Pie charts illustrating the proportion of neurons that exhibited phasic responses during Free Choice lever presses for either the large/delay reward (top row) or small/immediate reward (bottom row).

Finally, a third subset of neurons exhibited firing rate changes following reward delivery, with 83 out of 115 (72.2%) exhibiting changes following Forced Choice reward delivery and 66 (57.4%) exhibited changes following Free Choice reward delivery. Phasic neurons were classified as reward-activated (Figure 4A) or press-inhibited (Figure 4B). Similar to cue and lever press responsive cells, there was no significant differences across blocks on Forced Choice trials (p < 0.05 for all analyses; data not shown). In contrast, on Free Choice Small/Immediate reward delivery, there were more phasic neurons during Block 3 compared to the other blocks ($X^2 = 8.92$, p = 0.0115; Figure 4C), but no difference in Free Choice Large/Delay reward

delivery across blocks ($X^2 = 3.45$, p = 0.1781; Figure 4C). Thus, similar to cue and lever press encoding, phasic PrL neuron activity dynamically shifts in reward processing across blocks for Free Choice, but not Forced Choice, trials. Similar to our lever press findings, this may indicate that phasic PrL neurons preferentially assign greater value to the small/immediate reward outcome as the delay to large reward receipt increases. Further, these neurons appear to promote the selection and consumption of smaller rewards once the delay to the large option becomes intolerable.



Figure 3.4. PrL neurons respond to reward delivery. **A.** PEH showing a representative reward-activated neuron. Data are aligned to reward delivery (time 0, dashed line) here and in B. B. PEH of a representative reward-inhibited neuron. C. Pie charts illustrating the proportion of neurons that exhibited phasic responses during Free Choice reward delivery for either the large/delay reward (top row) or small/immediate reward (bottom row).

Examination of Strength of the Neural Signal to Cues, Lever press and Rewards

The above analysis shows population neural responses wherein we combined excitatory and inhibitory neurons into 'phasic' cells, illustrated in pie charts. Here, neurons with a phasic change in activity were further divided into subgroups based on whether firing rate *increased* or *decreased* during a given epoch (cue, lever press or reward). A complete analysis of neuronal response counts by task, event, and response direction are shown in Table 1 (Forced Choice trials) and Table 2 (Free Choice trials). To examine if differences existed in the strength of the neural signal, we compared peak activity during the 5 s cue period prior to lever extension, as well as during lever press or reward delivery epochs in each block of the delay discounting task. A similar analysis was completed for minimal (trough) firing rates for inhibitory neurons. Population-level comparisons did not yield significant differences in maximal peak increases in firing rate for excitations (paired t-tests, p > 0.05 for all comparisons) or minimal trough activity (inhibitions) during any epoch (paired t-tests, p > 0.05 for all comparisons).

	Cue		Lever Press		Reward	
Trial Type	EXC	INH	EXC	INH	EXC	INH
Block 1						
Small/Immediate	28 (24.3)	7(6.1)	16 (13.9)	14(12.2)	16 (13.9)	14(12.2)
Large/Delay	37 (32.2)	8 (7.0)	21 (18.3)	9(7.8)	21 (18.3)	10 (8.7)
Block 2						
Small/Immediate	23 (20.0)	12(10.4)	15(13.0)	6(5.2)	15(13.0)	6(5.2)
Large/Delay	29(25.2)	7(6.1)	17(14.8)	13(11.3)	18(15.7)	7(6.1)
Block 3						
Small/Immediate	24 (20.9)	10(8.7)	19(16.5)	7(6.1)	19(16.5)	7 <mark>(</mark> 6.1)
Large/Delay	24 (20.9)	11(9.6)	16 (13.9)	15(13.0)	14(12.2)	7(6.1)



	Cue		Lever Press		Reward	
Trial Type	EXC	INH	EXC	INH	EXC	INH
Block 1						
Small/Immediate	11(22.9)	0(0)	2(4.2)	0(0)	2(4.2)	0(0)
Large/Delay	37(32.2)	9(7.8)	16 (13.9)	7(6.1)	16 (13.9)	7(6.1)
Block 2						
Small/Immediate	25(21.7)	1(0.9)	17(14.8)	2(1.7)	17(14.8)	2(1.7)
Large/Delay	16 (13.9)	4(3.5)	19(16.5)	6(5.2)	20(17.4)	0(0)
Block 3						
Small/Immediate	19(16.5)	11(9.6)	21 (18.3)	6(5.2)	21 (18.3)	6(5.2)
Large/Delay	19(20.2)	2(2.1)	10(10.6)	2(2.1)	10(10.6)	0(0)

Table 3.2. Percent phasic neurons during Free Choice task events. Numbers expressed as count (percentage of total).

Distinct PrL Neurons Selectively Encode Information Related to Discounted Choice

A substantial proportion of PrL neurons exhibited event-selective (cue, press, reward) excitations or inhibitions *across* large/delay versus small/immediate trials. Examples of cue-selective activity are shown for representative excitatory neurons in Figure 4. We classified these responses into three separate types. "Large/delay selective" neurons exhibited a phasic response during the large/delay cue, press, or reward (Figure 4A). "Small/immediate selective" neurons exhibited a phasic response during the small/immediate cue, press, or reward (Figure 4B). "Both selective" neurons demonstrated phasic responses during both large/delay and small/immediate cues, press, and reward delivery (4C). During Free Choice trials, when both cue lights were presented, we labeled "large/delay" cue-selective neurons when the rat chose the large/delay option, and "small/immediate" cue-selective neurons when the rat chose the

small/immediate option. Thus, during Free Choice trials, cue-selective neurons were phasic during the time when the rat was deciding to make its choice.



Figure 3.5. Subsets of PrL cue-responsive neurons exhibit distinct properties of neural coding. **A.** PEH of a representative large/delay selective neuron during cue presentation (left, phasic) and the same neuron during small/immediate cue presentation (right, nonphasic). Data are aligned to cue presentation (time 0, dashed line); duration indicated by horizontal line below PEHs here and in B and C. B. PEH of a representative small/immediate selective neuron during cue presentation (right, phasic) and the same neuron during large/delay cue presentation (left, nonphasic). C. PEH of a representative neuron selective to both large/delay (left) and small/immediate (right) cue presentation.

Notably, the percentage of Free Choice cue-selective phasic neuron populations shifted from "large/delay preferring" to "small/immediate preferring" across blocks ($X^2 = 30.03$, p < 0.0001, Figure 6A). The same phenomenon was observed in Free Choice press- and rewardselective populations, with neurons shifting from "large/delay" to "small/immediate" selective across blocks (Press: $X^2 = 31.96$, p < 0.0001, Figure 6B; Reward: $X^2 = 30.1$, p < 0.0001, Figure 6C). Interestingly, Forced Choice phasic selective neuron populations did not track "preferred" cues, presses, or reward deliveries across blocks. (Cue: $X^2 = 1.48$; Press: $X^2 = 4.38$; Reward: $X^2 = 6.31$; p > 0.05 for all analyses; Fig. 6 D-F.) These findings indicate that PrL neurons reflect the changes in both predicted and outcome reward value as delay to reward increases in the Free Choice (but not Forced Choice) trials. That is, these neurons tracked and updated the "preferred" option in each Free Choice block when given a choice between an immediate and delayed reward.



Figure 3.6. Proportions of event-related (cue, press, reward) selective neurons dynamically decline across Free Choice (top) but not Forced Choice (bottom) blocks. **A.** Proportion of phasically active selective neurons to Free Choice cue presentation. **B.** Proportion of phasically selective neurons to Free Choice lever press. C. Proportion of phasically selective neurons to Free Choice reward delivery. D. Proportion of phasically active selective neurons to Forced Choice cue presentation. **E.** Proportion of phasically selective neurons to Forced Choice lever press. F. Proportion of phasically selective neurons to Forced Choice lever press. F. Proportion of phasically selective neurons to Forced Choice reward delivery.

Differences in Behavior in High versus Low Impulsive Rats

We next separated rats into high impulsive (n = 9, HI) and low impulsive (n = 9, LI) groups using a median split on average discounting score (the average of delay choice across blocks; Figure 7A). HI and LI rats significantly differed in delay choice behavior across blocks ($F_{2,32} = 47.27$, p < 0.0001) and between impulsivity traits ($F_{1,16} = 59.3$, p < 0.0001), with a significant interaction between impulsivity and block ($F_{2,32} = 6.775$, p = 0.035). Both HI (Figure 7B) and LI rats (Figure 7C) were less accurate on Block 3 trials ($F_{2,32} = 4.205$, p = 0.0239). However, there was no effect of impulsivity ($F_{1,16} = 1.235$, p = 0.2828) or a block x impulsivity interaction ($F_{2,32} = 0.9905$, p = 0.3825) on accuracy. As such, impulsivity did not alter accuracy on Free Choice trials.



Figure 3.7. Differentiation of rats' impulsivity. **A.** Baseline percent delay choice (large reward chosen) in high versus low impulsive rats. **B.** Accuracy (percent correct responses) in high impulsive rats on recording day. C. Accuracy (percent correct responses) in low impulsive rats on recording day.

Selective Neuron Population Dynamics Differ between High and Low Impulsive Rats

During Free Choice cue presentations, both HI and LI rats' selective neuronal populations shifted from "large/delay selective" to "small/immediate selective" across blocks (HI: p = 0.0013, Figure 8A; LI: p = 0.0006, Figure 8B; Fisher's exact). This indicated that the proportion of selective neurons reflected all rats' *eventual*, preferred Free Choice option. In

Block 1, there was no difference in selective neuron proportions *between* HI and LI rats (p > 0.05, Fisher's exact). However, there was a difference between HI and LI rats in Block 2 (p = 0.0457, Fisher's exact) and Block 3 (p = 0.0037, Fisher's exact). These findings indicated that HI rats (Figure 8A) exhibited significantly more "small/immediate" cue-selective neurons than LI rats (Figure 8B) in Blocks 2 and 3.



Figure 3.8. Proportions of cue-selective phasic neurons across blocks in high versus low impulsive rats. **A.** Proportion of phasically selective neurons to Free Choice cue presentation in high impulsive rats across blocks. **B.** Proportion of phasically selective neurons to Free Choice cue presentation in low impulsive rats across blocks.

During Free Choice lever presses, both HI and LI rats' selective neuronal populations also shifted from "large/delay selective" to "small/immediate selective" across blocks (HI: p = 0.0004, Figure 9A; LI: p = 0.0016, Figure 9B; Fisher's exact). However, there was no difference *between* HI and LI rats' selective neuron proportions in any block (p > 0.05, Fisher's exact). This indicated that while the proportion of selective neurons reflected all rats' preferred Free Choice lever press selection, there was no difference between HI and LI rats' neuron populations as delay to reward increased. As such, inherent impulsivity did not seem to play a role in how the PrL tracks animals' action-oriented behavior (i.e., pressing the lever).



Figure 3.9. Proportions of press-selective phasic neurons across blocks in high versus low impulsive rats. **A.** Proportion of phasically selective neurons to Free Choice lever press in high impulsive rats across blocks. **B.** Proportion of phasically selective neurons to Free Choice lever press in low impulsive rats across blocks.

During Free Choice reward delivery, both HI and LI rats' selective neuronal populations shifted from "large/delay selective" to "small/immediate selective" across blocks (HI: p = 0.00002, Figure 10A; LI: p = 0.001, Figure 10B; Fisher's exact). This indicated that the proportion of selective neurons reflected all rats' preferred Free Choice outcome. There was no difference *between* HI and LI rats' selective neuron proportions in Block 1 (p = 0.22, Fisher's exact) and a nearly significant trend in Block 2 (p = 0.06, Fisher's exact). During Block 3, HI rats demonstrated significantly more "small/immediate selective" neurons than LI rats (p = 0.007, Fisher's exact). These findings indicated that HI rats (Figure 10A) exhibited significantly more "small/immediate" reward-selective neurons than LI rats (Figure 10B) when the delay to receipt was largest. Taken together, these results indicate that inherent impulsivity drives how the PrL tracks both the predicted (cue, Figure 8) and outcome (reward, Figure 10) value of preferred rewards during delay discounting, but not the press for reward (Figure 9).



Figure 3.10. Proportions of reward-selective phasic neurons across blocks in high versus low impulsive rats. **A.** Proportion of phasically selective neurons to Free Choice reward delivery in high impulsive rats across blocks. **B.** Proportion of phasically selective neurons to Free Choice reward delivery in low impulsive rats across blocks.

For all Forced Choice task events (cue, press, reward), there was no shift in selective neuron populations across blocks in HI or LI rats (p > 0.05, Fisher's exact, data not shown). Further, for all Forced Choice task events, there was no difference *between* HI and LI rats' selective neuron populations within any block (p > 0.05, Fisher's exact, data not shown). As such, rats' impulsivity had no influence on selective neurons during Forced Choice trials.

Histological Reconstruction of Electrode Placements

A total of 304 microelectrodes (16 per animal) were implanted bilaterally and aimed at the PrL. On test days, 140 neurons were recorded across 130 electrodes. Neurons in the infralimbic cortex (n = 15) were excluded from analysis. Of the remaining 125 PrL neurons, waveform analysis revealed that 115 were putative pyramidal (i.e., glutamatergic) neurons, and the remaining 10 were excluded from analysis. Electrode tip placements in the PrL are shown in Figure 11.



Figure 3.11. Electrode tip placement in the PrL.

Discussion

The current study assessed how PrL pyramidal neurons encode and track delay discounting behavior. Here, we used *in-vivo* electrophysiology techniques to record neuronal activity in the PrL during discrete elements of our delay discounting task (i.e., cue presentation, lever press, and reward delivery). PrL neurons exhibited phasic responses to cue presentations, lever presses, and reward delivery during Forced and Free Choice trials. We found that distinct phasic neuron populations selectively tracked Free Choice (but not Forced Choice) task events across blocks, indicating that the PrL recruits distinct cellular groups that encode shifts in preferred reward value. Notably, highly impulsive rats experienced a greater shift in the proportion of small/immediate cue-selective neurons as delay to reward increased. The results indicate that PrL neurons track preferred choice in delay discounting, and that neural activity in this region may influence impulsive choice.

Distinct PrL neurons were selectively phasic to discrete task events and trial types. That is, unique neuron groups were activated during task events on either large/delay, small/immediate, or both trial types. The proportion of these selective neuronal populations shifted across blocks, from more large/delay selective neurons in Block 1 to more small/immediate selective neurons in Block 3. Notably, this shift occurred only in Free Choice trials, in which rats were given a choice between two options that shifted in value across blocks. Importantly, Free Choice trials present both cue lights simultaneously for 5 s, allowing rats to choose the preferred option, and so we classified cue-selective neurons based on rats' eventual choice. For example, when rats chose the large/delay option, phasic neurons during the preceding cue period were labeled as "large/delay" selective. Not only did selective neuron populations

track the predicted value of reward during cue presentation, but they also tracked preferred choice selection (lever press) and reward outcome (reward delivery).

Similarly, in a different delay discounting task, VTA neural activity encoded the perceived value of the best available option (Roesch et al., 2007). NAc core dopamine release also tracked cues that predicted the preferred reward option during Free Choice behavior, though this effect was not present in the Long Delay block (Saddoris et al., 2015). Notably, the current study found no shift in selective neuron populations during Forced Choice trials, which presented a selection "rule" rather than a choice. Conversely, VTA neural activity (Roesch et al., 2007) and NAc core dopamine release (Saddoris et al., 2015b) *did* track preferred reward value during Forced Choice cue presentations. While the aforementioned studies were examining dopamine's role in delay discounting, here we find that putative PrL glutamatergic neurons only encode Free Choice behavior.

We also found that this shift is dependent on inherent impulsivity. Rats that were more impulsive (e.g., a steeper shift toward the small/immediate option) also showed a greater shift in the proportion of small/immediate neurons across blocks compared to low impulsive rats. Notably, this shift occurred in cue-activated neurons, indicating that the PrL may contribute to differences in impulsive choice by differentially encoding *predicted* preferred reward values. High impulsive rats also had more small/immediate selective neurons during Block 3 reward delivery, indicating that the PrL may also contribute to how reward outcome is processed in high versus low impulsive individuals. Further, these neuronal differences were reflected in rats' behavioral responses, as high impulsive rats dramatically shifted preference toward the small/immediate option during Free Choice trials, whereas low impulsive rats equally preferred both options during Free Choice trials. Taken together, neuronal activity in the PrL reflected

impulsive behavior and predicted inherent impulsivity toward both anticipated and eventual reward outcomes.

This experiment was the first to examine neuronal activity in the PrL during delay discounting. However, the PrL has been previously shown to play a role in the neural circuitry controlling delay discounting and impulsive choice. Inactivation of the PrL produces spontaneous and premature behaviors (Ishikawa et al. 2008; Jonkman et al., 2009; Narayanan et al., 2006), and increased impulsive choice (i.e., small/immediate reward selection) during delay discounting (Churchwell et al., 2009). The PrL also selectively enervates the nucleus accumbens (NAc) core) with glutamatertic input (Krettek and Price 1977; Sesack et al., 1989; Basar et al., 2010; Pinto and Sesack 2000; Brog et al., 1993). The NAc core has been extensively implicated in delay discounting, as lesions increase impulsive choice (Cardinal et al., 2001; Pothuizen et al. 2005; Bezzina et al. 2007, 2008; da Costa Araújo et al. 2009, 2010). Further, dopamine release in this region tracks preferred reward value during Force Choice trials (Saddoris et al., 2015b; Moschak and Carelli, 2017). However, it is unclear how PrL glutamatergic input contributes to delay discounting. The data presented here may begin to uncover how PrL neuronal activity influences the NAc core during delay discounting behavior.

The findings may suggest that more impulsive individuals have different PrL physiology than low impulsive individuals. Previously, individual differences in impulsivity have been shown to play a role in the neurobiology of delay discounting, although most rodent studies have focused on the NAc core. Inactivation of the NAc core decreased delay discounting in low impulsive rats (Moschak and Mitchell, 2014), while high impulsive rats exhibited less dopamine release in this region during delay discounting compared to less impulsive rats (Moschak and Carelli 2017). Both systemic administration of amphetamine and *in vitro* electrical stimulation of

NAc elicit less DA release in high impulsive individuals (Diergaarde et al., 2008; Zeeb et al., 2016). Conversely, less impulsive rats demonstrate more dopamine release than high impulsive rats (Diergaarde et al., 2008). In the PrL, the number of D2 receptors was correlated with greater preference for the large/delay reward (Simon et al., 2013), and activation of these receptors impairs rats' ability to shift reward preference during delay discounting (St. Onge et al., 2011). The current study demonstrates that high versus low impulsive individuals differ in how PrL neuron populations encode predicted reward value and eventual outcome. As such, individual differences in PrL physiology may contribute to impulsive choice during delay discounting.

It is essential to understand the neurobiology of impulsivity, as this behavior appears to have a bidirectional relationship with disorders such as drug addiction. Heightened delay discounting is often a result of substance abuse, but inherently high impulsivity may also *predict* future drug use (Bickel et al., 1999; Evenden 1999; Heyman 1996; Poulos et al., 1995; Bechara 2005; Ernst and Paulus 2005; Hoffman et al., 2008; Coffey et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2015; Jentsch and Taylor, 1999; Winstanley et al, 2010). Drug abusers demonstrate greater impulsivity during delay discounting tasks (Hoffman et al., 2008; Coffey et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2015), and the intensity of drug addiction correlates with the degree of delay discounting (Petry and Casarella, 1999; Vuchinich and Simpson, 1998). Further, individual impulsivity levels during delay discounting predicted the severity of cocaine self-administration in rats (Anker et al., 2009).

Our results indicate that the PrL encodes delay discounting information based on inherent impulsivity. These findings have clinical relevance, as the PrL (and its human correlate, the dlPFC) are highly implicated in impulsivity and drug addiction. Drug addicts demonstrate altered dlPFC function reflective of increased impulsive behavior (Hoffman et al., 2008; Monterosso et

al., 2007; Boettiger et al., 2007). The PrL demonstrated enhanced encoding of cocaine-associated stimuli following abstinence (West et al., 2014). Further, lesions to the PrL reduced drug seeking (Di Pietro et al., 2006), and inhibition of this region blocked cocaine reinstatement (Capriles et al., 2003; Di Pietro et al., 2006; McFarland and Kalivas, 2001). Conversely, activation of the PrL-NAc core pathway increased cocaine reinstatement behavior (McGlinchey et al., 2016). As such, understanding the neural underpinnings of delay discounting may identify impulsive individuals at risk for psychiatric disorders, or may improve treatments for diseases such as drug addiction.

The current findings reveal an essential role of the PrL during delay discounting. PrL neurons are phasically active to discrete task events, including cue presentation, lever press, and reward delivery. Specifically, these phasic neurons formed unique subgroups that were selectively phasic to the large/delay, small/immediate, or both trial types. These selective neuron populations tracked the shift in preferred reward value as the task progressed. Further, this tracking was dependent on inherent impulsivity, such that high impulsive rats demonstrated a greater shift in small/immediate selective neurons across blocks. The findings indicate a role for the PrL in encoding impulsive choice as a function of individual impulsivity. As such, further investigation of this brain region is necessary to understand the neural underpinnings of delay discounting.

CHAPTER 4

OPTICAL STIMULATION OF NAC CORE GLUTAMATE RELEASE DOES NOT MODULATE DELAY DISCOUNTING BEHAVIOR

Introduction

Delay discounting measures the decreasing value of rewards based on the delay to their receipt (Roesch et al., 2006; Roesch et al., 2007; Roesch and Bryden 2011; Tedford et al., 2015). Once the delay becomes too long to tolerate, individuals shift their choice allocation toward a smaller, immediate reward (Roesch et al., 2006; Roesch et al., 2007; Tedford et al., 2015). Because delay discounting measures the amount of time it takes for individuals to "lose patience" and choose an immediate reward, it is often used as a measure of impulsivity.

Delay discounting recruits the mesolimbic reward system, including the nucleus accumbens core (NAc core) and its dopaminergic input from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) (Cardinal et al. 2003; Cardinal 2006; Floresco et al. 2008; Dalley et al. 2008; Basar et al. 2010). Extensive literature has linked the NAc core and its dopaminergic input to delay discounting. For instance, lesions to the NAc core increase impulsive choice (i.e., decreases preference for the large, delayed reward) (Cardinal et al., 2001; Pothuizen et al. 2005; Bezzina et al. 2007, 2008; da Costa Araújo et al. 2009, 2010). Further, NAc core dopamine release tracks the predicted subjective value of rewards during delay discounting (Saddoris et al. 2015b; Moschak et al., 2017).

However, in addition to dopamine, the NAc core receives glutamatergic input from numerous brain regions, including the prefrontal cortex (Krettek and Price 1977; Sesack et al., 1989; Basar et al., 2010; Pinto and Sesack 2000; Brog et al., 1993). While less understood than dopamine, glutamatergic activity in the NAc core may also contribute to delay discounting behavior. Indeed, aberrant glutamate activity contributes to impulsivity disorders such as ADHD (Jensen et al., 2009; Miller, Pomerleau, Huettl, Gerhardt, & Glaser, 2014; Perlov et al., 2007) and substance abuse (Ben-Shahar et al., 2012; Griffin, Haun, Hazelbaker, Ramachandra, & Becker, 2014). Interestingly, antagonism of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) glutamate receptors produces differential effects on delay discounting, e.g., ketamine and memantine increase delay discounting, while MK-801 decreases impulsive choice (Cottone et al., 2013; Floresco, Tse, & Ghods-Sharifi, 2008; Higgins et al., 2016; Yates, Batten, Bardo, & Beckmann, 2015).

However, it is unknown if NAc core glutamate release is *causally* linked to elements of delay discounting. Previously in our laboratory, *dopamine* was optically stimulated during "unpreferred" (i.e., delay-predictive or small reward-predictive) cues, in an effort to shift the perceived predicted value of these unpreferred rewards. It was shown that NAc core dopamine release was causally linked to delay, but not magnitude, decision making (Saddoris et al., 2015b). Further, Aim 1 of this dissertation demonstrated that optically-evoked dopamine release was not causally linked to delay discounting behavior. However, optical stimulation of glutamate during delay discounting was not examined. Because glutamate activity in the NAc core is linked to impulsivity and delay discounting behavior, we hypothesize here that elevation of glutamate during delay-predictive cues will bias rats' choice behavior toward this less-impulsive option. In the current study, we used optogenetics to stimulate glutamate release in the NAc core during forced cues that predicted the delayed, large reward during a delay discounting task, and examined if this shifted free choice behavior in the absence of stimulation.

Methods

Animals

Singly-housed male (n = 8) and female (n = 6) Long Evans rats were approximately 90 to 120 days old, weighing 275-330 g at the start of experiments. Animals were maintained at no less than 85% of pre-experimental body weights by food restriction, except during the post-operative recovery period when food was given ad libitum (Purina Lab Chow). Water was available *ad libitum* throughout the duration of the experiment. Animal procedures were conducted in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Guidelines for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, and were approved by the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC).

Apparatus

Behavioral testing was conducted in 43x43x53 cm Plexiglas chambers housed in soundblocking boxes (Med Associates, St. Albans, VT) described in detail previously (Saddoris et al., 2011). Briefly, one side of each chamber was equipped with two retractable levers (Coulbourn Instruments, Allentown, PA) 17 cm apart, with a stimulus light 6 cm above each lever. Sucrose pellets (45 mg) were delivered to a food receptacle, which was located equidistantly between the levers. A house light (100 mA) was mounted on the opposite side of the chamber.

Virus Surgery

For all surgical procedures, rats were deeply anesthetized with a ketamine hydrochloride (100 mg/kg) and xylazine hydrochloride (10 mg/kg) mixture (i.p.). Following all surgeries, rats

were given an anti-inflammatory medication (meloxicam, 1 mg/kg, s.q.) for two days postsurgery and were allowed access to food and water *ad libitum*.

Prior to any behavioral training, rats were infused with either a CAMKIIa-promoter virus containing ChR2 (AAV5:CaMKII::hChR2(H134R)-EYFP) or a control virus (AAV5:CaMKII::eYFP) in the PrL (AP +2.5 mm, ML \pm 0.6 mm, DV -4.0mm from skull; 1 µl total; 0.5 µl per site using a 2 µl Hamilton syringe). Before infusion, the syringe was held in place for 5 min, and following infusion, held in place for 8 min. The virus was allowed to incubate for at least 6 weeks to permit expression in NAc core glutamate neuron terminals.

Training on Delay Discounting Task

Following 1 week recovery from virus surgery, rats were trained to press two distinct levers in which each response was reinforced on a continuous schedule of reinforcement. Reinforced responses resulted in the delivery of a sucrose pellet to a centrally located food cup. Animals were trained to a criterion of 50 presses on each response lever.

Next, rats were trained on the delay discounting task, which was comprised of three trial types (also described in Aims 1 & 2). On Forced Choice Delay trials (Figure 1A, left), a cue light was illuminated for 5 seconds followed by extension of two levers. A single press on the associated lever positioned below that cue light resulted in a large reward (three sucrose pellets) delivered after a period of delay. During Forced Choice Immediate trials (Figure 1B, middle), another 5-second cue light signaled that responses on the associated lever resulted in a small (one sucrose pellet) immediate reward. On Free Choice trials (Figure 1C, right), both cue lights illuminated for 5 seconds, signaling that both responses were rewarded based on the contingency of the lever chosen. Each behavioral session consisted of three blocks of trials: during the first

block, the large reward was presented immediately (no-delay block); in the subsequent block, the delay to large reward was 10 seconds following a lever press (short-delay block); while in the last block, there was a 20-second delay to obtain the large reward (long-delay block). Rats performed 30 trials per block (20 Forced Choice (10 of each type) and 10 Free Choice trials). If animals failed to respond within 10 s, both levers retracted and the trial was counted as an omission. Because each trial was a fixed duration (60 s), reward choice did not influence how quickly the rat completed the task (i.e., choosing the small reward did not lead to the next trial quicker).



Figure 4.1. Delay discounting task and behavior. **A.** Schematic of delay discounting task. **B.** Baseline percent delay choice (large reward chosen) in male and female rats. **C.** Baseline accuracy (percent correct responses) across all rats.

As demonstrated previously (Saddoris et al., 2015), cue- and reward-elicited core dopamine signaling scales preferentially during Forced Choice trials to the large, non-delayed reward on Block 1, and tapers off in Blocks 2 and 3. Since dopamine may function to modulate glutamate signaling in the NAc that in turn, influences behavioral output (Berridge and Robinson, 1998; Kapur, 2003; Berridge, 2007; Palmiter, 2007; Robbins and Everitt, 2007), I hypothesized that increasing glutamatergic signaling during cue presentation on Low Forced trials may influence how the predicted value of the reward is processed. Subsequently, this altered glutamate signal may then bias animals toward preferring the low value (delayed) option when given a choice.

To test this hypothesis, rats' (n = 8 experimental (n = 5 male, n = 3 female); n = 6 controls (n = 3 male, n = 3 female)) glutamate terminals were stimulated during the *cue* that predicted the lower value option, as described previously (Saddoris et al., 2015; also see Figure 2A and 4A). Here, optical stimulation of NAc core glutamate terminals was administered during the 5 s Low Forced *cues* that predicted the large but delayed reward option. As in previous studies (Saddoris et al., 2015), no stimulation was given during Free Choice trials, allowing these trials to act as a measure of choice preference independent of stimulation effects. Thus, any alterations to Free Choice behavior resulted from changes in either predicted (cue) or outcome (reward) value.

Rats underwent 4 total stimulation sessions (20 Hz, 5 ms pulsewidth, 20 mW), two during Block 3 (Long Delay) and two during Block 2 (Short Delay). On sessions between stimulation days, no light was delivered. Therefore, each animal was its own behavioral control during both stimulation and non-stimulation sessions. During the stimulation paradigm, rats were connected to patch cables containing an optical fiber (200 μ m core, 0.22 NA, ThorLabs). A ferrule connector at the end of the cable was secured to the rat's optical fiber implant with a ceramic sleeve (Precision Fiber Products). These were attached at the other end to an optical commutator (Doric Lenses), which allowed bilateral stimulation of NAc terminals and allowed the animal to move freely. The commutator was connected, via another patch cable, to a 150 mW DPSS 473 nm laser (OEM Laser Systems). Optical stimulation was controlled by a computer running Med PC IV software (Med Associates) that also recorded behavioral events.

Intracranial Self Stimulation: Immediately following completion of the delay discounting stimulation paradigm, rats were given access to food *ad libitum*. Then, rats were trained to lever press for optical stimulation of NAc core glutamatergic terminals. Here, a houselight illuminated the chamber and a cue light over the right lever indicated the active lever. Animals could lever press for a 5 s bilateral optical stimulation (20 Hz, 5 ms pulsewidth, 20 mW). During the 5 s stimulation period, the cue light extinguished and the lever retracted for 20 s. Animals underwent a total of three 30-minute self-stimulation sessions. Following the third session, animals underwent a single 75 min extinction session. Here, lever presses did not result in optical stimulation, and were recorded in 15 minute blocks. Optical self-stimulation was considered "extinguished" after either two 15 minute blocks of no responses or after 75 minutes. Immediately after reaching extinction criteria, animals received a single 5 s "priming" stimulation, signaling the opportunity to lever press for optical stimulation (20 Hz, 5 ms pulsewidth, 20 mW) for a 45 min reinstatement session.

Histology

1.5 h prior to sacrifice, rats underwent brief (1 min) optical stimulation of the PrL-NAc core pathway to induce the expression of c-fos in PrL cell bodies and NAc core terminals. Following sacrifice, brain slices were stained for c-fos using antibodies available in the Carelli laboratory (SC-52 (1:2000, Santa Cruz) and ABE457 (1:10,000, EMD Millipore)). Both of these

antibodies have been validated in our laboratory using transgenic FosLacZ rats that co-express beta galactosidase when Fos is elevated (>95% of Fos and beta galactosidase co-expression). To verify viral infusion targets and c-fos expression, the PrL and NAc core were imaged using a confocal microscope, in which both the virus EYFP tag and c-fos expression can be seen. Optical fiber placement in the NAc core was also verified. Rats with improper viral expression or misplaced optical fibers were excluded from the study.

Data Analysis

A Two-Way ANOVA was performed on Free Choice preference to determine sex differences in delay discounting choice behavior. Following this analysis, male and female rats were combined for the remainder of all analyses. Analysis of baseline behavior during the delay discounting task included examination of correct responses, number of errors, and free choice preference. To determine whether rats reliably acquired the task, we evaluated the number of errors and correct responses during Forced Choice trials. One-Way ANOVA were used to compare accuracy (percentage rewarded trials) and percentage errors during Forced Choice trials, as well as free choice preference.

To confirm that laser stimulation did not alter the ability to perform the task, the percentage of correct responses on forced trials was compared between groups and between stimulation and non-stimulation sessions using a Three-Way ANOVA. Further, to evaluate if stimulation of dopamine terminals during the delayed option on Forced Choice trials was sufficient to shift behavioral responding during Free Choice trials, we compared response allocation and response latency on Free Choice trials between stimulation and non-stimulation sessions and groups using a Three-Way ANOVA.

81

For optical self-stimulation tests, we evaluated behavioral responding across days using a two-way repeated measures ANOVA with Bonferroni's multiple comparison test to determine if there was a significant increase in lever press behavior in the experimental animals compared to controls.

All analyses were considered significant at α =0.05. Statistical and graphical analysis were performed using GraphPad Prism 6.0 for Windows (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA).

Results

Baseline Delay Discounting Behavior

We first compared male and female rats' baseline free choice preference to examine any sex differences in impulsive choice (i.e., choosing the large delay reward less) (Figure 1B). There was a significant effect of block ($F_{2,24} = 3.991$, p = 0.032), and a Bonferroni's post-hoc test indicated that all rats discounted the value of the large delay reward (p < 0.05). Importantly, there was no effect of sex on delay discounting ($F_{1,12} = 0.2655$, p = 0.6157) or a block x sex interaction ($F_{2,24} = 0.1874$, p = 0.8303). As such, male and female rats were combined for the remainder of analyses. All rats accurately discriminated the different reward values during the delay discounting task (Figure 1C). On Forced Choice Trials, rats' accuracy was dependent on the delay to reward receipt ($F_{2,26} = 5.982$, p = 0.0073), and made more errors in Block 3 compared to Block 1 (p < 0.05). During Free Choice trials, rats' preference for the large reward decreased as the delay to large reward receipt increased across blocks ($F_{2,26} = 4.447$, p = 0.0218).

Optical Stimulation of Terminal Glutamate during Forced Choice <u>Long</u> Delay Cues does not alter Free Choice Behavior

First, we stimulated NAc core glutamate terminals during Forced Choice Long Delay cues (Figure 2A). We examined if optical stimulation during these cues altered rats' accuracy across blocks, between genetic groups, and between stimulation sessions (Figure 2B, stimulation days; Figure 2C, non-stimulation days). There was a main effect of block ($F_{1.420, 17.04} = 10.908$, p = 0.002) and session ($F_{1,12} = 4.911$, p = 0.047). A Bonferroni post-hoc test on the block main effect revealed that all rats made more errors on Block 3 compared to Block 1 and 2 (p < 0.05), regardless of genetic group or stimulation session. There were no other significant main effects or interactions (F < 1.068, p > 0.05).



Figure 4.2. Schematic of Long Delay stimulation task design and accuracy on Forced Choice trials. **A.** Long Delay stimulation task schematic. Rats received optical stimulation during the 5 s cue that predicted the Forced Choice Long Delay cue. Free Choice trials were then used as a measure of choice bias, independent of stimulation. **B.** Accuracy (percent correct responses) between experimental (CAMK) and control rats during stimulation sessions. **C.** Accuracy (percent correct responses) between experimental (CAMK) and control rats during non-stimulation sessions.

We next examined choice selection on Free Choice trials across blocks, between genetic groups, and within stimulation sessions (Figure 3A). There was a main effect of block ($F_{1.384}$, $_{16.607} = 16.85$, p < 0.001), indicating that rats were able to discount the value of the large reward across blocks (p < 0.05). There was also a session x group interaction ($F_{1,12} = 5.779$, p = 0.049), however, further analysis revealed no effects of session or group (p > 0.05 for all analyses). There were no other significant main effects or interactions (F < 1.746, p > 0.05). As such, there was no effect of optical stimulation on Long Delay free choice preference.

We next examined if there was an effect of stimulation on Free Choice reaction time. For both delay and immediate choice, there was a significant effect of block (Delay: $F_{2,24} = 16.138$, p < 0.001; Immediate: $F_{2,24} = 7.696$, p = 0.004), indicating that reaction time increased across blocks (p < 0.05). There were no other significant main effects or interactions for response latency (Delay: F < 1.909; Immediate: F < 1.691; p > 0.05). As such, there was no significant effect of stimulation on Free Choice reaction time.



Figure 4.3. Free choice behavior and reaction time during Long Delay stimulation paradigm. **A.** Percent delay choice (large reward) chosen across blocks between experimental (CAMK) and control groups. Data from stimulation sessions shown. **B.** Reaction time for Free Choice delay selection between experimental (CAMK) and control groups on stimulation sessions. **C.** Reaction time for Free Choice immediate selection between experimental (CAMK) and control groups on stimulation sessions.

Optical Stimulation of Terminal Glutamate during Forced Choice <u>Short</u> Delay Cues does not alter Free Choice Behavior

Following the Long Delay stimulation paradigm, we then stimulated glutamate terminals during Forced Choice Short Delay cues (Figure 4A). As in the Long Delay experiment, we examined correct responses (accuracy) during Forced Choice trials across blocks, between genetic groups and between stimulation sessions (Figure 4B, stimulation sessions; Figure 4C, non-stimulation sessions). There was a main effect of block ($F_{2, 16} = 4.082$, p = 0.037), indicating that rats made more errors during Block 3 (p < 0.05). There were no other significant main effects or interactions (F < 2.407, p > 0.05).



Figure 4.4. Schematic of Short Delay stimulation task design and accuracy on Forced Choice trials. **A.** Short Delay stimulation task schematic. Rats received optical stimulation during the 5 s cue that predicted the Forced Choice Short Delay cue. Free Choice trials were then used as a measure of choice bias, independent of stimulation. **B.** Accuracy (percent correct responses) between experimental (CAMK) and control rats during stimulation sessions. **C.** Accuracy (percent correct responses) between experimental measure of choice structures between experimental (CAMK) and control rats during stimulation sessions.

We next examined Free Choice behavior across blocks, between groups, and within stimulation sessions (Figure 5A). We found a main effect of block ($F_{1.373, 9.614} = 14.495$, p = 0.001), such that all rats were able to discount the value of reward (p < 0.05). There were no other significant main effects or interactions (F < 3.661, p > 0.05).

We also examined reaction time during Free Choice behavior. During trials where rats chose the large, delayed reward, there was a block x session x group interaction ($F_{1.562, 12.498} = 8.427$, p = 0.007). However, within any block, there were no significant session or group effects or interactions (p > 0.05 for all analyses). There were no other significant main effects or interactions (Delay: F < 3.455; Immediate: F < 3.470; p > 0.05).



Figure 4.5. Free choice behavior and reaction time during Short Delay stimulation paradigm. **A.** Percent delay choice (large reward) chosen across blocks between experimental (CAMK) and control groups. Data from stimulation sessions shown. **B.** Reaction time for Free Choice delay selection between experimental (CAMK) and control groups on stimulation sessions. **C.** Reaction time for Free Choice immediate selection between experimental (CAMK) and control groups.

Optical self-stimulation of glutamatergic terminals in the NAc core

One week following the delay discounting paradigm, rats underwent 3 self-stimulation sessions in which they were allowed to lever press for 5 s optical stimulation in the NAc core, followed by an extinction and reinstatement session (Figure 6A). We found no difference between experimental and control animals ($F_{1,11} = 0.3546$, p = 0.5636) or any session x group interaction ($F_{8,96} = 0.3526$, p = 0.9423). There was a main effect of session ($F_{8,88} = 16.54$, p < 0.0001), indicating that all rats' self-stimulation responses decreased over sessions (p < 0.05). These results indicate that stimulation of glutamatergic terminals was not inherently rewarding.

Histology and verification of optogenetic technique using c-Fos quantification

Optical fiber tip locations within the NAc core are shown in Figure 7A. Further, there was significantly more c-Fos (a bio marker indicative of neuronal activation) present in PrL cell bodies in experimental compared to control rats ($t_{12} = 4.957$, p = 0.0003; Figure 7B). A

representative image of ChR2 and c-Fos co-expression in experimental and control animals is shown in Figure 7C.



Figure 4.6. Optical self-stimulation, extinction, and reinstatement. **A.** Lever press responses for 5 s optical stimulation (20 Hz, 5 ms pulsewidth, 20 mW) for all animals in both groups. Laser was active on days 1-3. Following the last day of self-stimulation, rats underwent an extinction session during which laser was off (E1-E5), followed by a reinstatement session (R) in which presses were reinforced again with optical stimulation.



Figure 4.7. Histology. **A.** Optical fiber tip placements in experimental animals. **B.** Quantification of c-Fos in PrL cell bodies. **C.** Left: Representative co-localization of c-Fos and ChR2-EYFP expression in PrL cell bodies in experimental (left) and control rats (right; eYFP only, no c-Fos present).

Discussion

The PrL sends glutamatergic projections to the NAc core (Krettek and Price 1977; Sesack et al., 1989; Basar et al., 2010; Pinto and Sesack 2000; Brog et al., 1993). This glutamate signaling may contribute to impulsive choice and delay discounting, as aberrant glutamate activity contributes to impulsivity disorders such as ADHD (Jensen et al., 2009; Miller, Pomerleau, Huettl, Gerhardt, & Glaser, 2014; Perlov et al., 2007). Further, delay discounting recruits both the PrL, as demonstrated in Aim 2, as well as the NAc core (Cardinal et al., 2001; Pothuizen et al. 2005; Bezzina et al. 2007, 2008; da Costa Araújo et al. 2009, 2010). However, it is unknown if PrL-NAc core glutamate signaling alone mediates aspects of delay discounting behavior.

The current study assessed if glutamate release during delay-predictive cues causally influences delay discounting behavior. Here, we used optogenetics in rats to manipulate NAc core glutamate release during Forced Delay cues of our delay discounting task. We examined Free Choice behavior in the absence of stimulation to test if elevation of glutamate was sufficient to increase selection of the delayed (i.e., less impulsive) option. We found that optical stimulation during either Forced Long Delay or Forced Short Delay cues was not sufficient to bias subsequent rats' preference toward these delayed reward options when given a choice in the absence of stimulation. These findings indicate that glutamate signaling by itself in the NAc core is not causally linked to value-based predictive strategies in delay discounting.

As stated in Aim 1, the NAc core is strongly linked to delay discounting behavior. Lesions to the NAc core alter delay discounting behavior, such that rats increase preference for small, immediate rewards (i.e., increase impulsive choice) (Cardinal and Howes 2005; Cardinal et al., 2003; Cardinal et al., 2001; Bezzina et al., 2007; Galtress and Kirkpatrick, 2010; Pothuizen et al., 2005). Also, NAc core lesions impair learning of instrumental responses to delayed reinforcement (Cardinal and Cheung 2005) and diminish sensitivity to changes in delay (Acheson et al., 2006). Notably, this literature is largely focused on *dopamine* release in the NAc core, which functions as a "neural currency" that tracks changes in reward value (Saddoris et al., 2015b). However, the role of glutamate is less understood.

In the NAc core, both dopamine and glutamate afferents synapse onto medium spiny neurons (Sesack and Pickel 1990). Specifically, dopamine synapses connect to dendritic spines beneath glutamatergic synapses. Dopamine functions as a neuromodulator of glutamatergic signals in the NAc (Chuhma et al., 2004; Grace et al., 2007; Schultz, 2007; Surmeier et al., 2007). However, glutamate can also modulate NAc dopamine release (Chesselet, 1984; Surmeier et al., 2007). Notably, dopamine inhibits glutamate neurotransmission via D1 and D2 receptors (Pennartz et al., 1992; Nicola et al., 1996; Harvey and Lacey, 1997; Li and Kauer, 2004; Ortinski et al., 2012, O'Donnell and Grace, 1994; Brady and O'Donnell, 2004), and this inhibition is caused by both endogenous dopamine (Harvey and Lacey, 1996; Brady and O'Donnell, 2004) and drugs of abuse (Nicola et al., 1996; Li and Kauer, 2004; Wang et al., 2012). This dopaminergic modulation of glutamatergic signaling may contribute to motivational behaviors and the processing of salient environmental stimuli (Berridge and Robinson, 1998; Kapur, 2003; Berridge, 2007; Palmiter, 2007; Robbins and Everitt, 2007).

In Aim 1, dopamine release itself in the NAc core was not sufficient to mediate delay discounting. Here, we find that glutamate only is also unable to casually influence delay discounting. These experiments suggest that manipulation of one particular circuit (the dopaminergic VTA-NAc core path or the glutamatergic PrL-NAc core path) is not sufficient to alter this complex behavior. The NAc core receives glutamatergic inputs from numerous brain

91

regions, including the hippocampus (Kelley et al., 1982; Groenewegen et al., 1987; Brog et al., 1993), amygdala (Stuber et al., 2011), basolateral amygdala (Kelley et al., 1982; McDonald, 1991; Brog et al., 1993) and ventral subiculum, in which glutamatergic afferents modulate NAc dopamine activity (Blaha et al., 1997; Taepavarapruk et al., 2000). Further, goal-directed behaviors and reward-predictive strategies likely rely on a synthesis of dopamine, glutamate, and other neurotransmitter activity from a range of inputs. As such, the "single-pathway" optogenetic approach utilized in the current aim may not be appropriate to examine how neurotransmission mediates delay discounting behavior.

It is important to note that the lack of choice bias was not due to failure of the optogenetics technique. One week following the delay discounting stimulation task, rats underwent three 30-minute sessions in which they could self-administer optical stimulation. The last session was followed by an extinction session, in which lever presses did not result in stimulation. Afterward, a reinstatement session allowed rats to resume pressing for optical stimulation. Notably, optical stimulation of glutamatergic terminals was not sufficient to drive this goal-directed behavior. These findings replicate those of Britt et al. (2012), which found similar results in mice. However, our optical technique was verified by measuring poststimulation levels of c-Fos. c-Fos is a proto oncogene which is elevated following neuronal activity (Herrera and Robinson 1996). One and a half hours prior to sacrifice, brief (1 min) optical stimulation was applied to NAc core glutamate terminals to activate c-Fos. In rats expressing ChR2 (i.e., experimental animals), there were elevated levels of c-Fos in PrL cell bodies compared to those of controls. This finding indicates that optical stimulation of ChR2containing NAc core glutamate terminals was sufficient to activate these PrL-NAc core projecting neurons.
In conclusion, the data presented in this aim indicate that optical stimulation of glutamate release in the NAc core during delay-predictive cues was not sufficient to bias delay discounting choice behavior toward the less impulsive option. Previously, NAc core dopamine release dynamically tracked the preferred cue during our delay discounting task (Saddoris et al., 2015b). However, Aim 1 indicated that dopamine release is not causally linked to delay discounting. Adding to these findings, the current aim indicates that glutamate release in the NAc core is *also* not causally linked to delay discounting as well. Thus, the role of glutamate in delay discounting behavior remains an important topic for further investigation.

CHAPTER 5

GENERAL DISCUSSION

The studies outlined in this dissertation were designed to investigate the neurobiology of delay discounting, with a specific focus on the nucleus accumbens (NAc) core subregion and its afferents. Chapter 2 used optogenetics to stimulate dopamine terminals in the NAc core during Forced Choice delay-predictive cues of our delay discounting task, to elevate the perceived value and bias Free Choice behavior toward the delayed (less impulsive) option. However, there was no effect of optical stimulation of NAc core dopamine on choice behavior. As such, Chapter 2 demonstrated that the dopaminergic input from the VTA to the NAc core is not causally linked to delay discounting behavior. Chapter 3 shifted focus to the prelimbic cortex (PrL), a glutamatergic afferent to the NAc core. This experiment examined neuronal activity in the PrL during elements of our delay discounting task (cue, press, and reward delivery). Here, the data revealed that distinct, event-selective neuronal populations encode rats' preferred Free Choice selection during delay discounting. Interestingly, this tracking of preferred choice is contingent on rats' inherent impulsivity. As such, Chapter 3 revealed an essential role of the PrL in delay discounting behavior, and unique neural encoding during this task related to impulsivity. Chapter 4 sought to expand these findings by optically stimulating PrL glutamatergic terminals in the NAc core during delay-predictive cues. Like in Chapter 2, we sought to shift Free Choice behavior toward the less-impulsive, delayed choice. However, this study also found no effect of optical stimulation on choice behavior, and as such, no causal link between glutamate release and delay discounting. A summary of each experiment is listed below.

Summary of Experiments

Examination of causal links between NAc core dopamine release and delay discounting behavior

This study examined if dopamine release is causally linked (i.e., mediates) delay discounting choice behavior. Transgenic $TH:Cre^{+/-}$ rats and their littermate controls received optical stimulation of VTA-NAc core dopamine terminals during the 5 s Forced Choice cues that predicted the Long (20s) and Short (10s) Delays during our task. Free Choice behavior was then examined in the absence of stimulation to determine if this elevation in dopamine was sufficient to bias rats' choice behavior toward the delayed (less impulsive) option. However, optical stimulation had no effect on rats' behavior, indicating that, in this task, dopamine release was not sufficient to mediate delay discounting. Optogenetic technique was verified via an optical selfstimulation paradigm, in which rats could lever-press for stimulation of dopamine release, followed by an extinction and reinstatement session. Transgenic rats reliably self-stimulated dopamine terminals, and extinguished and reinstated this behavior, compared to controls. As such, dopamine release was sufficient to drive goal-directed behavior, but not delay discounting. The overall findings of this chapter are surprising, as NAc core dopamine preferentially tracks the "preferred" value of delay discounting cues (Saddoris et al., 2015b). It likely that, in addition to dopaminergic signaling, other circuits or neurotransmitters interact with the VTA-NAc core pathway to influence delay discounting choice behavior.

Neurons in the PrL encode preferred options during delay discounting behavior and are uniquely influenced by impulsivity

This study used *in-vivo* electrophysiology to examine neuronal activity in the PrL during our delay discounting task. PrL neurons responded phasically to cue presentations, lever presses, and reward delivery during the task. Further, in Free Choice trials, we found that distinct neuronal populations exhibited selective phasic activity to either the large/delay, small/immediate, or both reward options. These selective phasic neurons tracked preferred reward value in each block, such that the proportion of these neurons shifted from greater large/delay selective in Block 1, to more small/immediate selective in Block 3. Importantly, this tracking neural signaling occurred during Free Choice cue presentation, lever press, and reward delivery, indicating that PrL neurons track the predicted and eventual reward outcome. Additionally, we divided rats into high and low impulsive groups, and discovered that these selective neuron populations differentially tracked preferred Free Choice rewards based on inherent impulsivity. High impulsive rats demonstrated a steeper shift in the proportion of small/immediate selective neurons compared to low impulsive rats. Notably, these findings were only significant during Free Choice trials, where the rat was presented with a choice between two options that shifted in value across blocks. These findings indicate that neuron subgroups in the PrL track preferred reward value during delay discounting, and this neuronal encoding is dependent on individual impulsivity.

Examination of causal links between the PrL-NAc core circuit and delay discounting behavior

Experiment 3 (Chapter 4) used the same optogenetics task as in Chapter 2 to examine if *glutamate* signaling in the PrL-NAc core pathway is causally linked to delay discounting. Optical

stimulation of NAc core glutamate terminals occurred during Force Choice Delay cues (Long and Short Delay). Free Choice behavior was examined in the absence of stimulation to assess if glutamatergic signaling was sufficient to bias rats' choice toward the less impulsive (delayed) option. However, as in Chapter 2, glutamatergic elevation was not sufficient to bias choice behavior, indicating no causal role in delay discounting. Further, while rats did not self-stimulate for glutamate release (consistent with Britt et al., 2012), the optogenetic technique was verified by the presence of c-Fos in PrL cell bodies in experimental (ChR2) rats, indicating that these neurons were activated (i.e., released glutamate) during the task. These findings indicate that while the PrL tracks and encodes information related to "preferred" reward value in delay discounting (as seen in Chapter 3), its glutamatergic input to the NAc core alone isn't sufficient to drive this behavior. Further, taken together with Chapter 2, optical manipulation of single pathways (VTA-NAc DA pathway or PrL-NAc core glutamatergic circuit) may not be sufficient to drive complex goal-directed and motivated behavior.

General discussion and relevance of findings

Aberrant delay discounting and neural circuitry in drug addiction

Heightened delay discounting (greater impulsive choice) is a symptom of drug addiction, such that addicts have a lower "breakpoint" at which they switch to the small, immediate option and over-value more immediate actions and rewards. Interestingly, delay discounting and drug addiction share a bidirectional relationship. Heightened delay discounting (more impulsive choice) is observed in those suffering from substance abuse (Bickel et al., 1999; Evenden 1999; Heyman 1996; Poulos et al., 1995; Bechara 2005; Ernst and Paulus 2005; Hoffman et al., 2008; Coffey et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2015). Drug addicts demonstrate heightened preference for

immediate over delayed rewards (Madden et al., 1997; Bickel et al., 1999; Kirby et al., 1999; Bickel and Marsch, 2001; Heil et al., 2006). However, inherently high impulsivity may also *predict* future drug use (Jentsch and Taylor, 1999; Winstanley et al, 2010). For example, in preclinical models, high impulsive action and heightened discounting predicts drug selfadministration (Belin et al, 2008; Dalley et al, 2007, Anker et al., 2009). Further, high impulsive animals were more likely to exhibit drug seeking during extinction and reinstate these behaviors when given access to drug again (Diergaarde et al, 2008; Perry et al, 2008; Economidou et al, 2009). In humans, impulsivity in childhood predicts drug use, including stimulant abuse, later in life (Ersche et al, 2010, Nigg et al, 2006; Tarter et al, 2003; Wong et al, 2010). As such, understanding the neural underpinnings of delay discounting may identify impulsive individuals at risk for psychiatric disorders, or may improve treatments for diseases such as drug addiction by minimizing impulsive actions directly toward continued drug use.

Notably, drug addiction recruits the NAc and associated regions, the same learning/reward-seeking circuits that are activated during delay discounting. Indeed, drug-associated stimuli and self-administration activate NAc neurons and alter DA dynamics within this region (Carelli and Deadwyler, 1994; Peoples et al., 1997; Carelli et al., 1999; Carelli et al., 2000; Nicola and Deadwyler, 2000; Peoples et al., 2004; Hollander and Carelli, 2007). Most drugs of abuse increase DA levels in the NAc (Phillips et al., 2003b; Aragona et al., 2009; Di Chiara and Imperato, 1988; Cheer et al., 2007b). Further, stimulation of midbrain dopamine neurons is also sufficient to promote drug seeking (Phillips et al., 2003). The role of NAc glutamate is less understood, although drug-elicited elevation of DA may also potentiate its glutamatergic synapses (Wolf and Ferrario, 2010; Dobi et al., 2011; Luscher and Malenka, 2011; Pascoli et al., 2012; Wolf and Tseng, 2012). Because the NAc is responsible for encoding cue-

outcome associations and promoting the learning of motivational behaviors, it is believed that drugs of abuse "hijack" this system to promote the seeking and taking of more drug.

Like the NAc, the PrL (and its human homologue, the dlPFC), is another brain region implicated in drug addiction. Drug addiction is thought to produce a "hypofrontality" effect in prefrontal regions, caused by a decrease in cerebral blood flow, diminished neural transmission, and alterations to PFC neurons (Goldstein and Volkow 2002; Sun and Rebec 2006; Lidow and Song 2001). Further, drug addicts demonstrate altered dlPFC function reflective of increased impulsive behavior (Hoffman et al., 2008; Monterosso et al., 2007; Boettiger et al., 2007). Following abstinence from cocaine, neurons in the PrL exhibit enhanced encoding of cocaineassociated stimuli compared to saline controls (West et al., 2014). Further, lesions to the PrL reduced drug seeking (Di Pietro et al., 2006), and inhibition of this region blocked cocaine reinstatement (Capriles et al., 2003; Di Pietro et al., 2006; McFarland and Kalivas, 2001). Conversely, activation of the PrL-NAc core pathway increased cocaine reinstatement behavior (McGlinchey et al., 2016). Taken together, both the PrL and NAc are implicated in the maintenance of drug addiction. Further, aberrant delay discounting is both a predictor and symptom of drug abuse, and recruits both these brain regions. As such, studying the neurobiology of the PrL and NAc during delay discounting may lead to the development of preventative or palliative treatments for addiction.

PrL physiology and impulsivity: a predictor of drug abuse?

As discussed above, impulsivity may predict future drug abuse, and the PrL is implicated in delay discounting and drug addiction. Further, the results of Chapter 3 suggest that individuals' PrL physiology may differ depending on inherent impulsivity. Here, high versus low impulsive individuals differed in how PrL neuron populations encode predicted reward value and eventual outcome. Specifically, high impulsive rats showed a greater percentage of neurons that preferentially encoded the small, immediate option when they had a choice between that and the delayed option, compared to low impulsive rats. Further, this shift in neuronal proportions occurred during Free Choice cue presentations, when the rats were *deciding* which reward they wanted to choose. High impulsive rats also differed in the number of small, immediate selective neurons during reward delivery in the long delay block, indicating that the PrL of high impulsive individuals may also track preference for the *receipt* of an immediate reward compared to a very delayed reward.

These findings suggest that individual differences in PrL neuron activity may predict or indicate future impulsive choice, and as such, may provide insight into one's future risk for drug addiction. Specifically, the greater proportion of small/immediate selective neurons in high impulsive rats could indicate a lack of prefrontal top-down control over behavior. That is, these small/immediate neurons may be promoting the selection of the immediate over delayed option when given a choice between the two options. This finding adds to a growing body of literature identifying biomarkers of future drug abuse, though these studies largely focused on dopamine receptors. The level of dopamine autoreceptors in the VTA were correlated with trait impulsivity (Buckholtz et al., 2010), and D2 receptor availability predicted both impulsivity and drug abuse (Jentsch and Pennington 2014; Volkow et al., 2002). Specifically, in the PrL, the number of D2 receptors was correlated with greater preference for the large/delay reward (Simon et al., 2013), and activation of these receptors impairs rats' ability to shift reward preference during delay discounting (St. Onge et al., 2011). The current findings suggest that PrL neural activity could serve as a biomarker for heightened impulsivity. Here, neuronal activity in the PrL reflected rats'

impulsivity toward preferred reward outcomes. High impulsive rats (e.g., a steeper shift toward the small/immediate option) also showed a greater shift in the proportion of small/immediate neurons across blocks compared to low impulsive rats. Notably, this shift occurred in cue- *and* reward-activated neurons, indicating that the PrL of high impulsive individuals may differentially or aberrantly encode the preferred value of predicted and eventual rewards.

Interactions between dopamine and glutamate in the NAc

The two optogenetic studies presented in Chapters 2 and 4 examined a potential causal role of dopamine and glutamate neurotransmission in the NAc core in delay discounting. In both studies, NAc core dopamine or glutamate terminals were optically stimulated during cues that predicted a long delay or short delayed option. Notably, as delay to reward increases, rats will begin to shift their choice preference toward the smaller, immediate (i.e., more impulsive) option. Because neurotransmission in the NAc encodes cue-outcome associations during decision making (Day et al., 2010; Sugam et al., 2012; Sackett et al., 2017; Saddoris et al., 2015b), we hypothesized that transient elevation of either dopamine or glutamate during delaypredictive cues would increase the perceived value of the subsequent delayed reward. As such, we theorized that this artificial shift in value would be sufficient to shift animals' choice behavior during Free Choice trials toward the delayed (i.e., less impulsive) option, rather than the small, immediate option. Previously, stimulation of NAc core dopamine terminals during cue presentation was sufficient to bias delay, but not magnitude, decision making (Saddoris et al., 2015b). Further, elevation of dopamine during reward delivery during a magnitude discounting task was sufficient to bias choice behavior (Schlep et al., 2017). To date, no studies have examined how glutamate release mediates decision making behavior. However, in the current

study, elevation of neither dopamine nor glutamate alone was sufficient to mediate delay discounting choice behavior.

One issue with this approach is that we manipulated dopamine and glutamate release independently of each other during our task. In-vivo, dopamine and glutamate share complex interactions within the NAc core to drive goal-directed and motivated behavior. Both dopamine and glutamate afferents synapse onto medium spiny neurons in the NAc (Sesack and Pickel 1990). Importantly, dopamine modulates glutamatergic signals in the NAc (Chuhma et al., 2004; Grace et al., 2007; Schultz, 2007; Surmeier et al., 2007) by inhibiting glutamate neurotransmission via D1 and D2 receptors (Pennartz et al., 1992; Nicola et al., 1996; Harvey and Lacey, 1997; Li and Kauer, 2004; Ortinski et al., 2012, O'Donnell and Grace, 1994; Brady and O'Donnell, 2004). Both endogenous dopamine (Harvey and Lacey, 1996; Brady and O'Donnell, 2004) and drugs of abuse (Nicola et al., 1996; Li and Kauer, 2004; Wang et al., 2012) are sufficient to drive inhibition of glutamate. This modulation may contribute to motivational behaviors and the processing of salient environmental stimuli (Berridge and Robinson, 1998; Kapur, 2003; Berridge, 2007; Palmiter, 2007; Robbins and Everitt, 2007). Conversely, glutamate activity also modulates NAc dopamine release (Chesselet, 1984; Surmeier et al., 2007). Ex-vivo application of glutamate (Bowyer et al., 1991; Clow and Jhamandas 1989; Jhamandas and Marien 1987; Roberts and Anderson 1979; Roberts and Sharif 1978) and NMDA (Jones et al., 1987; Marien et al., 1983) increased striatal dopamine release, as did in-vivo application of NMDA (Carrozza et al., 1992; Keefe et al., 1992; Martinez-Fong et al., 1992; Taber et al., 1996). However, other studies suggest dopamine release is *inhibited* via activation of striatal iGlu receptors or low concentrations of NMDA (Iravani and Kruk 1996; Morari et al., 1996; Taber et al., 1996; Wu et al., 2000). It is generally thought that NMDA receptors interact with D1

receptors to produce excitatory control over striatal neurons (Cepeda and Levine 1998; Cepeda et al., 1998; Harvey and Lacey 1997; Scott et al., 2002), whereas the interaction of NMDA and D2 receptors produces inhibitory control (Zheng et al., 1999; Kotecha et al., 2002; Marti et al., 2002). Taking this complex interaction into account, it is likely that stimulation of *only* dopamine or glutamatergic pathways in Chapters 2 and 4 was not sufficient to shift rats' behavior.

Another explanation for these results may stem from the interaction of neurotransmitter release dynamics and the amount of training rats received. Indeed, by the time optical stimulation was applied, rats were extremely well-trained on the delay discounting task. As such, manipulation of neurotransmission during this well-learned task may not have been sufficient to shift behavior. Rather, it may be that new learning of cue-outcome associations is more susceptible to change via dopaminergic manipulation. Indeed, well-learned stimuli elicited dopamine release in the dorsal striatum, a region associated with habitual learning, whereas stimuli during early learning elicited dopamine release in the NAc (Yin and Knowlton 2006; Willuhn et al., 2012). Thus, while NAc core dopamine signaling tracked reward value during a well-learned delay discounting task (Saddoris et al., 2015b), optical manipulation of dopamine or glutamate during learned cue-outcome associations was not able to influence this trained behavior. Notably, delay discounting also recruits the dorsal striatum, as lesions to this area increased impulsive choice (heightened discounting) (Tedford et al., 2015). As such, future directions may consider stimulating dorsal striatum dopamine terminals during delay-predictive cues, as manipulation of dopamine signaling in this region may be sufficient to modulate the "learned" cue-outcome associations.

The neural circuitry of delay discounting

The above discussion focused on the glutamatergic and dopaminergic afferents to the NAc. However, there is likely a larger explanation for why the optogenetic manipulations in Chapters 2 and 4 did not mediate delay discounting. Delay discounting is a complex behavior in which the value of a reward changes subjectively as the task progresses. Further, this shift in preferred reward value is dependent on individual differences in subjectivity, impulsivity, and neurobiology. Individuals need to update selection strategies as the rules change in each block, and must weigh the subjective value of rewards. As such, it has been proposed that delay discounting recruits at least three neural circuits that process and encode changes in rules, reward values, and preferred choices (Peters and Buchel 2011).

First, delay discounting recruits "cognitive control" brain regions, including the prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Peters and Buchel 2010, Prevost et al., 2010). The medial PFC exerts top down control over impulse control (Peters and Buchel 2011) and helps to encode the subjective value of reward in delay discounting (Sripada et al., 2011; Peters and Buchel 2010). Disruption of the lateral PFC increased preference for the small, immediate reward over a large, delayed option (Figner et al., 2010). The dorsolateral PFC is also recruited (McClure et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2008; Civai et al., 2016; Ballard and Knutson 2009). As demonstrated in Chapter 2, the rat homologue of the dlPFC, the PrL, tracks the preferred reward value across blocks, and this tracking is dependent on individuals' inherent impulsivity.

Second, delay discounting relies upon memory and "prospection" regions such as the hippocampus and amygdala (Peters and Buchel 2011). The hippocampus allows individuals to evaluate the future value of rewards (Johnson and Redish, 2007; Johnson et al., 2007). Lesions to the hippocampus impair the ability to discriminate magnitude in delay discounting (Bett et al.,

2015; Peters and Buchel, 2010), and increases discounting in rats (Cheung and Cardinal, 2005; Mariano et al., 2009; Rawlins et al., 1985). However, activation of the hippocampus may encourage the selection of the small, immediate reward (Cheung and Cardinal, 2005; Mariano et al., 2009; McHugh et al., 2008). The amygdala is also implicated in delay discounting, as activation in this region is correlated with the difference in subjective value of reward (Sripada et al., 2011; Peters and Buchel 2010). Further, in impulsive individuals, activity in the amygdala was higher during the receipt of immediate versus delayed reward (Ludwig et al., 2015).

Lastly, the mesolimbic reward ("valuation") system tracks the changes in subjective reward value as the delay to receipt increases (Peters and Buchel 2011). The striatum is activated when choosing an immediate over delayed reward (McClure et al. 2004), and the magnitude of this activation predicts impulsive choice during delay discounting (Hariri et al. 2006). As discussed above, the NAc and its dopaminergic input from the VTA is implicated in delay discounting (Saddoris et al., 2015b; Cardinal et al., 2001; McClure et al., 2007; Peters and Buchel 2009; Cardinal et al., 2001; Galtress and Kirkpatrick 2010; Roesch et al., 2007). The basolateral amygdala (BLA) is another brain region in the reward system that is recruited during delay discounting. Disruptions of the basolateral amygdala increase impulsive choice (Winstanley et al., 2004; Cardinal et al., 2004; Churchwell et al., 2009). BLA neurons have also been shown to differentiate between delayed versus immediate rewards (Roesch et al., 2010; Roesch et al., 2012; Schoenbaum et al., 1998).

In the studies presented in Chapters 2 and 4 of this dissertation, we optically stimulated terminals in the NAc from single circuits – either the VTA-NAc core or PrL-NAc core. However, stimulation of these individual circuits was not sufficient to mediate a complex behavior like delay discounting. Indeed, the NAc receives numerous inputs from the

aforementioned executive, memory, and reward structures (Zahm and Brog, 1992; Wright and Groenewegen, 1996), and integrates this influx of information to produce motivated behavior and representations of preferred reward value. As such, it may be necessary to take a global, holistic approach to understanding the neurobiology of delay discounting, rather than manipulating single pathways.



Figure 5.1. Simplified schematic of delay discounting neurobiology. Green arrows denote glutamate projections, and blue arrows denote dopamine projections. This schematic is not representative of precise anatomical location or degree of projections.

To date, few studies have examined the interactions between these brain regions during delay discounting. Existing fMRI studies have largely examined the role of frontal regions, perhaps due to the difficulty of measuring subcortical structures in human subjects. Decreased integrity in fronto-striatal circuitry is associated with steeper discounting and less self-control (Diekhof and Gruber 2010; Peper et al., 2013). Further, neural activity during delay discounting, specifically during periods of self-control, was correlated between dorsolateral and ventromedial prefrontal regions (Hare et al., 2009). Greater discounting was also associated with increased connectivity between the anterior cingulate and hippocampus (Peters and Buchel 2010). Further

exploration of fronto-striatal-hippocampal interaction is necessary to fully understand the neural mechanisms of delay discounting.

Future directions

The three experiments described above were designed to examine the neural underpinnings of delay discounting. However, further experiments are necessary to expand upon these findings and determine the precise neurobiology of this behavior. Indeed, while Chapter 3 demonstrated that the PrL is a promising region to examine the neurobiology of delay discounting, Chapters 2 and 4 revealed further questions and issues about the neural pathways that mediate delay discounting. A brief discussion is presented below to address future experiments that may clarify the neurobiology of delay discounting.

Effect of chronic cocaine on PrL encoding of delay discounting behavior

Chapter 3 suggests that neuronal activity in the PrL tracks and encodes delay discounting behavior. Further, this encoding is dependent on inherent impulsivity. Previously, our lab demonstrated that cocaine did not alter either choice behavior or dopamine activity in the NAc core during delay discounting (Moschak and Carelli 2017). However, cocaine did alter how PrL neurons encoded drug-related stimuli and seeking behavior (West et al., 2014). Still, it remains unknown how a history of cocaine self-administration affects how PrL neurons encode delay discounting this, two groups of rats could be fitted with intrajugular catheters and microelectrode arrays implanted bilaterally into the PrL. Rats could then be trained on the delay discounting task, and their baseline impulsivity and behavioral responses could be recorded. After task acquisition, one group of rats could be trained to self-administer cocaine for

14 days, while the other group could be saline-yoked controls trained to respond to water. Following completion of self-administration, rats could then be retrained on the delay discounting task. Changes in behavioral selection and impulsive choice could be recorded. Further, PrL neuron activity could be examined to determine if cocaine alters this brain region's ability to track and encode delay discounting behavior. Specifically, we could examine if cocaine alters the "shift" in selective neuron populations that we observe in Chapter 3. Further, we could determine if cocaine differentially alters how the PrL in high versus low impulsive rats encode delay discounting. However, we may not observe behavioral effects of cocaine on delay discounting behavior. While some studies have shown effects of cocaine on delay discounting (Roesch et al., 2007; Simon et al., 2007; Anker et al., 2009b; Mendez et al., 2010; Mitchell et al., 2014), others demonstrate no effect (Moschak and Carelli 2017; Broos et al., 2012), indicating a complex interaction between cocaine and this behavior. However, if we see no behavioral effect of cocaine, but do see changes in PrL neural activity, it may indicate that cocaine-induced alterations to PrL neurons are not sufficient to mediate delay discounting. This may shed light on the functional output of hypofrontality, the dampening of frontal regions during addiction. Alternatively, we could conduct further experiments that separate the delay discounting task into two separate delay and magnitude tasks. Here, we could examine how cocaine alters behavior and PrL firing during subjective versus objective decision making tasks.

Causal role of glutamate signaling in subjective versus objective decision-making tasks

Chapter 4 suggests that glutamate signaling in the PrL-NAc core path does not mediate delay discounting. However, this task combined two aspects of value-based decision making: subjective (delay) and objective (reward magnitude) components. Previously, our lab

demonstrated that optical stimulation of NAc dopamine terminals during delay, but not magnitude, decision making was sufficient to shift choice behavior toward the unpreferred option (Saddoris et al., 2015b). These results indicated that dopamine release in the NAc is causally linked to subjective, but not objective, decision making. However, the role of glutamate in these types of value-based decision making has not been examined. To determine if glutamate signaling in the NAc mediates subjective versus objective aspects of value-based decision making, rats could be trained on a delay or magnitude decision making task similar to that described previously (Day et al., 2010; Sackett et al., 2017; Saddoris et al., 2015b). We could then stimulate glutamate terminals in the NAc during cues that predict the delayed reward, or cues that predict the low magnitude reward, and examine rats' behavior during Free Choice trials, to determine if glutamate plays a causal role in subjective versus objective decision making.

Global examination of brain regions during delay discounting

A major takeaway from Chapters 2 and 4 is that optical manipulation of one neural pathway (i.e., VTA-NAc core, PrL-NAc core) is not sufficient to drive a complex goal-directed behavior like delay discounting. Indeed, delay discounting recruits a number of brain regions that share complex interactions. As such, a series of experiments could be conducted to examine coherence and communication between brain regions during delay discounting. Multineuron recording electrode arrays could be implanted in two brain regions, and the relationship between each regions' cellular activity could be analyzed during discrete elements of the task. First, we could extend the findings of Chapter 3 and examine the relationship between PrL and NAc core cell firing during delay discounting. The basolateral amygdala (BLA) is another prime candidate

to further examine during delay discounting, as disruption of the BLA and its connection to the mPFC heightens discounting (Churchwell et al., 2009; Ghods-Sharifi et al., 2009), and BLA neurons can differentiate between delayed versus immediate rewards (Roesch et al., 2010; Roesch et al., 2012; Schoenbaum et al., 1998). As such, we may be able to discover a relationship between BLA and NAc cell firing during the task. The coherence between regions may be further dependent on rats' impulsivity levels, as seen in Chapter 3, indicating a global neural effect of inherent impulsivity. Further, we could compare the neural activity between pathways to determine if the magnitude or patterns of neural activity differs across circuits.

Concluding remarks

Delay discounting occurs when the value of a large reward diminishes as the delay to its receipt increases. As such, delay discounting is a measure of impulsivity, as it measures the "breakpoint" when individuals shift preference toward a more immediate, yet smaller option. Delay discounting recruits the NAc core, which receives dopaminergic input from the VTA and glutamatergic tone from the PrL. The experiments detailed above examined how dopaminergic and glutamatergic signaling in the NAc core mediates delay discounting behavior, as well as how the PrL, an afferent to the NAc core, encodes aspects of our delay discounting task. The data presented here suggest that the PrL contributes to the encoding and tracking of "preferred" choices in delay discounting behavior, such that distinct neuronal populations preferentially and selectively track preferred choice as reward value changes. Further, in more impulsive animals, the PrL preferentially encoded the smaller, immediate choice compared to less impulsive animals. These results indicated a discrepancy in how this brain region encodes delay discounting depending on inherent impulsivity. However, the optogenetic studies described

above found no causal relationship between either dopamine or glutamate release in the NAc core and delay discounting. These findings may indicate that a larger neural circuit, incorporating executive, memory, and reward systems, is globally responsible for driving delay discounting behavior. Heightened delay discounting is a symptom of drug addiction, as addicts over-value the immediate, impulsive option. As such, understanding the neurobiology of delay discounting behavior is essential for developing therapeutics that could prevent and treat drug addiction and other aberrant disease states.

REFERENCES

- Acheson A, Farrar AM, Patak M, Hausknecht KA, Kieres AK, Choi S, de Wit H, Richards JB (2006) Nucleus accumbens lesions decrease sensitivity to rapid changes in the delay to reinforcement. Behavioural Brain Research 173:217-228.
- Adriani W, Boyer F, Gioiosa L, Macri S, Dreyer JL, Laviola G (2009) Increased impulsive behavior and risk proneness following lentivirus-mediated dopamine transporter overexpression in rats' nucleus accumbens. Neuroscience 159(1): 47-58.
- Alexander GE, DeLong MR, Strick PL (1986) Parallel organization of functionally segregated circuits linking basal ganglia and cortex. Annual Review of Neuroscience 9(1): 357-381.
- Amlung M, Petker T, Jackson J, Balodis I, MacKillop J (2016) Steep discounting of delayed monetary and food rewards in obesity: a meta-analysis. Psychological Medicine 46(11): 2423-2434.
- Anker JJ, Perry JL, Gliddon LA, Carroll ME (2009) Impulsivity predicts the escalation of cocaine self-administration in rats. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 93(3): 343-348.
- Anker JJ, Perry JL, Gliddon LA, Carroll ME (2009) Impulsivity predicts the escalation of cocaine self-administration in rats. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 93(3):343-8.
- Aragona BJ, Day JJ, Roitman MF, Cleaveland NA, Mark Wightman R, Carelli RM (2009) Regional specificity in the real-time development of phasic dopamine transmission patterns during acquisition of a cue–cocaine association in rats. European Journal of Neuroscience 30(10):1889-99.
- Aravanis AM, Wang L-P, Zhang F, Meltzer LA, Mogri MZ, Schneider MB, Deisseroth K (2007) An optical neural interface: in vivo control of rodent motor cortex with integrated fiberoptic and optogenetic technology. Journal of Neural Engineering 4: S143.
- Aron AR., Robbins TW, and Poldrack RA (2004) Inhibition and the right inferior frontal cortex. Trends in Cognitive Sciences 8(4): 170-177.
- Aston-Jones G, Cohen JD (2005) An integrative theory of locus coeruleus-norepinephrine function: adaptive gain and optimal performance. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 28:403-50.

- Ballard IC, Murty VP, Carter RM, MacInnes JJ, Huettel SA, Adcock RA (2011) Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex drives mesolimbic dopaminergic regions to initiate motivated behavior. Journal of Neuroscience 31(28):10340-6.
- Ballard K, Knutson B (2009) Dissociable neural representations of future reward magnitude and delay during temporal discounting. Neuroimage 45(1):143-50.
- Balleine BW and O'Doherty JP (2010). Human and rodent homologies in action control: corticostriatal determinants of goal-directed and habitual action. Neuropsychopharmacology 35(1): 48-69.
- Balleine BW, Dickinson A (1998) Goal-directed instrumental action: contingency and incentive learning and their cortical substrates. Neuropharmacology 37:407-419.
- Barbas H (1995) Anatomic basis of cognitive–emotional interactions in the primate prefrontal cortex. Neurosci Biobehavior Rev 19:499– 510.
- Barbas H, Ghasghaei HT, Rempel-Clower NL, Xiao D (2002) Anatomic basis of functional specialization in prefrontal cortices in primates. In: Handbook of neuropsychology, vol. 7. Amsterdam: Elsevier 1–27
- Barbas H, Pandya DN (1989) Architecture and intrinsic connections of the prefrontal cortex in the rhesus monkey. J Comp Neurol 286:353–75.
- Barbey AK, Koenigs M, Grafman J (2013) Dorsolateral prefrontal contributions to human working memory. Cortex 49(5):1195-205.
- Barkley RA, Edwards G, Laneri M, Fletcher K, Metevia L (2001) Executive functioning, temporal discounting, and sense of time in adolescents with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and oppositional defiant disorder (ODD). Journal Of Abnormal Child Psychology 29(6): 541-556.
- Basar K, Sesia T, Groenewegen H, Steinbusch HW, Visser-Vandewalle V, Temel Y (2010) Nucleus accumbens and impulsivity. Prog Neurobiol. 92(4): 533-57.
- Beaulieu, C (1993) Numerical data on neocortical neurons in adult rat, with special reference to the GABA population. Brain Research 609(1-2): 284-292.

- Bechara A (2005) Decision making, impulse control and loss of willpower to resist drugs: a neurocognitive perspective. Nature Neuroscience 8(11): 1458.
- Bechara A, Dolan S, and Hindes A (2002) Decision-making and addiction (part II): myopia for the future or hypersensitivity to reward? Neuropsychologia 40(10): 1690-705.
- Bechara A. (2002) Decision making, impulse control and loss of willpower to resist drugs: a neurocognitive perspective. Nature Neuroscience 8(11): 1458-1463.
- Belin D, Mar AC, Dalley JW, Robbins TW, Everitt BJ (2008) High impulsivity predicts the switch to compulsive cocaine-taking. Science 320(5881): 1352-1355.
- Ben-Shahar OM, Szumlinski KK, Lominac KD, Cohen A, Gordon E, Ploense KL, DeMartini J, Bernstein N, Rudy NM, Nabhan AN, Sacramento A (2012) Extended access to cocaine self-administration results in reduced glutamate function within the medial prefrontal cortex. Addiction biology 17(4):746-57.
- Berke JD, Okatan M, Skurski J, Eichenbaum HB (2004) Oscillatory entrainment of striatal neurons in freely moving rats. Neuron 43:883-896.
- Bernstein JG, Boyden ES (2011) Optogenetic tools for analyzing the neural circuits of behavior. Trends in Cognitive Sciences 15:592-600.
- Berridge KC (2007) The debate over dopamine's role in reward: the case for incentive salience. Psychopharmacology 191(3):391-431.
- Berridge KC, Robinson TE (1998) What is the role of dopamine in reward: hedonic impact, reward learning, or incentive salience? Brain Res Brain Res Rev 28:309–369.
- Bertran-Gonzalez J, Bosch C, Maroteaux M, Matamales M, Hervé D, Valjent E, Girault JA (2008) Opposing patterns of signaling activation in dopamine D1 and D2 receptorexpressing striatal neurons in response to cocaine and haloperidol. Journal of Neuroscience 28(22): 5671-5685.
- Bett D, Murdoch LH, Wood ER, Dudchenko PA (2015) Hippocampus, delay discounting, and vicarious trial-and-error. Hippocampus 25(5):643-54.

- Beyene M, Carelli RM, Wightman RM (2010) Cue-evoked dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens shell tracks reinforcer magnitude during intracranial self-stimulation. Neuroscience 169:1682-1688.
- Bezzina G, Body S, Cheung TH, Hampson CL, Bradshaw CM, Szabadi E, Anderson IM, Deakin JF (2008) Effect of disconnecting the orbital prefrontal cortex from the nucleus accumbens core on inter-temporal choice behaviour: a quantitative analysis. Behavioural Brain Research 191(2):272-9.
- Bezzina G, Cheung TH, Asgari K, Hampson CL, Body S, Bradshaw CM, Szabadi E, Deakin JF, Anderson IM (2007) Effects of quinolinic acid-induced lesions of the nucleus accumbens core on inter-temporal choice: a quantitative analysis. Psychopharmacology 195(1):71-84.
- Bickel WK, Jarmolowicz DP, Mueller ET, Koffarnus MN, Gatchalian KM (2012) Excessive discounting of delayed reinforcers as a trans-disease process contributing to addiction and other disease-related vulnerabilities: emerging evidence. Pharmacology & Therapeutics 134(3): 287-297.
- Bickel WK, Odum AL, Madden GJ (1999) Impulsivity and cigarette smoking: delay discounting in current, never, and ex-smokers. Psychopharmacology 146:447-454.
- Blaha CD, Yang CR, Floresco SB, Barr AM, Phillips AG (1997) Stimulation of the Ventral Subiculum of the Hippocampus Evokes Glutamate Receptor-mediated Changes in Dopamine Efflux in the Rat Nucleus Accumbens. European Journal of Neuroscience 9(5):902-11.
- Boettiger CA, Mitchell JM, Tavares VC, Robertson M, Joslyn G, D'Esposito M, Fields HL (2007) Immediate reward bias in humans: fronto-parietal networks and a role for the catechol-O-methyltransferase 158(Val/Val) genotype. J Neurosci 27(52): 14383-91.
- Bowyer JF, Scallet AC, Holson RR, Lipe GW, Slikker W, Ali SF (1991) Interactions of MK-801 with glutamate-, glutamine-and methamphetamine-evoked release of [3H] dopamine from striatal slices. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 257(1):262-70.
- Boyden E (2011) A history of optogenetics: the development of tools for controlling brain circuits with light.

- Boyden ES, Zhang F, Bamberg E, Nagel G, Deisseroth K (2005) Millisecond-timescale, genetically targeted optical control of neural activity. Nature Neuroscience 8:1263-1268.
- Boyer P (2008) Evolutionary economics of mental time travel? Trends in Cognitive Sciences 12(6): 219-224.
- Brady AM, O'Donnell P (2004) Dopaminergic modulation of prefrontal cortical input to nucleus accumbens neurons in vivo. Journal of Neuroscience 24(5):1040-9.
- Britt JP, Benaliouad F, McDevitt RA, Stuber GD, Wise RA, Bonci A (2012) Synaptic and behavioral profile of multiple glutamatergic inputs to the nucleus accumbens. Neuron 76:790-803.
- Britt JP, Benaliouad F, McDevitt RA, Stuber GD, Wise RA, Bonci A (2012) Synaptic and behavioral profile of multiple glutamatergic inputs to the nucleus accumbens. Neuron 76(4):790-803.
- Brog JS, Salyapongse A, Deutch AY, Zahm DS (1993) The patterns of afferent innervation of the core and shell in the "accumbens" part of the rat ventral striatum: immunohistochemical detection of retrogradely transported fluoro-gold. J Comp Neurol 338:255-278.
- Broos N, Schmaal L, Wiskerke J, Kostelijk L, Lam T, Stoop N, Weierink L, Ham J, De Geus EJ, Schoffelmeer AN, van den Brink W (2012) The relationship between impulsive choice and impulsive action: a cross-species translational study. PloS One 7(5):e36781.
- Brown SP, Hestrin S (2009) Intracortical circuits of pyramidal neurons reflect their long-range axonal targets. Nature 457(7233): 1133.
- Buchschacher GL (2003) Lentiviral Vector Systems for Gene Transfer, New York Plenum Publishers, pg. 35.
- Buckholtz JW, Treadway MT, Cowan RL, Woodward ND, Li R, Ansari MS, Baldwin RM, Schwartzman AN, Shelby ES, Smith CE, Kessler RM (2010) Dopaminergic network differences in human impulsivity. Science 329(5991):532-.
- Butler J (2012) Optogenetics: shining a light on the brain. Bioscience Horizons: The International Journal of Student Research 5.

- Cacciapaglia F, Saddoris MP, Wightman RM, Carelli RM (2012) Differential dopamine release dynamics in the nucleus accumbens core and shell track distinct aspects of goal-directed behavior for sucrose. Neuropharmacology 62(5-6):2050-6.
- Cajal, DSRY (1893) Nueva Concepta De La Histologia De Los Centros Nervosos. Annals of Surgery, 18, 122.
- Capriles N, Rodaros D, Sorge RE, Stewart J (2003) A role for the prefrontal cortex in stress-and cocaine-induced reinstatement of cocaine seeking in rats. Psychopharmacology 168(1-2):66-74.
- Cardinal R, Cheung T (2005) Nucleus accumbens core lesions retard instrumental learning and performance with delayed reinforcement in the rat. BMC Neuroscience 6:9.
- Cardinal RN (2006) Neural systems implicated in delayed and probabilistic reinforcement. Neural Networks 19(8): 1277-1301.
- Cardinal RN, Howes NJ (2005) Effects of lesions of the nucleus accumbens core on choice between small certain rewards and large uncertain rewards in rats. BMC Neuroscience 6:37.
- Cardinal RN, Parkinson JA, Lachenal G, Halkerston KM, Rudarakanchana N, Hall J, Morrison CH, Howes SR, Robbins TW, Everitt BJ (2002) Effects of selective excitotoxic lesions of the nucleus accumbens core, anterior cingulate cortex, and central nucleus of the amygdala on autoshaping performance in rats. Behav Neurosci 116:553-567.
- Cardinal RN, Pennicott DR, Lakmali C, Robbins TW, Everitt BJ (2001) Impulsive choice induced in rats by lesions of the nucleus accumbens core. Science 292(5526): 2499-2501.
- Cardinal RN, Pennicott DR, Sugathapala CL, Robbins TW, Everitt BJ (2001) Impulsive choice induced in rats by lesions of the nucleus accumbens core. Science 292:2499-2501.
- Cardinal RN, Robbins TW, Everitt BJ (2000) The effects of d-amphetamine, chlordiazepoxide, α-flupenthixol and behavioural manipulations on choice of signalled and unsignalled delayed reinforcement in rats. Psychopharmacology 152(4): 362-375.
- Cardinal RN, Winstanley CA, Robbins TW, Everitt BJ (2004) Limbic corticostriatal systems and delayed reinforcement. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1021(1):33-50.

- Carelli RM (2004) Nucleus accumbens cell firing and rapid dopamine signaling during goaldirected behaviors in rats. Neuropharmacology 47:180-189.
- Carelli RM, Deadwyler SA (1994) A comparison of nucleus accumbens neuronal firing patterns during cocaine self-administration and water reinforcement in rats. Journal of Neuroscience 14(12):7735-46.
- Carelli RM, Ijames S, Konstantopoulos J, Deadwyler SA (1999) Examination of factors mediating the transition to behaviorally correlated nucleus accumbens cell firing during cocaine self-administration sessions in rats. Behavioural Brain Research 104(1-2):127-39.
- Carelli RM, Ijames SG (2000) Nucleus accumbens cell firing during maintenance, extinction, and reinstatement of cocaine self-administration behavior in rats. Brain Research 866(1-2):44-54.b
- Carelli RM, Ijames SG, Crumling AJ (2000) Evidence that separate neural circuits in the nucleus accumbens encode cocaine versus "natural"(water and food) reward. Journal of Neuroscience 20(11):4255-66.
- Carelli RM, West EA (2014) When a good taste turns bad: neural mechanisms underlying the emergence of negative affect and associated natural reward devaluation by cocaine. Neuropharmacology 76:360-9.
- Carmichael ST, Price JL (1995) Limbic connections of the orbital and medial prefrontal cortex in macaque monkeys. J Comp Neurol 363:615–41.
- Carrozza DP, Ferraro TN, Golden GT, Reyes PF, Hare TA (1992) In vivo modulation of excitatory amino acid receptors: microdialysis studies on N-methyl-D-aspartate-evoked striatal dopamine release and effects of antagonists. Brain Research 574(1-2):42-8.
- Castro DC, Cole SL, Berridge KC (2015) Lateral hypothalamus, nucleus accumbens, and ventral pallidum roles in eating and hunger: interactions between homeostatic and reward circuitry. Front Syst Neurosci 9:90.
- Celada P, Puig M, Artigas F (2013) Serotonin modulation of cortical neurons and networks. Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience 7, 25.

- Cepeda C, Colwell CS, Itri JN, Chandler SH, Levine MS (1998) Dopaminergic modulation of NMDA-induced whole cell currents in neostriatal neurons in slices: contribution of calcium conductances. Journal of Neurophysiology 79(1):82-94.
- Cepeda C, Levine MS (1998) Dopamine and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor interactions in the neostriatum. Developmental Neuroscience 20(1):1-8.
- Chandler DJ, Waterhouse BD, Gao WJ (2014) New perspectives on catecholaminergic regulation of executive circuits: evidence for independent modulation of prefrontal functions by midbrain dopaminergic and noradrenergic neurons. Frontiers in Neural Circuits, 8, 53.
- Cheer JF, Wassum KM, Sombers LA, Heien ML, Ariansen JL, Aragona BJ, Phillips PE, Wightman RM (2007) Phasic dopamine release evoked by abused substances requires cannabinoid receptor activation. Journal of Neuroscience 27(4):791-5.
- Chesselet MF (1984) Presynaptic regulation of neurotransmitter release in the brain: facts and hypothesis. Neuroscience 12(2):347-75.
- Cho SS, Ko JH, Pellecchia G, Van Eimeren T, Cilia R, Strafella AP (2010) Continuous theta burst stimulation of right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex induces changes in impulsivity level. Brain Stimulation: Basic, Translational, and Clinical Research in Neuromodulation 3(3): 170-176.
- Cho SS, Koshimori Y, Aminian K, Obeso I, Rusjan P, Lang AE, Daskalakis ZJ, Houle S, Strafella AP (2015) Investing in the future: stimulation of the medial prefrontal cortex reduces discounting of delayed rewards. Neuropsychopharmacology 40(3):546.
- Cho SS, Pellecchia G, Aminian K, Ray N, Segura B, Obeso I, Strafella AP (2013) Morphometric correlation of impulsivity in medial prefrontal cortex. Brain Topography 26(3): 479-487.
- Cho SS, Pellecchia G, Aminian K, Ray N, Segura B, Obeso I, Strafella AP (2013) Morphometric correlation of impulsivity in medial prefrontal cortex. Brain Topography 26(3): 479-487.
- Cho SS, Pellecchia G, Ko JH, Ray N, Obeso I, Houle S, Strafella AP (2012) Effect of continuous theta burst stimulation of the right dorsolateral prefrontal cortex on cerebral blood flow changes during decision making. Brain Stimulation: Basic, Translational, and Clinical Research in Neuromodulation 5(2): 116-123.

- Chow BY, Han X, Boyden ES (2012) Genetically encoded molecular tools for light-driven silencing of targeted neurons. Progress in Brain Research 196:49.
- Chow BY, Han X, Dobry AS, Qian X, Chuong AS, Li M, Henninger MA, Belfort GM, Lin Y, Monahan PE (2010) High-performance genetically targetable optical neural silencing by light-driven proton pumps. Nature 463:98-102.
- Chuhma N, Zhang H, Masson J, Zhuang X, Sulzer D, Hen R, Rayport S (2004) Dopamine neurons mediate a fast excitatory signal via their glutamatergic synapses. Journal of Neuroscience 24(4):972-81.
- Churchwell JC, Morris AM, Heurtelou NM, Kesner RP (2009) Interactions between the prefrontal cortex and amygdala during delay discounting and reversal. Behavioral Neuroscience 123:1185.
- Civai C, Hawes DR, DeYoung CG, Rustichini A (2016) Intelligence and extraversion in the neural evaluation of delayed rewards. Journal of Research in Personality 61:99-108.
- Clark JJ, Hollon NG, Phillips PE (2012) Pavlovian valuation systems in learning and decision making. Current Opinion in Neurobiology 22(6):1054-61
- Clow DW, Jhamandas KH (1989) Characterization of L-glutamate action on the release of endogenous dopamine from the rat caudate-putamen. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 248(2):722-8.
- Coffey SF, Gudleski GD, Saladin ME, Brady KT (2003) Impulsivity and rapid discounting of delayed hypothetical rewards in cocaine-dependent individuals. Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology 11:18-25.
- Conway MA and Fthenaki A (2003) Disruption of inhibitory control of memory following lesions to the frontal and temporal lobes. Cortex 39(4): 667-686.
- Corbit LH, Muir JL, Balleine BW (2001) The Role of the Nucleus Accumbens in Instrumental Conditioning: Evidence of a Functional Dissociation between Accumbens Core and Shell. The Journal of Neuroscience 21:3251-3260.

- Cottone P, Iemolo A, Narayan AR, Kwak J, Momaney D, Sabino V (2013) The uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonists ketamine and memantine preferentially increase the choice for a small, immediate reward in low-impulsive rats. Psychopharmacology 226(1):127-38.
- Coutureau E, Galani R, Jarrard LE, Cassel JC (2000) Selective lesions of the entorhinal cortex, the hippocampus, or the fimbria-fornix in rats: a comparison of effects on spontaneous and amphetamine-induced locomotion. Exp Brain Res 131:381-392.
- Crews FT, Boettiger CA (2009) Impulsivity, frontal lobes and risk for addiction. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 93:237-247.
- da Costa Araújo S, Body S, Hampson CL, Langley RW, Deakin JF, Anderson IM, Bradshaw CM, Szabadi E (2009). Effects of lesions of the nucleus accumbens core on intertemporal choice: further observations with an adjusting-delay procedure. Behavioural Brain Research, 202(2): 272-277.
- da Costa Araújo S, Body S, Torres LV, Sanchez CO, Bak VK, Deakin JF, Anderson IM, Bradshaw CM, Szabadi E (2010) Choice between reinforcer delays versus choice between reinforcer magnitudes: differential Fos expression in the orbital prefrontal cortex and nucleus accumbens core. Behavioural Brain Research 213(2):269-77.
- Dalley JW, Fryer TD, Brichard L, Robinson ES, Theobald DE, Laane K, Pena Y, Murphy ER, Shah Y, Probst K, Abakumova I, Aigbirhio FI, Richards HK, Hong Y, Baron JC, Everitt BJ, Robbins TW (2007) Nucleus accumbens D2/3 receptors predict trait impulsivity and cocaine reinforcement. Science 315:1267-1270.
- Dalley JW, Mar AC, Economidou D, Robbins TW (2008) Neurobehavioral mechanisms of impulsivity: fronto-striatal systems and functional neurochemistry. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 90(2):250-60.
- Day JJ, Jones JL, Carelli RM (2011) Nucleus accumbens neurons encode predicted and ongoing reward costs in rats. The European Journal of Neuroscience 33:308-321.
- Day JJ, Jones JL, Carelli RM (2011) Nucleus accumbens neurons encode predicted and ongoing reward costs in rats. European Journal of Neuroscience 33(2):308-21.
- Day JJ, Jones JL, Wightman RM, Carelli RM (2010) Phasic nucleus accumbens dopamine release encodes effort- and delay-related costs. Biological Psychiatry 68:306-309.

- Day JJ, Roitman MF, Wightman RM, Carelli RM (2007) Associative learning mediates dynamic shifts in dopamine signaling in the nucleus accumbens. Nature Neuroscience 10:1020-1028.
- De Wit H (2009) Impulsivity as a determinant and consequence of drug use: a review of underlying processes. Addiction Biology 14(1): 22-31.
- Dellu-Hagedorn F (2006) Relationship between impulsivity, hyperactivity and working memory: a differential analysis in the rat. Behavioral and Brain Functions 2(1): 10.
- Dembrow NC, Chitwood RA, Johnston D (2010) Projection-specific neuromodulation of medial prefrontal cortex neurons. Journal of Neuroscience 30(50): 16922-16937.
- Di Chiara G, Imperato A (1988) Drugs abused by humans preferentially increase synaptic dopamine concentrations in the mesolimbic system of freely moving rats. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 85(14):5274-8.
- Di Pietro NC, Black YD, Kantak KM (2006) Context-dependent prefrontal cortex regulation of cocaine self-administration and reinstatement behaviors in rats. European Journal of Neuroscience 24(11):3285-98.
- Diekhof EK, Gruber O (2010) When desire collides with reason: functional interactions between anteroventral prefrontal cortex and nucleus accumbens underlie the human ability to resist impulsive desires. Journal of Neuroscience 30(4):1488-93.
- Diergaarde L, Pattij T, Poortvlie I, Hogenboom F, de Vries W, Schoffelmeer AN, De Vries TJ (2008) Impulsive choice and impulsive action predict vulnerability to distinct stages of nicotine seeking in rats. Biological Psychiatry 63(3): 301-308
- Ding DC, Gabbott PL, Totterdell S (2001) Differences in the laminar origin of projections from the medial prefrontal cortex to the nucleus accumbens shell and core regions in the rat. Brain Research 917(1): 81-89.
- Dobi A, Seabold GK, Christensen CH, Bock R, Alvarez VA (2011) Cocaine-induced plasticity in the nucleus accumbens is cell specific and develops without prolonged withdrawal. Journal of Neuroscience 31(5):1895-904.

- Durstewitz D, Vittoz NM, Floresco SB, Seamans JK (2010) Abrupt transitions between prefrontal neural ensemble states accompany behavioral transitions during rule learning. Neuron 66(3):438-48.
- Economidou D, Pelloux Y, Robbins TW, Dalley JW, Everitt BJ (2009) High impulsivity predicts relapse to cocaine-seeking after punishment-induced abstinence. Biological Psychiatry 65(10): 851-856.
- Elston GN (2000) Pyramidal cells of the frontal lobe: all the more spinous to think with. Journal of Neuroscience 20: 1-4.
- Ernst M, Fudge JL (2009) A developmental neurobiological model of motivated behavior: anatomy, connectivity and ontogeny of the triadic nodes. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 33(3): 367-382.
- Ernst M, Paulus MP (2005) Neurobiology of decision making: a selective review from a neurocognitive and clinical perspective. Biological Psychiatry 58(8): 597-604.
- Ersche KD, Fletcher PC, Lewis SJ, Clark L, Stocks-Gee G, London M, Deakin JB, Robbins TW, Sahakian BJ (2005) Abnormal frontal activations related to decision-making in current and former amphetamine and opiate dependent individuals. Psychopharmacology 180(4):612-23.
- Evenden JL (1999) Varieties of impulsivity. Psychopharmacology 146(4): 348-361.
- Everitt BJ, Parkinson JA, Olmstead MC, Arroyo M, Robledo P, Robbins TW (1999) Associative processes in addiction and reward the role of amygdala-ventral striatal subsystems. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 877(1): 412-438.
- Everitt BJ, Wolf ME (2002) Psychomotor stimulant addiction: a neural systems perspective. J Neurosci. 22(9): 3312-20.
- Feja M, Hayn L, Koch M (2014) Nucleus accumbens core and shell inactivation differentially affects impulsive behaviours in rats. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry 54: 31-42.
- Fields HL, Hjelmstad GO, Margolis EB, Nicola SM (2007) Ventral Tegmental Area Neurons in Learned Appetitive Behavior and Positive Reinforcement. Annu. Rev. Neurosci 30: 289-316.

- Figner B, Knoch D, Johnson EJ, Krosch AR, Lisanby SH, Fehr E, Weber EU (2010) Lateral prefrontal cortex and self-control in intertemporal choice. Nature Neuroscience 13(5):538.
- Fiorillo CD, Tobler PN, Schultz W (2003) Discrete coding of reward probability and uncertainty by dopamine neurons. Science 299:1898-1902.
- Floresco SB, Onge JRS, Ghods-Sharifi S, Winstanley CA (2008) Cortico-limbic-striatal circuits subserving different forms of cost-benefit decision making. Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience 8(4): 375-389.
- Frye CC, Galizio A, Friedel JE, DeHart BW, Odum AL (2016) Measuring delay discounting in humans using an adjusting amount task. Journal of Visualized Experiments: JoVE (107).
- Fuster JM. (1997) The prefrontal cortex: anatomy, physiology, and neuropsychology of the frontal lobe, 3rd ed. New York: Raven Press p. 333.
- Gabbott PL, Bacon SJ (1996) Local circuit neurons in the medial prefrontal cortex (areas 24a, b, c, 25 and 32) in the monkey: II. Quantitative areal and laminar distributions. Journal of Comparative Neurology 364(4): 609-636.
- Gabbott PL, Dickie BG, Vaid RR, Headlam AJ, Bacon SJ (1997) Local-circuit neurones in the medial prefrontal cortex (areas 25, 32 and 24b) in the rat: Morphology and quantitative distribution. Journal of Comparative Neurology 377(4): 465-499.
- Gabbott PL, Warner TA, Jays PR, Salway P, Busby SJ (2005) Prefrontal cortex in the rat: projections to subcortical autonomic, motor, and limbic centers. Journal of Comparative Neurology 492(2): 145-177.
- Galtress T, Kirkpatrick K (2010) The role of the nucleus accumbens core in impulsive choice, timing, and reward processing. Behavioral Neuroscience 124(1): 26.
- Garavan H, Ross TJ, Stein EA (1999) Right hemispheric dominance of inhibitory control: an event-related functional MRI study. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 96(14):8301-6.
- Gerfen CR (1988) Synaptic organization of the striatum. Microscopy Research and Technique 10(3): 265-281.

- Ghods-Sharifi S, Floresco SB (2010) Differential effects on effort discounting induced by inactivations of the nucleus accumbens core or shell. Behavioral Neuroscience 124:179-191.
- Goldstein RZ, Volkow ND (2002) Drug addiction and its underlying neurobiological basis: neuroimaging evidence for the involvement of the frontal cortex. American Journal of Psychiatry 159(10):1642-52.
- Grace AA, Floresco SB, Goto Y, Lodge DJ (2007) Regulation of firing of dopaminergic neurons and control of goal-directed behaviors. Trends in neurosciences. 2007 May 1;30(5):220-7.
- Gradinaru V, Thompson KR, Deisseroth K (2008) eNpHR: a Natronomonas halorhodopsin enhanced for optogenetic applications. Brain Cell Biology 36:129-139.
- Griffin III WC, Haun HL, Hazelbaker CL, Ramachandra VS, Becker HC (2014) Increased extracellular glutamate in the nucleus accumbens promotes excessive ethanol drinking in ethanol dependent mice. Neuropsychopharmacology 39(3):707.
- Groenewegen HJ, Vermeulen-Van der Zee E, te Kortschot A, Witter MP (1987) Organization of the projections from the subiculum to the ventral striatum in the rat. A study using anterograde transport of Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin. Neuroscience 23:103–120
- Groves PM (1983) A theory of the functional organization of the neostriatum and the neostriatal control of voluntary movement. Brain Research Reviews 5:109-132.
- Gupta R, Koscik TR, Bechara A, Tranel D (2011) The amygdala and decisionmaking. Neuropsychologia 49(4): 760-766.
- Hare TA, Camerer CF, Rangel A (2009) Self-control in decision-making involves modulation of the vmPFC valuation system. Science 324(5927):646-8.
- Harvey J, Lacey MG (1996) Endogenous and exogenous dopamine depress EPSCs in rat nucleus accumbens in vitro via D1 receptors activation. The Journal of Physiology 492(1):143-54.
- Harvey J, Lacey MG (1997) A postsynaptic interaction between dopamine D1 and NMDA receptors promotes presynaptic inhibition in the rat nucleus accumbens via adenosine release. Journal of Neuroscience 17(14):5271-80.

- Harvey J, Lacey MG (1997) A postsynaptic interaction between dopamine D1 and NMDA receptors promotes presynaptic inhibition in the rat nucleus accumbens via adenosine release. Journal of Neuroscience 17(14):5271-80.
- Hauber W, Sommer S (2009) Prefrontostriatal Circuitry Regulates Effort-Related Decision Making. Cerebral Cortex 19:2240-2247.
- He Q, Chen M, Chen C, Xue G, Feng T, Bechara A (2016) Anodal stimulation of the left DLPFC increases IGT scores and decreases delay discounting rate in healthy males. Frontiers in Psychology 7: 1421.
- Heerey EA, Robinson BM, McMahon RP, Gold JM (2007) Delay discounting in schizophrenia. Cognitive Neuropsychiatry 12(3): 213-221.
- Heidbreder CA, Groenewegen HJ (2003) The medial prefrontal cortex in the rat: evidence for a dorso-ventral distinction based upon functional and anatomical characteristics. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 27(6): 555-79.
- Heimer L, Zahm DS, Churchill L, Kalivas PW, Wohltmann C (1991) Specificity in the projection patterns of accumbal core and shell in the rat. Neuroscience 41(1): 89-125.
- Hernandez G, Oleson EB, Gentry RN, Abbas Z, Bernstein DL, Arvanitogiannis A, Cheer JF (2014). Endocannabinoids promote cocaine-induced impulsivity and its rapid dopaminergic correlates. Biological Psychiatry 75(6): 487-498.
- Herrera DG, Robertson HA (1996) Activation of c-fos in the brain. Progress in Neurobiology 50(2-3):83-107.
- Heyman GM (1996) Resolving the contradictions of addiction. Behavioral and Brain Sciences 19(04): 561-574.
- Hoffman WF, Schwartz DL, Huckans MS, McFarland BH, Meiri G, Stevens AA, Mitchell SH (2008) Cortical activation during delay discounting in abstinent methamphetamine dependent individuals. Psychopharmacology 201(2):183.
- Hollander JA, Carelli RM (2007) Cocaine-associated stimuli increase cocaine seeking and activate accumbens core neurons after abstinence. Journal of Neuroscience 27(13):3535-9.

- Hotsenpiller G, Giorgetti M, Wolf ME (2001) Alterations in behaviour and glutamate transmission following presentation of stimuli previously associated with cocaine exposure. Eur J Neurosci. 14(11): 1843-55.
- Ikemoto S (2007) Dopamine reward circuitry: two projection systems from the ventral midbrain to the nucleus accumbens-olfactory tubercle complex. Brain Res Rev 56:27-78.
- Imhoff S, Harris M, Weiser J, Reynolds B (2014) Delay discounting by depressed and nondepressed adolescent smokers and non-smokers. Drug & Alcohol Dependence 135: 152-155.
- Iravani MM, Kruk ZL (1996) Real-Time Effects of N-Methyl-d-Aspartic Acid on Dopamine Release in Slices of Rat Caudate Putamen: A Study Using Fast Cyclic Voltammetry. Journal of Neurochemistry 66(3):1076-85.
- Ishikawa A, Ambroggi F, Nicola SM, Fields HL (2008) Dorsomedial Prefrontal Cortex Contribution to Behavioral and Nucleus Accumbens Neuronal Responses to Incentive Cues. Journal of Neuroscience 28(19):5088-98.
- Jackson JN, MacKillop J (2016) Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder and monetary delay discounting: a meta-analysis of case-control studies. Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging 1(4): 316-325.
- Jensen V, Rinholm JE, Johansen TJ, Medin T, Storm-Mathisen J, Sagvolden T, Hvalby Ø, Bergersen LH (2009) N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor subunit dysfunction at hippocampal glutamatergic synapses in an animal model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Neuroscience 158(1):353-64.
- Jentsch JD, Pennington ZT (2014) Reward, interrupted: inhibitory control and its relevance to addictions. Neuropharmacology 76:479-86.
- Jentsch JD, Taylor JR (1999) Impulsivity resulting from frontostriatal dysfunction in drug abuse: implications for the control of behavior by reward-related stimuli. Psychopharmacology 146:373-390.
- Jhamandas K, Marien M (1987) Glutamate-evoked release of endogenous brain dopamine: inhibition by an excitatory amino acid antagonist and an enkephalin analogue. British Journal of Pharmacology 90(4):641-50.

- Johnson A, Redish AD (2007) Neural ensembles in CA3 transiently encode paths forward of the animal at a decision point. Journal of Neuroscience 27(45):12176-89.
- Johnson A, van der Meer MA, Redish AD (2007) Integrating hippocampus and striatum in decision-making. Current Opinion in Neurobiology 17(6):692-7.
- Jones CG, Fearnley H, Panagiotopoulos B, Kemp RI (2015) Delay discounting, self-control, and substance use among adult drug court participants. Behavioural Pharmacology 26(5): 447-459.
- Jones SR, O'Dell SJ, Marshall JF, Wightman RM (1996) Functional and anatomical evidence for different dopamine dynamics in the core and shell of the nucleus accumbens in slices of rat brain. Synapse 23:224-231.
- Jongen-Rêlo AL, Voorn P, Groenewegen HJ (1994) Immunohistochemical characterization of the shell and core territories of the nucleus accumbens in the rat. European Journal of Neuroscience 6(8): 1255-1264.
- Jonkman S, Mar AC, Dickinson A, Robbins TW, Everitt BJ (2009) The rat prelimbic cortex mediates inhibitory response control but not the consolidation of instrumental learning. Behavioral Neuroscience 123(4):875.
- Kalivas PW (2009) The glutamate homeostasis hypothesis of addiction. Nat Rev Neurosci. 10(8): 561-72.
- Kawaguchi Y (1997) Neostriatal cell subtypes and their functional roles. Neuroscience Research 27:1-8.
- Kawaguchi Y, Wilson CJ, Augood SJ, Emson PC (1995) Striatal interneurones: chemical, physiological and morphological characterization. Trends in Neurosciences 18:527-535.
- Kelley AE (2004) Ventral striatal control of appetitive motivation: role in ingestive behavior and reward-related learning. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 27:765-776.
- Kelley AE, Domesick VB, Nauta WJH (1982) The amygdalostriatal projection in the rat--an anatomical study by anterograde and retrograde tracing methods. Neuroscience 7:615–630.
- Killcross S, Coutureau E (2003) Coordination of actions and habits in the medial prefrontal cortex of rats. Cerebral Cortex 13(4): 400-408.
- Kim S, Hwang J, Lee D (2008) Prefrontal coding of temporally discounted values during intertemporal choice. Neuron 59(1): 161-172.
- Kim S, Hwang J, Lee D (2008) Prefrontal coding of temporally discounted values during intertemporal choice. Neuron 59(1):161-72.
- Kobayashi S, Lauwereyns J, Koizumi M, Sakagami M, Hikosaka O (2002) Influence of reward expectation on visuospatial processing in macaque lateral prefrontal cortex. Journal of Neurophysiology 87(3):1488-98.
- Kobayashi S, Schultz W (2008) Influence of Reward Delays on Responses of Dopamine Neurons. Journal of Neuroscience 28(31):7837-46.
- Koffarnus MN, Newman AH, Grundt P, Rice KC, Woods JH (2011) Effects of selective dopaminergic compounds on a delay discounting task. Behavioural Pharmacology 22(4): 300.
- Kolk SM, Gunput RA, Tran TS, van den Heuvel DM, Prasad AA, Hellemons AJ, Adolfs Y, Ginty DD, Kolodkin AL, Burbach JP, Smidt MP (2009) Semaphorin 3F is a bifunctional guidance cue for dopaminergic axons and controls their fasciculation, channeling, rostral growth, and intracortical targeting. Journal of Neuroscience 29(40):12542-57.
- Koós T, Tepper JM (1999) Inhibitory control of neostriatal projection neurons by GABAergic interneurons. Nature Neuroscience 2(5): 467.
- Kotecha SA, Oak JN, Jackson MF, Perez Y, Orser BA, Van Tol HH, MacDonald JF (2002) A D2 class dopamine receptor transactivates a receptor tyrosine kinase to inhibit NMDA receptor transmission. Neuron 35(6):1111-22.
- Krettek JE, Price JL (1977) The cortical projections of the mediodorsal nucleus and adjacent thalamic nuclei in the rat. J Comp Neurol. 171(2): 157-91.
- Kupchik YM, Brown RM, Heinsbroek JA, Lobo MK, Schwartz DJ, Kalivas PW (2015) Coding the direct/indirect pathways by D1 and D2 receptors is not valid for accumbens projections. Nature Neuroscience 18(9):1230.

- Lawrence KA, Allen JS, Chanen AM (2010) Impulsivity in borderline personality disorder: reward-based decision-making and its relationship to emotional distress. Journal of Personality Disorders 24(6): 785-799.
- Le Moine C, Bloch B (1995) D1 and D2 dopamine receptor gene expression in the rat striatum: sensitive cRNA probes demonstrate prominent segregation of D1 and D2 mRNAs in distinct neuronal populations of the dorsal and ventral striatum. J Comp Neurol 355:418-426.
- Leon MI, Shadlen MN (1999) Effect of expected reward magnitude on the response of neurons in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of the macaque. Neuron 24(2):415-25.
- Li Y, Kauer JA (2004) Repeated exposure to amphetamine disrupts dopaminergic modulation of excitatory synaptic plasticity and neurotransmission in nucleus accumbens. Synapse 51(1):1-0.
- Lidow MS, Song ZM (2001) Primates exposed to cocaine in utero display reduced density and number of cerebral cortical neurons. Journal of Comparative Neurology 435(3):263-75.
- Little JP, Carter AG (2013) Synaptic mechanisms underlying strong reciprocal connectivity between the medial prefrontal cortex and basolateral amygdala. Journal of Neuroscience 33(39): 15333-15342.
- Liu L, Feng T, Wang J, Li H (2012) The neural dissociation of subjective valuation from choice processes in intertemporal choice. Behavioural Brain Research 231(1):40-7.
- Ludwig VU, Nüsser C, Goschke T, Wittfoth-Schardt D, Wiers CE, Erk S, Schott BH, Walter H (2015) Delay discounting without decision-making: medial prefrontal cortex and amygdala activations reflect immediacy processing and correlate with impulsivity and anxious-depressive traits. Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience 9:280.
- Lüscher C, Malenka RC (2011) Drug-evoked synaptic plasticity in addiction: from molecular changes to circuit remodeling. Neuron 2011 69(4):650-63.
- Ma YY, Lee BR, Wang X, Guo C, Liu L, Cui R, Lan Y, Balcita-Pedicino JJ, Wolf ME, Sesack SR, Shaham Y (2014) Bidirectional modulation of incubation of cocaine craving by silent synapse-based remodeling of prefrontal cortex to accumbens projections. Neuron 83(6):1453-67.

- Mariano TY, Bannerman DM, McHugh SB, Preston TJ, Rudebeck PH, Rudebeck SR, Rawlins JN, Walton ME, Rushworth MF, Baxter MG, Campbell TG (2009) Impulsive choice in hippocampal but not orbitofrontal cortex-lesioned rats on a nonspatial decision-making maze task. European Journal of Neuroscience 30(3):472-84.
- Marien M, Brien J, Jhamandas K (1983) Regional release of [3H] dopamine from rat brain in vitro: effects of opioids on release induced by potassium, nicotine, and L-glutamic acid. Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology 61(1):43-60.
- Marti M, Mela F, Bianchi C, Beani L, Morari M (2002) Striatal dopamine–NMDA receptor interactions in the modulation of glutamate release in the substantia nigra pars reticulata in vivo: opposite role for D1 and D2 receptors. Journal of Neurochemistry 83(3):635-44.
- Martínez-Fong D, Rosales MG, Góngora-Alfaro J, Hernández S, Aceves G (1992) NMDA receptor mediates dopamine release in the striatum of unanesthetized rats as measured by brain microdialysis. Brain Research 595(2):309-15.
- McClure SM, Ericson KM, Laibson DI, Loewenstein G, Cohen JD (2007) Time discounting for primary rewards. Journal of Neuroscience 27(21):5796-804.
- McClure SM, Laibson DI, Loewenstein G, Cohen JD (2004) Separate neural systems value immediate and delayed monetary rewards. Science 306(5695):503-7.
- McDonald AJ (1991) Topographical organization of amygdaloid projections to the caudatoputamen, nucleus accumbens, and related striatal-like areas of the rat brain. Neuroscience 44:15–33.
- McFarland K, Kalivas PW (2001) The circuitry mediating cocaine-induced reinstatement of drug-seeking behavior. Journal of Neuroscience 21(21):8655-63.
- McGlinchey EM, James MH, Mahler SV, Pantazis C, Aston-Jones G (2016) Prelimbic to accumbens core pathway is recruited in a dopamine-dependent manner to drive cued reinstatement of cocaine seeking. Journal of Neuroscience 36(33):8700-11.
- McHugh SB, Campbell TG, Taylor AM, Rawlins JN, Bannerman DM (2008) A role for dorsal and ventral hippocampus in inter-temporal choice cost-benefit decision making. Behavioral Neuroscience 122(1):1.

- Mendez IA, Simon NW, Hart N, Mitchell MR, Nation JR, Wellman PJ, Setlow B (2010) Selfadministered cocaine causes long-lasting increases in impulsive choice in a delay discounting task. Behav Neurosci 124:470-477.
- Meredith GE (1999) The Synaptic Framework for Chemical Signaling in Nucleus Accumbens. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 877:140-156.
- Miller EK, Wallis JD (2003) The prefrontal cortex and executive brain functions. In: Squire LR, Bloom FE, Landis SC, Roberts JL, Zigmond MJ, editors. Fundamental of neuroscience. San Diego, CA: Academic Press, Elsevier 1353–76.
- Miller EM, Pomerleau F, Huettl P, Gerhardt GA, Glaser PE (2014) Aberrant glutamate signaling in the prefrontal cortex and striatum of the spontaneously hypertensive rat model of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Psychopharmacology 231(15):3019-29.
- Mitchell MR, Weiss VG, Beas BS, Morgan D, Bizon JL, Setlow B (2014) Adolescent risk taking, cocaine self-administration, and striatal dopamine signaling. Neuropsychopharmacology 39(4): 955.
- Mogenson GJ, Jones DL, Yim CY (1980) From motivation to action: Functional interface between the limbic system and the motor system. Progress in Neurobiology 14:69-97.
- Molnár Z, Cheung AF (2006) Towards the classification of subpopulations of layer V pyramidal projection neurons. Neuroscience Research 55(2): 105-115.
- Montaron MF, Deniau JM, Menetrey A, Glowinski J, Thierry AM (1996) Prefrontal cortex inputs of the nucleus accumbens-nigro-thalamic circuit. Neuroscience 71:371-382.
- Monterosso JR, Ainslie G, Xu J, Cordova X, Domier CP, London ED (2007) Frontoparietal cortical activity of methamphetamine-dependent and comparison subjects performing a delay discounting task. Human Brain Mapping 28(5): 383-393.
- Moorman DE, Aston-Jones G (2015) Prefrontal neurons encode context-based response execution and inhibition in reward seeking and extinction. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 112(30): 9472-7.
- Morari M, Marti M, Sbrenna S, Fuxe K, Bianchi C, Beani L (1998) Review Article Reciprocaldopamine-glutamatemodulation of release in the basalganglia. Neurochemistry International 33(5):383-97.

- Morrison SE, Salzman CD (2010) Re-valuing the amygdala. Current Opinion in Neurobiology 20(2): 221-230.
- Moschak TM, Carelli RM (2017) Impulsive Rats Exhibit Blunted Dopamine Release Dynamics during a Delay Discounting Task Independent of Cocaine History. eNeuro 4(2): ENEURO-0119.
- Moschak TM, Mitchell SH (2014) Partial inactivation of nucleus accumbens core decreases delay discounting in rats without affecting sensitivity to delay or magnitude. Behavioural Brain Research 268:159-68.
- Mulder AB, Nordquist RE, Örgüt O, Pennartz CM (2003) Learning-related changes in response patterns of prefrontal neurons during instrumental conditioning. Behavioural Brain Research 146(1-2):77-88.
- Nagel G, Szellas T, Huhn W, Kateriya S, Adeishvili N, Berthold P, Ollig D, Hegemann P, Bamberg E (2003) Channelrhodopsin-2, a directly light-gated cation-selective membrane channel. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 100:13940-13945.
- Narayanan NS, Laubach M (2006) Top-down control of motor cortex ensembles by dorsomedial prefrontal cortex. Neuron 52(5): 921-931.
- Nicola SM, Deadwyler SA (2000) Firing rate of nucleus accumbens neurons is dopaminedependent and reflects the timing of cocaine-seeking behavior in rats on a progressive ratio schedule of reinforcement. Journal of Neuroscience 20(14):5526-37.
- Nicola SM, Kombian SB, Malenka RC (1996) Psychostimulants depress excitatory synaptic transmission in the nucleus accumbens via presynaptic D1-like dopamine receptors. J Neurosci 16:1591–1604.
- Nigg JT, Wong MM, Martel MM, Jester JM, Puttler LI, Glass JM, Adams KM, Fitzgerald HE, Zucker RA (2006) Poor response inhibition as a predictor of problem drinking and illicit drug use in adolescents at risk for alcoholism and other substance use disorders. Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry 45(4):468-75.
- O'Donnell P, Grace AA (1993) Physiological and morphological properties of accumbens core and shell neurons recorded in vitro. Synapse 13:135-160.

- O'Donnell P, Grace AA (1994) Tonic D2-mediated attenuation of cortical excitation in nucleus accumbens neurons recorded in vitro. Brain research 634(1):105-12.
- Odum AL (2011) Delay discounting: I'm ak, you're ak. Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior 96(3): 427-439.
- Onge JR, Abhari H, Floresco SB (2011) Dissociable contributions by prefrontal D1 and D2 receptors to risk-based decision making. Journal of Neuroscience 31(23):8625-33.
- Ongur D, Price JL (2000) The organization of networks within the orbital and medial prefrontal cortex of rats, monkeys and humans. Cereb Cortex 10(3): 206-19.
- Orsini CA, Mitchell MR, Heshmati SC, Shimp KG, Spurrell MS, Bizon JL, Setlow B (2017) Effects of nucleus accumbens amphetamine administration on performance in a delay discounting task. Behavioural Brain Research 321: 130-136.
- Orsini CA, Mitchell MR, Heshmati SC, Shimp KG, Spurrell MS, Bizon JL, Setlow B (2017) Effects of nucleus accumbens amphetamine administration on performance in a delay discounting task. Behavioural Brain Research 321: 130-136.
- Ortinski PI, Vassoler FM, Carlson GC, Pierce RC (2012) Temporally dependent changes in cocaine-induced synaptic plasticity in the nucleus accumbens shell are reversed by D1-like dopamine receptor stimulation. Neuropsychopharmacology 37(7):1671.
- Otsuka T, Kawaguchi Y (2008) Firing-pattern-dependent specificity of cortical excitatory feedforward subnetworks. Journal of Neuroscience 28(44):11186-11195.
- Owesson-White CA, Cheer JF, Beyene M, Carelli RM, Wightman RM (2008) Dynamic changes in accumbens dopamine correlate with learning during intracranial self-stimulation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105:11957-11962.
- Palmiter RD (2007) Is dopamine a physiologically relevant mediator of feeding behavior?. Trends in neurosciences 30(8):375-81.
- Palombo C, Kozakova M (2016) Arterial stiffness, atherosclerosis and cardiovascular risk: Pathophysiologic mechanisms and emerging clinical indications. Vascular Pharmacology 77: 1-7.

- Parkinson JA, Olmstead MC, Burns LH, Robbins TW, Everitt BJ (1999) Dissociation in effects of lesions of the nucleus accumbens core and shell on appetitive pavlovian approach behavior and the potentiation of conditioned reinforcement and locomotor activity by D-amphetamine. J Neurosci 19:2401-2411.
- Pascoli V, Turiault M, Lüscher C (2012) Reversal of cocaine-evoked synaptic potentiation resets drug-induced adaptive behaviour. Nature 481(7379):71.
- Paxinos G, Watson C (2005) The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates, Fifth Ed. Edition. New York: Elsevier Academic Press.
- Pennartz CM, Dolleman-Van der Weel MJ, Kitai ST, Lopes da Silva FH (1992) Presynaptic dopamine D1 receptors attenuate excitatory and inhibitory limbic inputs to the shell region of the rat nucleus accumbens studied in vitro. Journal of Neurophysiology 67(5):1325-34.
- Peoples LL, Gee F, Bibi R, West MO (1998) Phasic firing time locked to cocaine self-infusion and locomotion: dissociable firing patterns of single nucleus accumbens neurons in the rat. Journal of Neuroscience 18(18):7588-98.
- Peoples LL, Lynch KG, Lesnock J, Gangadhar N (2004) Accumbal neural responses during the initiation and maintenance of intravenous cocaine self-administration. Journal of Neurophysiology 91(1):314-23.
- Peper JS, Koolschijn PC, Crone EA (2013) Development of risk taking: contributions from adolescent testosterone and the orbito-frontal cortex. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience 25(12):2141-50.
- Perlov E, Philipsen A, Hesslinger B, Buechert M, Ahrendts J, Feige B, Bubl E, Hennig J, Ebert D, van Elst LT (2007) Reduced cingulate glutamate/glutamine-to-creatine ratios in adult patients with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder–a magnet resonance spectroscopy study. Journal of psychiatric research 41(11):934-41.
- Perry JL, Nelson SE, Carroll ME (2008) Impulsive choice as a predictor of acquisition of IV cocaine self- administration and reinstatement of cocaine-seeking behavior in male and female rats. Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology 16:165-177.
- Peters J, Büchel C (2010) Episodic future thinking reduces reward delay discounting through an enhancement of prefrontal-mediotemporal interactions. Neuron 66(1):138-48.

- Peters J, Büchel C (2011) The neural mechanisms of inter-temporal decision-making: understanding variability. Trends in Cognitive Sciences 15(5): 227-239.
- Petry NM, Casarella T (1999) Excessive discounting of delayed rewards in substance abusers with gambling problems. Drug & Alcohol Dependence 56(1): 25-32.
- Phillips PE, Robinson DL, Stuber GD, Carelli RM, Wightman RM (2003a) Real-time measurements of phasic changes in extracellular dopamine concentration in freely moving rats by fast-scan cyclic voltammetry. Methods Mol Med 79:443-464.
- Phillips PE, Stuber GD, Heien ML, Wightman RM, Carelli RM (2003b) Subsecond dopamine release promotes cocaine seeking. Nature 422:614-618.
- Pine A, Shiner T, Seymour B, Dolan RJ (2010) Dopamine, time, and impulsivity in humans. Journal of Neuroscience 30(26):8888-96.
- Pine A, Shiner T, Seymour B, Dolan RJ (2010) Dopamine, time, and impulsivity in humans. Journal of Neuroscience 30(26): 8888-8896.
- Pinto A and Sesack SR (2000) Limited collateralization of neurons in the rat prefrontal cortex that project to the nucleus accumbens. Neuroscience 97(4): 635-42.
- Pothuizen HH, Jongen-Relo AL, Feldon J, Yee BK (2005) Double dissociation of the effects of selective nucleus accumbens core and shell lesions on impulsive-choice behaviour and salience learning in rats. Eur J Neurosci 22:2605-2616.
- Poulos CX, Le AD, Parker JL (1995) Impulsivity predicts individual susceptibility to high levels of alcohol self-administration. Behav Pharmacol 6(8): 810-814
- Preston RJ, Bishop GA, Kitai ST (1980) Medium spiny neuron projection from the rat striatum: An intracellular horseradish peroxidase study. Brain Research 183:253-263.
- Prévost C, Pessiglione M, Météreau E, Cléry-Melin ML, Dreher JC (2010) Separate valuation subsystems for delay and effort decision costs. Journal of Neuroscience 30(42):14080-90.
- Puig M, Rose J, Schmidt R, Freund N (2014) Dopamine modulation of learning and memory in the prefrontal cortex: insights from studies in primates, rodents, and birds. Frontiers in Neural Circuits 8:93.

- Rangel A, Camerer C, Montague PR (2008) A framework for studying the neurobiology of value-based decision making. Nature Reviews 9:545-556.
- Rawlins JN, Feldon J, Ursin H, Gray JA (1985) Resistance to extinction after schedules of partial delay or partial reinforcement in rats with hippocampal lesions. Experimental Brain Research 59(2):273-81.
- Robbins TW, Everitt BJ (2006) A role for mesencephalic dopamine in activation: commentary on Berridge. Psychopharmacology 191(3):433-7.
- Roberts PJ, Anderson SD (1979) Stimulatory effect of i-glutamate and related amino acids on [3H] dopamine release from rat striatum: an in vitro model for glutamate actions. Journal of Neurochemistry 32(5):1539-45.
- Roberts PJ, Sharif NA (1978) Effects of L-glutamate and related amino acids upon the release of [3H] dopamine from rat striatal slices. Brain Research 157(2):391-5.
- Robinson ES, Eagle DM, Economidou D, Theobald DE, Mar AC, Murphy ER, Robbins TW, Dalley JW (2009) Behavioural characterisation of high impulsivity on the 5-choice serial reaction time task: specific deficits in 'waiting'versus 'stopping'. Behavioural Brain Research 196(2):310-6.
- Roesch MR and Bryden DW (2011) Impact of size and delay on neural activity in the rat limbic corticostriatal system. Front Neurosci 5:130.
- Roesch MR, Bryden DW (2011) Impact of size and delay on neural activity in the rat limbic corticostriatal system. Frontiers in Neuroscience 5:130.
- Roesch MR, Calu DJ, Esber GR, Schoenbaum G (2010) Neural correlates of variations in event processing during learning in basolateral amygdala. Journal of Neuroscience 30(7):2464-71.
- Roesch MR, Calu DJ, Schoenbaum G (2007) Dopamine neurons encode the better option in rats deciding between differently delayed or sized rewards. Nature Neuroscience 10:1615-1624.
- Roesch MR, Calu DJ, Schoenbaum G (2007) Dopamine neurons encode the better option in rats deciding between differently delayed or sized rewards. Nature Neuroscience 10:1615-1624.

- Roesch MR, Esber GR, Li J, Daw ND, Schoenbaum G (2012) Surprise! Neural correlates of Pearce–Hall and Rescorla–Wagner coexist within the brain. European Journal of Neuroscience 35(7):1190-200.
- Roesch MR, Singh T, Brown PL, Mullins SE, Schoenbaum G (2009) Ventral striatal neurons encode the value of the chosen action in rats deciding between differently delayed or sized rewards. Journal of Neuroscience 29(42):13365-76.
- Roesch MR, Takahashi Y, Gugsa N, Bissonette GB, Schoenbaum G (2007) Previous cocaine exposure makes rats hypersensitive to both delay and reward magnitude. Journal of Neuroscience 27(1):245-50.
- Roesch MR, Taylor AR, Schoenbaum, G (2006) Encoding of time-discounted rewards in orbitofrontal cortex is independent of value representation. Neuron 51(4): 509-520.
- Roitman MF, Stuber GD, Phillips PE, Wightman RM, Carelli RM (2004) Dopamine operates as a subsecond modulator of food seeking. J Neurosci 24:1265-1271.
- Roitman MF, Wheeler RA, Wightman RM, Carelli RM (2008) Real-time chemical responses in the nucleus accumbens differentiate rewarding and aversive stimuli. Nature Neuroscience 11(12):1376.
- Russo, SJ and Nestler EJ (2013) The brain reward circuitry in mood disorders. Nat Rev Neurosci. 14(9): 609-25.
- Sackett DA, Saddoris MP, Carelli RM (2017). Nucleus Accumbens Shell Dopamine Preferentially Tracks Information Related to Outcome Value of Reward. eNeuro 4(3):ENEURO.0058-17.2017
- Saddoris MP, Cacciapaglia F, Wightman RM, Carelli RM (2015a) Differential dopamine release dynamics in the nucleus accumbens core and shell reveal complementary signals for error prediction and incentive motivation. The Journal of Neuroscience 35:11572-11582.
- Saddoris MP, Sugam JA, Cacciapaglia F, Carelli C (2012) Rapid dopamine dynamics in the accumbens core and shell: Learning and action. Frontiers in Bioscience 5:273.
- Saddoris MP, Sugam JA, Cacciapaglia F, Carelli RM (2013) Rapid dopamine dynamics in the accumbens core and shell: Learning and action. Front Biosci (Elite Ed) 5:273-288.

- Saddoris MP, Sugam JA, Stuber GD, Witten IB, Deisseroth K, Carelli RM (2015b) Mesolimbic dopamine dynamically tracks, and is causally linked to, discrete aspects of value-based decision making. Biological Psychiatry 77:903-911.
- Salzman CD, Fusi S (2010) Emotion, cognition, and mental state representation in amygdala and prefrontal cortex. Annual review of Neuroscience 33: 173-202.
- Schelp SA, Pultorak KJ, Rakowski DR, Gomez DM, Krzystyniak G, Das R, Oleson EB (2017) A transient dopamine signal encodes subjective value and causally influences demand in an economic context. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 201706969.
- Schoenbaum G, Chiba AA, Gallagher M (1998) Orbitofrontal cortex and basolateral amygdala encode expected outcomes during learning. Nature Neuroscience 1(2):155.
- Schoenbaum G, Chiba AA, Gallagher M (1999) Neural encoding in orbitofrontal cortex and basolateral amygdala during olfactory discrimination learning. Journal of Neuroscience 19(5):1876-84.
- Schultz W (1998) Predictive reward signal of dopamine neurons. Journal of Neurophysiology 80:1-27.
- Schultz W, Dayan P, Montague PR (1997) A neural substrate of prediction and reward. Science 275:1593-1599.
- Seo H, Barraclough DJ, Lee D (2007) Dynamic signals related to choices and outcomes in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Cerebral Cortex 17(suppl_1):i110-7.
- Sesack SR, Bunney BS (1989) Pharmacological characterization of the receptor mediating electrophysiological responses to dopamine in the rat medial prefrontal cortex: a microiontophoretic study. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 248(3):1323-33.
- Sesack SR, Deutch AY, Roth RH, Bunney BS (1989) Topographical organization of the efferent projections of the medial prefrontal cortex in the rat: an anterograde tract-tracing study with Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin. Journal of Comparative Neurology 290(2):213-42.

- Sesack SR, Pickel VM (1990) In the rat medial nucleus accumbens, hippocampal and catecholaminergic terminals converge on spiny neurons and are in apposition to each other. Brain research 527(2):266-79.
- Siddiqui SV, Chatterjee U, Kumar D, Siddiqui A, Goyal N (2008) Neuropsychology of prefrontal cortex. Indian Journal of Psychiatry 50(3):202-208.
- Simon NW, Beas BS, Montgomery KS, Haberman RP, Bizon JL, Setlow B (2013) Prefrontal cortical–striatal dopamine receptor mRNA expression predicts distinct forms of impulsivity. European Journal of Neuroscience 37(11):1779-88.
- Simon NW, Mendez IA, Setlow B (2007) Cocaine exposure causes long-term increases in impulsive choice. Behav Neurosci 121:543-549.
- Smith KS and Graybiel AM (2013) A dual operator view of habitual behavior reflecting cortical and striatal dynamics. Neuron.79(2): 361-74.
- Sripada CS, Gonzalez R, Luan Phan K, Liberzon I (2011) The neural correlates of intertemporal decision-making: contributions of subjective value, stimulus type, and trait impulsivity. Human Brain Mapping 32(10):1637-48.
- St Onge JR, Floresco SB (2009) Dopaminergic modulation of risk-based decision making. Neuropsychopharmacology 34:681-697.
- Steele CC, Peterson JR, Marshall AT, Stuebing SL, Kirkpatrick K (2018) Nucleus accumbens core lesions induce sub-optimal choice and reduce sensitivity to magnitude and delay in impulsive choice tasks. Behavioural Brain Research 339: 28-38.
- Steinbusch, HWM (1981) Distribution of serotonin-immunoreactivity in the central nervous system of the rat—cell bodies and terminals. Neuroscience 6(4): 557-618.
- Stopper C, Floresco S (2011) Contributions of the nucleus accumbens and its subregions to different aspects of risk-based decision making. Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience 11:97-112.
- Stott JJ, Redish AD (2014) A functional difference in information processing between orbitofrontal cortex and ventral striatum during decision-making behaviour. Phil. Trans. R. Soc.

- Stuber GD, Britt JP, Bonci A (2012) Optogenetic modulation of neural circuits that underlie reward seeking. Biological Psychiatry 71:1061-1067.
- Stuber GD, Klanker M, de Ridder B, Bowers MS, Joosten RN, Feenstra MG, Bonci A (2008) Reward-predictive cues enhance excitatory synaptic strength onto midbrain dopamine neurons. Science 321:1690-1692.
- Stuber GD, Sparta DR, Stamatakis AM, van Leeuwen WA, Hardjoprajitno JE, Cho S, Tye KM, Kempadoo KA, Zhang F, Deisseroth K (2011) Excitatory transmission from the amygdala to nucleus accumbens facilitates reward seeking. Nature 475:377–380
- Sugam JA, Day JJ, Wightman RM, Carelli RM (2012) Phasic nucleus accumbens dopamine encodes risk-based decision-making behavior. Biological Psychiatry 71:199-205.
- Sugam JA, Saddoris MP, Carelli RM (2014) Nucleus accumbens neurons track behavioral preferences and reward outcomes during risky decision making. Biological Psychiatry 75(10):807-16.
- Sul JH, Kim H, Huh N, Lee D, Jung MW (2010) Distinct roles of rodent orbitofrontal and medial prefrontal cortex in decision making. Neuron 66(3):449-60.
- Sun W, Rebec GV (2006) Repeated cocaine self-administration alters processing of cocainerelated information in rat prefrontal cortex. Journal of Neuroscience 26(30):8004-8.
- Surmeier DJ, Ding J, Day M, Wang Z, Shen W (2007) D1 and D2 dopamine-receptor modulation of striatal glutamatergic signaling in striatal medium spiny neurons. Trends in neurosciences 30(5):228-35.
- Taber MT, Baker GB, Fibiger HC (1996) Glutamate receptor agonists decrease extracellular dopamine in the rat nucleus accumbens in vivo. Synapse 24(2):165-72.
- Taepavarapruk P, Floresco SB, Phillips AG (2000) Hyperlocomotion and increased dopamine efflux in the rat nucleus accumbens evoked by electrical stimulation of the ventral subiculum: role of ionotropic glutamate and dopamine D 1 receptors. Psychopharmacology 151(2-3):242-51.
- Tarter RE, Kirisci L, Mezzich A, Cornelius JR, Pajer K, Vanyukov M, Gardner W, Blackson T, Clark D (2003) Neurobehavioral disinhibition in childhood predicts early age at onset of substance use disorder. American Journal of Psychiatry 160(6):1078-85.

- Tedford SE, Persons AL, Napier TC (2015) Dopaminergic lesions of the dorsolateral striatum in rats increase delay discounting in an impulsive choice task. PLoS One 10(4):e0122063.
- Tobler PN, Fiorillo CD, Schultz W (2005) Adaptive coding of reward value by dopamine neurons. Science 307:1642-1645.
- Tran-Tu-Yen DA, Marchand AR, Pape JR, Di Scala G, Coutureau E (2009) Transient role of the rat prelimbic cortex in goal-directed behaviour. European Journal of Neuroscience 30(3):464-71.
- Tsujimoto S, Sawaguchi T (2004) Neuronal representation of response–outcome in the primate prefrontal cortex. Cerebral Cortex 14(1):47-55.
- Uylings HB, Groenewegen HJ, and Kolb B (2003) Do rats have a prefrontal cortex? Behav Brain Res. 146(1-2): 3-17.
- Uylings HBM, Van Eden CG (1990) Qualitative and quantitative comparison of the prefrontal cortex in rat and in primates, including humans. In: Uylings HBM, Van Eden CG, De Bruin JPC, Corner MA, Feenstra MPG, editors. The prefrontal cortex: its structure, function and pathology. Progress in Brain Research, vol. 85. Amsterdam: Elsevier 31–62.
- Valencia-Torres L, Olarte-Sánchez CM, da Costa Araújo S, Body S, Bradshaw CM, Szabadi E (2012) Nucleus accumbens and delay discounting in rats: evidence from a new quantitative protocol for analysing inter-temporal choice. Psychopharmacology 219(2): 271-283.
- Van Dongen Y, Deniau J-M, Pennartz C, Galis-de Graaf Y, Voorn P, Thierry A-M, Groenewegen H (2005) Anatomical evidence for direct connections between the shell and core subregions of the rat nucleus accumbens. Neuroscience 136:1049-1071.
- Van Eden CG, Hoorneman EMD, Buijs RM, Matthijssen MAH, Geffard M, Uylings HBM (1987) Immunocytochemical localization of dopamine in the prefrontal cortex of the rat at the light and electron microscopical level. Neuroscience, 22(3), 849-862.
- van Gaalen MM, van Koten R, Schoffelmeer AN, Vanderschuren LJ (2006) Critical involvement of dopaminergic neurotransmission in impulsive decision making. Biological Psychiatry 60(1): 66-73.

- van Schouwenburg M, Aarts E, Cools R (2010) Dopaminergic modulation of cognitive control: distinct roles for the prefrontal cortex and the basal ganglia. Current Pharmaceutical design 16(18): 2026-2032.
- Volkow ND, Fowler JS, Wang GJ, Goldstein RZ (2002) Role of dopamine, the frontal cortex and memory circuits in drug addiction: insight from imaging studies. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory 78(3):610-24.
- Vuchinich RE, Simpson CA (1998) Hyperbolic temporal discounting in social drinkers and problem drinkers. Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology 6(3): 292.
- Wanat MJ, Kuhnen CM, Phillips PE (2010). Delays conferred by escalating costs modulate dopamine release to rewards but not their predictors. Journal of Neuroscience 30(36): 12020-12027.
- Wang W, Dever D, Lowe J, Storey GP, Bhansali A, Eck EK, Nitulescu I, Weimer J, Bamford NS (2012) Regulation of prefrontal excitatory neurotransmission by dopamine in the nucleus accumbens core. J Physiol 590:3743–3769.

Watanabe M. Reward expectancy in primate prefrontal neurons (1996) Nature 382(6592):629.

- Weber BJ, Huettel SA (2008) The neural substrates of probabilistic and intertemporal decision making. Brain Research 1234:104-15.
- West EA, Saddoris MP, Kerfoot EC, Carelli RM (2014) Prelimbic and infralimbic cortical regions differentially encode cocaine-associated stimuli and cocaine-seeking before and following abstinence. European Journal of Neuroscience 39(11):1891-902.
- Wheeler RA, Aragona BJ, Fuhrmann KA, Jones JL, Day JJ, Cacciapaglia F, Wightman RM, Carelli RM (2011) Cocaine cues drive opposing context-dependent shifts in reward processing and emotional state. Biological Psychiatry 69(11):1067-74.
- Willuhn I, Burgeno LM, Everitt BJ, Phillips PE (2012) Hierarchical recruitment of phasic dopamine signaling in the striatum during the progression of cocaine use. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109(50):20703-8.
- Winstanley CA, Eagle DM, Robbins TW (2006) Behavioral models of impulsivity in relation to ADHD: translation between clinical and preclinical studies. Clinical Psychology Review 26(4): 379-395.

- Winstanley CA, Olausson P, Taylor JR, Jentsch JD (2010) Insight into the relationship between impulsivity and substance abuse from studies using animal models. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 34(8): 1306-1318.
- Winstanley CA, Theobald DE, Cardinal RN, Robbins TW (2004) Contrasting roles of basolateral amygdala and orbitofrontal cortex in impulsive choice. Journal of Neuroscience 24:4718-4722.
- Witten IB, Steinberg EE, Lee SY, Davidson TJ, Zalocusky KA, Brodsky M, Yizhar O, Cho SL, Gong S, Ramakrishnan C, Stuber GD, Tye KM, Janak PH, Deisseroth K (2011) Recombinase-Driver Rat Lines: Tools, Techniques, and Optogenetic Application to Dopamine-Mediated Reinforcement. Neuron 72:721-733.
- Wolf ME, Ferrario CR (2010) AMPA receptor plasticity in the nucleus accumbens after repeated exposure to cocaine. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 35(2):185-211.
- Wolf ME, Tseng KY (2012) Calcium-permeable AMPA receptors in the VTA and nucleus accumbens after cocaine exposure: when, how, and why? Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience 5:72.
- Wong MM, Brower KJ, Nigg JT, Zucker RA (2010) Childhood sleep problems, response inhibition, and alcohol and drug outcomes in adolescence and young adulthood. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 34(6): 1033-1044.
- Wright CI, Groenewegen HJ (1996) Patterns of overlap and segregation between insular cortical, intermediodorsal thalamic and basal amygdaloid afferents in the nucleus accumbens of the rat. Neuroscience 73(2):359-73.
- Wu Y, Pearl SM, Zigmond MJ, Michael AC (2000) Inhibitory glutamatergic regulation of evoked dopamine release in striatum. Neuroscience 96(1):65-72.
- Xu L, Liang ZY, Wang K, Li S, Jiang T (2009) Neural mechanism of intertemporal choice: from discounting future gains to future losses. Brain Research 1261:65-74.
- Yates JR, Bardo MT, Beckmann JS (2017) Environmental enrichment and drug value: a behavioral economic analysis in male rats. Addiction Biology doi: 10.1111/adb.12581.
- Yates JR, Batten SR, Bardo MT, Beckmann JS (2015) Role of ionotropic glutamate receptors in delay and probability discounting in the rat. Psychopharmacology 232(7):1187-96.

- Yin HH, Knowlton BJ (2006) The role of the basal ganglia in habit formation. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 7(6):464.
- Zahm D, Heimer L (1993) Specificity in the efferent projections of the nucleus accumbens in the rat: comparison of the rostral pole projection patterns with those of the core and shell. Journal of Comparative Neurology 327:220-232.
- Zahm DS (1999) Functional-anatomical Implications of the Nucleus Accumbens Core and Shell Subterritories. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 877:113-128.
- Zahm DS, Brog JS (1992) On the significance of subterritories in the "accumbens" part of the rat ventral striatum. Neuroscience 50:751-767.
- Zeeb FD, Soko AD, Ji X, Fletcher PJ (2016) Low impulsive action, but not impulsive choice, predicts greater conditioned reinforcer salience and augmented nucleus accumbens dopamine release. Neuropsychopharmacology 41(8):2091.
- Zhang F, Gradinaru V, Adamantidis AR, Durand R, Airan RD, de Lecea L, Deisseroth K (2010) Optogenetic interrogation of neural circuits: technology for probing mammalian brain structures. Nature Protocols 5:439-456.
- Zhang F, Wang L-P, Boyden ES, Deisseroth K (2006) Channelrhodopsin-2 and optical control of excitable cells. Nature Methods 3:785-792.
- Zhao S, Cunha C, Zhang F, Liu Q, Gloss B, Deisseroth K, Augustine GJ, Feng G (2008) Improved expression of halorhodopsin for light-induced silencing of neuronal activity. Brain Cell Biology 36:141-154.
- Zheng P, Zhang XX, Bunney BS, Shi WX (1999) Opposite modulation of cortical N-methyl-Daspartate receptor-mediated responses by low and high concentrations of dopamine. Neuroscience 91(2):527-35.
- Zorrilla EP, Koob GF (2013) Amygdalostriatal projections in the neurocircuitry for motivation: a neuroanatomical thread through the career of Ann Kelley. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 37(9): 1932-1945.